

1 HOUSE BILL NO. 114

2 INTRODUCED BY MCCULLOCH

3 BY REQUEST OF THE JUVENILE JUSTICE AND JUVENILE MENTAL HEALTH STUDY COMMISSION

4
5 A BILL FOR AN ACT ENTITLED: "AN ACT GENERALLY REVISING AND RECODIFYING THE MONTANA
6 YOUTH COURT ACT; CLARIFYING THAT SHORT-TERM DETENTION OF YOUTH, FOR UP TO 96 HOURS,
7 EXCLUDES WEEKENDS AND LEGAL HOLIDAYS; AMENDING SECTIONS 7-6-501, 7-32-2244, 41-5-103,
8 41-5-208, 41-5-301, 41-5-303, 41-5-305, 41-5-306, 41-5-307, 41-5-311, 41-5-403, 41-5-502, 41-5-521,
9 41-5-522, 41-5-523, 41-5-525, 41-5-527, 41-5-530, 41-5-1004, 41-5-1104, 46-24-207, 52-5-129, AND
10 53-9-107, MCA; REPEALING SECTIONS 41-5-310 AND 41-5-312, MCA; AND PROVIDING AN
11 APPLICABILITY DATE."

12
13 BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MONTANA:

14
15 Section 1. Section 7-6-501, MCA, is amended to read:

16 "7-6-501. Definitions. As used in 7-6-502 and this section, unless the context requires otherwise,
17 the following definitions apply:

18 (1) "Detention" means the holding or temporary placement of a youth in a facility other than the
19 youth's own home for the purpose of ensuring the continued custody of the youth at any time after the
20 youth is taken into custody and before final disposition of his case.

21 (2) "Juvenile detention program" means services to provide for the lawful detention or shelter care
22 of youth. The term includes:

23 (a) youth evaluations ordered by the court under 41-5-523, [section 29], or [section 36]; and

24 (b) programs for the transportation of youth to appropriate detention facilities or shelter care
25 facilities.

26 (3) "Local government" has the same meaning as provided in 7-12-1103.

27 (4) "Shelter care" has the same meaning as provided in 41-5-103.

28 (5) "Youth" means an individual who is less than 18 years of age who is alleged to be a delinquent
29 youth or youth in need of supervision as those terms are defined in 41-5-103."

30

1 **Section 2.** Section 7-32-2244, MCA, is amended to read:

2 **"7-32-2244. Detention of juveniles.** Juveniles may be held in a detention center only in accordance
3 with ~~41-5-301 through 41-5-307, 41-5-309, and 41-5-311~~ Title 41, chapter 5, part 3."

4

5 **Section 3.** Section 41-5-103, MCA, is amended to read:

6 **"41-5-103. Definitions.** As used in the Montana Youth Court Act, unless the context requires
7 otherwise, the following definitions apply:

8 (1) "Adult" means an individual who is 18 years of age or older.

9 (2) "Agency" means any entity of state or local government authorized by law to be responsible
10 for the care or rehabilitation of youth.

11 (3) "Commit" means to transfer to legal custody.

12 (4) "Correctional facility" means a public or private residential facility used for the placement of
13 delinquent youth or individuals convicted of criminal offenses.

14 (5) "Court", when used without further qualification, means the youth court of the district court.

15 (6) "Custodian" means a person, other than a parent or guardian, to whom legal custody of the
16 youth has been given but does not include a person who has only physical custody.

17 (7) "Delinquent youth" means a youth:

18 (a) who has committed an offense that, if committed by an adult, would constitute a criminal
19 offense; or

20 (b) who, having been placed on probation as a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision,
21 violates any condition of probation.

22 (8) "Department" means the department of corrections provided for in 2-15-2301.

23 (9) "Detention" means the holding or temporary placement of a youth in the youth's home under
24 home arrest or in a facility other than the youth's own home for the purpose of ensuring the continued
25 custody of the youth at any time after the youth is taken into custody and before final disposition of the
26 youth's case.

27 (10) "Detention facility" means a physically restricting facility designed to prevent a youth from
28 departing at will. The term includes a youth detention facility, short-term detention center, and regional
29 detention facility.

30 (11) "Final disposition" means the implementation of a court order for the disposition or placement

1 of a youth as provided in 41-5-523 or [section 29].

2 (12) "Foster home" means a private residence licensed by the department of public health and
3 human services for placement of a youth.

4 (13) ~~"Guardianship" means the status created and defined by law between a youth and an adult~~
5 ~~with the reciprocal rights, duties, and responsibilities.~~ "Guardian" means an adult:

6 (a) who is responsible for a youth and has reciprocal rights, duties, and responsibilities with the
7 youth; and

8 (b) whose status is created and defined by law.

9 (14) "Holdover" means a room, office, building, or other place approved by the board of crime
10 control for the temporary detention and supervision of youth in a physically unrestricting setting for a period
11 not to exceed 24 hours while the youth is awaiting a probable cause hearing, release, or transfer to an
12 appropriate detention or shelter care facility. The term does not include a jail.

13 (15) "Jail" means a facility used for the confinement of adults accused or convicted of criminal
14 offenses. The term includes a lockup or other facility used primarily for the temporary confinement of adults
15 after arrest.

16 (16) "Judge", when used without further qualification, means the judge of the youth court.

17 (17) (a) "Legal custody" means the legal status created by order of a court of competent jurisdiction
18 that gives a person the right and duty to:

19 (i) have physical custody of the youth;

20 (ii) determine with whom the youth shall live and for what period;

21 (iii) protect, train, and discipline the youth; and

22 (iv) provide the youth with food, shelter, education, and ordinary medical care.

23 (b) An individual granted legal custody of a youth shall personally exercise the individual's rights
24 and duties as guardian unless otherwise authorized by the court entering the order.

25 (18) "Mentally ill" means suffering from a mental disorder that has not resulted in self-inflicted
26 injury or injury to others or the imminent threat of injury but that:

27 (a) has resulted in behavior that creates serious difficulty in protecting the person's life or health
28 even with the available assistance of family, friends, or others;

29 (b) is treatable, with a reasonable prospect of success;

30 (c) has deprived the person of the capacity to make an informed decision concerning treatment;

1 (d) has resulted in the person's refusing or being unable to consent to voluntary admission for
2 treatment; and

3 (e) poses a significant risk of the person's becoming seriously mentally ill or will, if untreated,
4 predictably result in further serious deterioration in the mental condition of the person. Predictability may
5 be established by the patient's medical history.

6 ~~(18)~~(19) "Necessary parties" includes the youth, and the youth's parents, guardian, custodian, or
7 spouse.

8 ~~(19)~~(20) "Parent" means the natural or adoptive parent but does not include a person whose
9 parental rights have been judicially terminated, nor does it include the putative father of an illegitimate youth
10 unless the putative father's paternity is established by an adjudication or by other clear and convincing
11 proof.

12 ~~(20)~~(21) "Probable cause hearing" means the hearing provided for in ~~41-5-303~~ [section 12].

13 ~~(21)~~(22) "Regional detention facility" means a youth detention facility established and maintained
14 by two or more counties, as authorized in 41-5-811.

15 ~~(22)~~(23) "Restitution" means payments in cash to the victim or with services to the victim or the
16 general community when these payments are made pursuant to an informal adjustment, consent decree,
17 or other youth court order.

18 ~~(23)~~(24) "Secure detention facility" means any public or private facility that:

19 (a) is used for the temporary placement of youth or individuals accused or convicted of criminal
20 offenses; and

21 (b) is designed to physically restrict the movements and activities of youth or other individuals held
22 in lawful custody of the facility.

23 ~~(24)~~(25) "Serious juvenile offender" means a youth who has committed an offense that would be
24 considered a felony offense if committed by an adult and that is an offense against a person, an offense
25 against property, or an offense involving dangerous drugs.

26 ~~(25)~~(26) "Shelter care" means the temporary substitute care of youth in physically unrestricting
27 facilities.

28 ~~(26)~~(27) "Shelter care facility" means a facility used for the shelter care of youth. The term is
29 limited to the facilities enumerated in ~~41-5-306(1)~~ [section 20].

30 ~~(27)~~(28) "Short-term detention center" means a detention facility licensed by the department for

1 the temporary placement or care of youth, for a period not to exceed 96 hours excluding weekends and
 2 legal holidays, pending a probable cause hearing, release, or transfer of the youth to an appropriate
 3 detention facility or shelter care facility.

4 ~~(28)~~(29) "State youth correctional facility" means a residential facility used for the placement and
 5 rehabilitation of delinquent youth, such as the Pine Hills school in Miles City ~~and the Mountain View school~~
 6 ~~in Helena.~~

7 ~~(29)~~(30) "Substitute care" means full-time care of youth in a residential setting for the purpose of
 8 providing food, shelter, security and safety, guidance, direction, and, if necessary, treatment to youth who
 9 are removed from or are without the care and supervision of their parents or guardian.

10 ~~(30)~~(31) "Youth" means an individual who is less than 18 years of age without regard to sex or
 11 emancipation.

12 ~~(31)~~(32) "Youth court" means the court established pursuant to this chapter to hear all proceedings
 13 in which a youth is alleged to be a delinquent youth, a youth in need of supervision, or a youth in need of
 14 care and includes the youth court judge and probation officers.

15 ~~(32)~~(33) "Youth detention facility" means a secure detention facility licensed by the department for
 16 the temporary substitute care of youth that:

17 (a) is operated, administered, and staffed separately and independently of a jail; and

18 (b) is used exclusively for the lawful detention of alleged or adjudicated delinquent youth.

19 ~~(33)~~(34) "Youth in need of care" has the meaning provided for in 41-3-102.

20 ~~(34)~~(35) "Youth in need of supervision" means a youth who commits an offense prohibited by law
 21 that, if committed by an adult, would not constitute a criminal offense, including but not limited to a youth
 22 who:

23 (a) violates any Montana municipal or state law regarding use of alcoholic beverages by minors;

24 (b) continues to exhibit behavior beyond the control of the youth's parents, foster parents, physical
 25 custodian, or guardian despite the attempt of the youth's parents, foster parents, physical custodian, or
 26 guardian to exert all reasonable efforts to mediate, resolve, or control the youth's behavior; or

27 (c) has committed any of the acts of a delinquent youth but whom the youth court, in its
 28 discretion, chooses to regard as a youth in need of supervision."

29
 30 **Section 4.** Section 41-5-208, MCA, is amended to read:

1 **"41-5-208. Transfer to district court after prosecution -- disposition in district court -- limitation**
 2 **on jurisdiction.** (1) To ensure continued compliance with the court's disposition under ~~41-5-523~~ [section
 3 29], at any time after a youth reaches 18 years of age but before the youth reaches 21 years of age, the
 4 youth court judge may transfer jurisdiction to district court and order the transfer of supervisory
 5 responsibility and the youth's case files to the department.

6 (2) If a youth whose case has been transferred to district court under this section violates a
 7 disposition imposed under ~~41-5-523~~ [section 29], the district court may impose conditions as provided
 8 under 46-18-201 through 46-18-203.

9 (3) If, at the time of transfer, the youth is incarcerated in a state youth correctional facility, the
 10 district court may order that the youth, after reaching 18 years of age:

11 (a) be incarcerated in a state adult correctional facility, boot camp, or prerelease center; or

12 (b) be supervised by the department.

13 (4) The district court's jurisdiction over a case transferred under this section terminates when the
 14 youth reaches 25 years of age."

15
 16 **Section 5.** Section 41-5-301, MCA, is amended to read:

17 **"41-5-301. Preliminary ~~investigation and disposition~~ inquiry -- referral of youth in need of care.**

18 (1) Whenever the court receives information from any agency or person, based upon reasonable grounds,
 19 that a youth is or appears to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision or, being subject to
 20 a court order or consent order, has violated the terms of an order, a probation officer shall make a
 21 preliminary inquiry into the matter.

22 ~~(2) The probation officer may:~~

23 ~~(a) require the presence of any person relevant to the inquiry;~~

24 ~~(b) request subpoenas from the judge to accomplish this purpose;~~

25 ~~(c) require investigation of the matter by any law enforcement agency or any other appropriate~~
 26 ~~state or local agency.~~

27 ~~(3)~~(2) If the probation officer determines that the facts indicate that the youth is a youth in need
 28 of care, the matter must be immediately referred to the department of public health and human services.

29 ~~(4) (a) The probation officer in the conduct of the preliminary inquiry shall:~~

30 ~~(i) advise the youth of the youth's rights under this chapter and the constitutions of the state of~~

1 ~~Montana and the United States;~~

2 ~~(ii) determine whether the matter is within the jurisdiction of the court;~~

3 ~~(iii) determine, if the youth is in detention or shelter care, whether detention or shelter care should~~
4 ~~be continued based upon criteria set forth in 41-5-305.~~

5 ~~(b) Once relevant information is secured, the probation officer shall:~~

6 ~~(i) determine whether the interest of the public or the youth requires that further action be taken;~~

7 ~~(ii) terminate the inquiry upon the determination that no further action be taken; and~~

8 ~~(iii) release the youth immediately upon the determination that the filing of a petition is not~~
9 ~~authorized.~~

10 ~~(5) The probation officer upon determining that further action is required may:~~

11 ~~(a) provide counseling, refer the youth and the youth's parents to another agency providing~~
12 ~~appropriate services, or take any other action or make any informal adjustment that does not involve~~
13 ~~probation or detention;~~

14 ~~(b) provide for treatment or adjustment involving probation or other disposition authorized under~~
15 ~~41-5-401 through 41-5-403 if the treatment or adjustment is voluntarily accepted by the youth's parents~~
16 ~~or guardian and the youth, if the matter is referred immediately to the county attorney for review, and if~~
17 ~~the probation officer proceeds no further unless authorized by the county attorney; or~~

18 ~~(c) refer the matter to the county attorney for filing a petition charging the youth to be a delinquent~~
19 ~~youth or a youth in need of supervision.~~

20 ~~(6) The county attorney may apply to the youth court for permission to file a petition charging a~~
21 ~~youth to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision. The application must be supported by~~
22 ~~evidence that the youth court may require. If it appears that there is probable cause to believe that the~~
23 ~~allegations of the petition are true, the youth court shall grant leave to file the petition.~~

24 ~~(7) A petition charging a youth held in detention must be filed within 7 working days from the date~~
25 ~~the youth was first taken into custody or the petition must be dismissed and the youth released unless good~~
26 ~~cause is shown to further detain the youth.~~

27 ~~(8) If a petition is not filed under this section, the complainant and victim, if any, must be informed~~
28 ~~by the probation officer of the action and the reasons for not filing and must be advised of the right to~~
29 ~~submit the matter to the county attorney for review. The county attorney, upon receiving a request for~~
30 ~~review, shall consider the facts, consult with the probation officer, and make the final decision as to~~

1 ~~whether a petition is filed."~~

2

3 **NEW SECTION. Section 6. Preliminary inquiry -- procedure.** (1) In conducting a preliminary inquiry
4 under 41-5-301, the probation officer shall:

5 (a) advise the youth of the youth's rights under this chapter and the constitutions of the state of
6 Montana and the United States;

7 (b) determine whether the matter is within the jurisdiction of the court;

8 (c) determine, if the youth is in detention or shelter care, whether detention or shelter care should
9 be continued based upon criteria set forth in 41-5-305 and [section 16].

10 (2) In conducting a preliminary inquiry, the probation officer may:

11 (a) require the presence of any person relevant to the inquiry;

12 (b) request subpoenas from the judge to accomplish this purpose;

13 (c) require investigation of the matter by any law enforcement agency or any other appropriate
14 state or local agency.

15

16 **NEW SECTION. Section 7. Preliminary inquiry -- determinations -- release.** Once relevant
17 information is secured after a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the probation officer shall:

18 (1) determine whether the interest of the public or the youth requires that further action be taken;

19 (2) terminate the inquiry upon the determination that no further action be taken; and

20 (3) release the youth immediately upon the determination that the filing of a petition is not
21 authorized.

22

23 **NEW SECTION. Section 8. Preliminary inquiry -- dispositions available to probation officer.** Upon
24 determining that further action is required after a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the probation officer
25 may:

26 (1) arrange informal disposition as provided in [section 9]; or

27 (2) refer the matter to the county attorney for filing a petition charging the youth to be a delinquent
28 youth or a youth in need of supervision.

29

30 **NEW SECTION. Section 9. Informal disposition.** After a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the

1 probation officer upon determining that further action is required and that referral to the county attorney
2 is not required may:

3 (1) provide counseling, refer the youth and the youth's parents to another agency providing
4 appropriate services, or take any other action or make any informal adjustment that does not involve
5 probation or detention; or

6 (2) provide for treatment or adjustment involving probation or other disposition authorized under
7 41-5-401 through 41-5-403 if the treatment or adjustment is voluntarily accepted by the youth's parents
8 or guardian and the youth, if the matter is referred immediately to the county attorney for review, and if
9 the probation officer proceeds no further unless authorized by the county attorney.

10

11 **NEW SECTION. Section 10. Petition -- county attorney -- procedure -- release from custody.** (1)

12 The county attorney may apply to the youth court for permission to file a petition charging a youth to be
13 a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision. The application must be supported by evidence that
14 the youth court may require. If it appears that there is probable cause to believe that the allegations of the
15 petition are true, the youth court shall grant leave to file the petition.

16 (2) A petition charging a youth held in detention must be filed within 7 working days from the date
17 the youth was first taken into custody or the petition must be dismissed and the youth released unless good
18 cause is shown to further detain the youth.

19 (3) If a petition is not filed under this section, the complainant and victim, if any, must be informed
20 by the probation officer of the action and the reasons for not filing and must be advised of the right to
21 submit the matter to the county attorney for review. The county attorney, upon receiving a request for
22 review, shall consider the facts, consult with the probation officer, and make the final decision as to
23 whether a petition is filed.

24

25 **Section 11.** Section 41-5-303, MCA, is amended to read:

26 **"41-5-303. Rights of youth taken into custody -- questioning -- ~~hearing for probable cause~~**
27 **detention -- waiver of rights.** (1) When a youth is taken into custody for questioning upon a matter that
28 could result in a petition alleging that the youth is either a delinquent youth or a youth in need of
29 supervision, the following requirements must be met:

30 (a) The youth must be advised of ~~his~~ the youth's right against self-incrimination and ~~his~~ the youth's

1 right to counsel.

2 ~~(b) The youth may waive these rights under the following situations:~~

3 ~~(i) when the youth is 16 years of age or older, the youth may make an effective waiver;~~

4 ~~(ii) when the youth is under the age of 16 years and the youth and a parent or guardian agree, they~~
5 ~~may make an effective waiver; and~~

6 ~~(iii) when the youth is under the age of 16 years and the youth and his parent or guardian do not~~
7 ~~agree, the youth may make an effective waiver only with advice of counsel.~~

8 ~~(e)(b)~~ The investigating officer, probation officer, or person assigned to give notice shall
9 immediately notify the parents, guardian, or legal custodian of the youth that the youth has been taken into
10 custody, the reasons for taking the youth into custody, and where the youth is being held. If the parents,
11 guardian, or legal custodian cannot be found through diligent efforts, a close relative or friend chosen by
12 the youth must be notified.

13 (2) A youth may waive the rights listed in subsection (1) under the following situations:

14 (a) when the youth is 16 years of age or older, the youth may make an effective waiver;

15 (b) when the youth is under 16 years of age and the youth and the youth's parent or guardian
16 agree, they may make an effective waiver; or

17 (c) when the youth is under 16 years of age and the youth and the youth's parent or guardian do
18 not agree, the youth may make an effective waiver only with advice of counsel.

19 ~~(2) Unless a youth has been released, a hearing must be held within 24 hours after the youth is~~
20 ~~taken into custody, excluding weekends and legal holidays, to determine whether there is probable cause~~
21 ~~to believe that the youth is a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision.~~

22 ~~(3) The probable cause hearing required under subsection (2) may be held by the youth court, a~~
23 ~~justice of the peace, a municipal or city judge, or a magistrate having jurisdiction in the case as provided~~
24 ~~in 41-5-203. If the probable cause hearing is held by a justice of the peace, a municipal or city judge, or~~
25 ~~a magistrate, a record of the hearing must be made by a court reporter or by a tape recording of the~~
26 ~~hearing.~~

27 ~~(4) At the probable cause hearing, the youth must be informed of his constitutional rights and his~~
28 ~~rights under this chapter.~~

29 ~~(5) A parent, guardian, or legal custodian of the youth may be held in contempt of court for failing~~
30 ~~to be present at or to participate in the probable cause hearing unless he:~~

1 ~~(a) cannot be located through diligent efforts of the investigating peace officer or peace officers;~~

2 ~~or~~

3 ~~(b) is excused by the court for good cause.~~

4 ~~(6) At the probable cause hearing, a guardian ad litem may be appointed as provided in 41-5-512.~~

5 ~~(7) If it is determined that there is probable cause to believe the youth is a delinquent youth or is~~
 6 ~~a youth in need of supervision, the court having jurisdiction in the case shall determine whether the youth~~
 7 ~~should be retained in custody. If the court determines that continued custody of the youth is necessary and~~
 8 ~~if the youth meets the criteria in 41-5-305, the youth may be placed in a detention facility or shelter care~~
 9 ~~facility as provided in 41-5-306 but may not be placed in a jail or other facility used for the confinement~~
 10 ~~of adults accused or convicted of criminal offenses.~~

11 ~~(8) If probable cause is not found or if a probable cause hearing is not held within the time specified~~
 12 ~~in subsection (2), the youth must be immediately released from custody."~~

13
 14 **NEW SECTION. Section 12. Custody -- hearing for probable cause.** (1) When a youth is taken
 15 into custody for questioning, a hearing to determine whether there is probable cause to believe the youth
 16 is a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision must be held within 24 hours, excluding weekends
 17 and legal holidays. A hearing is not required if the youth is released prior to the time of the required
 18 hearing.

19 (2) The probable cause hearing required under subsection (1) may be held by the youth court, a
 20 justice of the peace, a municipal or city judge, or a magistrate having jurisdiction in the case as provided
 21 in 41-5-203. If the probable cause hearing is held by a justice of the peace, a municipal or city judge, or
 22 a magistrate, a record of the hearing must be made by a court reporter or by a tape recording of the
 23 hearing.

24 (3) A probable cause hearing may be conducted by telephone if other means of conducting the
 25 hearing are impractical. All written orders and findings of the court in a hearing conducted by telephone
 26 must bear the name of the judge or magistrate presiding in the case and the hour and date the order or
 27 findings were issued.

28
 29 **NEW SECTION. Section 13. Custody -- hearing for probable cause -- procedure.** (1) At a probable
 30 cause hearing held pursuant to [section 12], the youth must be informed of the youth's constitutional rights

1 and the youth's rights under this chapter.

2 (2) A parent, guardian, or custodian of the youth may be held in contempt of court for failing to
3 be present at or to participate in the probable cause hearing unless the parent, guardian, or custodian:

4 (a) cannot be located through diligent efforts of the investigating peace officer or peace officers;
5 or

6 (b) is excused by the court for good cause.

7 (3) At the probable cause hearing, a guardian ad litem may be appointed as provided in 41-5-512.

8
9 **NEW SECTION. Section 14. Custody -- hearing for probable cause -- determinations -- detention**

10 **-- release.** (1) If, at a probable cause hearing held pursuant to [section 12], it is determined that there is
11 probable cause to believe the youth is a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision, the court
12 having jurisdiction in the case shall determine whether the youth should be retained in custody. If the court
13 determines that continued custody of the youth is necessary and if the youth meets the criteria in 41-5-305
14 or [section 16], the youth may be placed in a detention facility or shelter care facility as provided in
15 [sections 18 through 21] but may not be placed in a jail or other facility used for the confinement of adults
16 accused or convicted of criminal offenses.

17 (2) If probable cause is not found or if a probable cause hearing is not held within the time specified
18 in [section 12], the youth must be immediately released from custody.

19

20 **Section 15.** Section 41-5-305, MCA, is amended to read:

21 **"41-5-305. Criteria for placement of youth in secure detention facilities or shelter care facilities.**

22 ~~(1)~~ A youth may ~~not~~ be placed in a secure detention facility ~~unless~~ only if the youth:

23 ~~(a)(1)~~ ~~he~~ has allegedly committed an act that if committed by an adult would constitute a criminal
24 offense and the alleged offense is one specified in 41-5-206;

25 ~~(b)(2)~~ ~~he~~ is alleged to be a delinquent youth and:

26 ~~(i)(a)~~ ~~he~~ has escaped from a correctional facility or secure detention facility;

27 ~~(ii)(b)~~ ~~he~~ has violated a valid court order or an aftercare agreement;

28 ~~(iii)(c)~~ ~~his~~ the youth's detention is required to protect persons or property;

29 ~~(iv)(d)~~ ~~he~~ the youth has pending court or administrative action or is awaiting a transfer to another
30 jurisdiction and may abscond or be removed from the jurisdiction of the court;

1 ~~(v)(e)~~ there are not adequate assurances that ~~he~~ the youth will appear for court when required; or
 2 ~~(vi)(f)~~ ~~he~~ the youth meets additional criteria for secure detention established by the youth court in
 3 the judicial district that has current jurisdiction over ~~him~~ the youth; or

4 ~~(e)(3)~~ ~~he~~ has been adjudicated delinquent and is awaiting final disposition of ~~his~~ the youth's case.

5 ~~(2) A youth may not be placed in a shelter care facility unless:~~

6 ~~(a) the youth and his family need shelter care to address their problematic situation when it is not~~
 7 ~~possible for the youth to remain at home;~~

8 ~~(b) the youth needs to be protected from physical or emotional harm;~~

9 ~~(c) the youth needs to be deterred or prevented from immediate repetition of his troubling behavior;~~

10 ~~(d) shelter care is necessary to assess the youth and his environment;~~

11 ~~(e) shelter care is necessary to provide adequate time for case planning and disposition; or~~

12 ~~(f) shelter care is necessary to intervene in a crisis situation and provide intensive services or~~
 13 ~~attention that might alleviate the problem and reunite the family."~~

14
 15 **NEW SECTION. Section 16. Criteria for placement of youth in shelter care facilities.** A youth may
 16 be placed in a shelter care facility only if:

17 (1) the youth and the youth's family need shelter care to address their problematic situation and
 18 it is not possible for the youth to remain at home;

19 (2) the youth needs to be protected from physical or emotional harm;

20 (3) the youth needs to be deterred or prevented from immediate repetition of troubling behavior;

21 (4) shelter care is necessary to assess the youth and the youth's environment;

22 (5) shelter care is necessary to provide adequate time for case planning and disposition; or

23 (6) shelter care is necessary to intervene in a crisis situation and provide intensive services or
 24 attention that might alleviate the problem and reunite the family.

25
 26 **Section 17. Section 41-5-306, MCA, is amended to read:**

27 ~~"41-5-306. Place of shelter care or detention~~ **Limitation on placement of youth in need of care.**

28 ~~(1) After a probable cause hearing provided for in 41-5-303, a youth alleged to be a youth in need of~~
 29 ~~supervision may be placed only:~~

30 ~~(a) in a licensed youth foster home as defined in 41-3-1102;~~

1 ~~(b) in a facility operated by a licensed child welfare agency;~~

2 ~~(c) in a licensed youth group home as defined in 41-3-1102; or~~

3 ~~(d) under home arrest, either in the youth's own home or in one of the facilities described in~~
4 ~~subsections (1)(a) through (1)(c), as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10.~~

5 (2) A youth alleged to be a youth in need of care may be placed only in the facilities listed in
6 ~~subsection (1)~~ shelter care, as provided in [section 20], and may not be placed in a jail or other facility
7 intended or used for the confinement of adults accused or convicted of criminal offenses.

8 ~~(3) After a probable cause hearing provided for in 41-5-303, a youth alleged to be a delinquent~~
9 ~~youth may be placed only:~~

10 ~~(a) in the facilities described in subsection (1);~~

11 ~~(b) under home arrest as provided in subsection (1);~~

12 ~~(c) in a short-term detention center;~~

13 ~~(d) in a youth detention facility; or~~

14 ~~(e) in a community youth court program."~~

15
16 **NEW SECTION. Section 18. Limitation on placement of youth in need of supervision.** (1) After
17 a probable cause hearing provided for in [section 12], a youth alleged to be a youth in need of supervision
18 may be placed only in shelter care, as provided in [section 20].

19 (2) A youth alleged or found to be a youth in need of supervision may not be placed in a jail, secure
20 detention facility, or correctional facility.

21
22 **NEW SECTION. Section 19. Limitation on placement of delinquent youth.** After a probable cause
23 hearing provided for in [section 12], a youth alleged to be a delinquent youth may be placed only:

24 (1) in shelter care, in the facilities described in [section 20];

25 (2) under home arrest as provided in [section 20];

26 (3) in detention, as provided in [section 21]; or

27 (4) in a community youth court program.

28
29 **NEW SECTION. Section 20. Place of shelter care.** Placement in shelter care means placement in
30 one of the following:

- 1 (1) in a licensed youth foster home as defined in 41-3-1102;
 2 (2) in a facility operated by a licensed child welfare agency;
 3 (3) in a licensed youth group home as defined in 41-3-1102; or
 4 (4) under home arrest as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10, either in the youth's own home
 5 or in one of the facilities described in subsections (1) through (3).

6
 7 **NEW SECTION. Section 21. Place of detention.** Placement in detention means placement in one
 8 of the following facilities:

- 9 (1) a short-term detention center; or
 10 (2) a youth detention facility, including a regional detention facility.

11
 12 **Section 22.** Section 41-5-307, MCA, is amended to read:

13 **"41-5-307. Release ~~or delivery~~ from custody -- detention -- shelter care.** (1) Whenever a peace
 14 officer believes, on reasonable grounds, that a youth can be released to a responsible person ~~who has~~
 15 ~~custody of the youth, then~~ the peace officer may release the youth to that person upon receiving a written
 16 promise from the person to bring the youth before the probation officer at a time and place specified in the
 17 written promise, or a peace officer may release the youth under any other reasonable circumstances.

18 (2) Whenever the peace officer believes, on reasonable grounds, that the youth must be detained,
 19 the peace officer shall notify the probation officer immediately and shall, as soon as practicable, provide
 20 the probation officer with a written report of ~~his~~ the peace officer's reasons for holding the youth in
 21 detention. If it is necessary to hold the youth pending appearance before the youth court, then the youth
 22 must be held in a place of detention, as provided in [section 21], that is approved by the youth court.

23 (3) If the peace officer believes that the youth must be sheltered, the peace officer shall notify the
 24 probation officer immediately and shall provide a written report of ~~his~~ the peace officer's reasons for placing
 25 the youth in shelter care. If the youth is then held, the youth must be placed in a shelter care facility
 26 approved by the youth court."

27
 28 **Section 23.** Section 41-5-311, MCA, is amended to read:

29 **"41-5-311. Youth not to be detained in jail -- exceptions -- time limitations.** (1) A youth may not
 30 be detained or otherwise placed in a jail or other adult detention facility except as provided in 41-5-206 and

1 this section.

2 (2) A youth who has allegedly committed an offense that if committed by an adult would constitute
3 a criminal offense may be temporarily detained in a jail or other adult detention facility for a period not to
4 exceed:

5 (a) 6 hours, but in no case overnight, for the purpose of identification, processing, or transfer of
6 the youth to an appropriate detention facility or shelter care facility; or

7 (b) 24 hours, excluding weekends and legal holidays, if the youth is awaiting a probable cause
8 hearing pursuant to ~~41-5-303~~ [section 12].

9 (3) The exception provided for in subsection (2)(b) applies only if:

10 (a) the court having jurisdiction over the youth is outside a metropolitan statistical area;

11 (b) alternative facilities are not available or alternative facilities do not provide adequate security;

12 and

13 (c) the youth is kept in an area that provides physical as well as sight and sound separation from
14 adults accused or convicted of criminal offenses.

15 (4) Whenever, despite all good faith efforts to comply with the time limitations specified in
16 subsection (2), the limitations are exceeded, this circumstance does not serve as grounds for dismissal of
17 the case nor does this circumstance constitute a defense in a subsequent delinquency or criminal
18 proceeding."

19

20 **Section 24.** Section 41-5-403, MCA, is amended to read:

21 **"41-5-403. Disposition permitted under informal adjustment -- contributions by parents or**
22 **guardians for youth's care.** (1) The following dispositions may be imposed by informal adjustment:

23 (a) probation;

24 (b) placement of the youth in substitute care in a youth care facility, as defined in 41-3-1102, ~~and~~
25 as determined by the department;

26 (c) placement of the youth with a private agency responsible for the care and rehabilitation of the
27 youth as determined by the department;

28 (d) restitution upon approval of the youth court judge and subject to the provisions of [section 37];

29 (e) placement of the youth under home arrest as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10.

30 ~~(2) In determining whether restitution is appropriate in a particular case, the following factors may~~

1 ~~be considered in addition to any other evidence:~~

2 ~~(a) age of the youth;~~

3 ~~(b) ability of the youth to pay;~~

4 ~~(c) ability of the parents, legal guardian, or persons contributing to the youth's delinquency or need~~
5 ~~for supervision to pay;~~

6 ~~(d) amount of damage to the victim; and~~

7 ~~(e) legal remedies of the victim. However, the ability of the victim or the victim's insurer to stand~~
8 ~~any loss may not be considered in any case.~~

9 ~~(3)(2)~~ If the youth violates an aftercare agreement as provided for in 52-5-126, the youth must be
10 returned to the court for further disposition. A youth may not be placed in a state youth correctional facility
11 under informal adjustment.

12 ~~(4)(3)~~ If the youth is placed in substitute care requiring payment by the department, the court, as
13 provided in [section 35], shall examine the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians to pay a
14 contribution covering all or part of the costs for the care, placement, and treatment of the youth, including
15 the costs of necessary medical, dental, and other health care.

16 ~~(5)(4)~~ If the court determines that the youth's parents or guardians are financially able to pay a
17 contribution as provided in subsection ~~(4)(3)~~, the court shall order the youth's parents or guardians to pay
18 an amount based on the uniform child support guidelines adopted by the department of public health and
19 human services pursuant to 40-5-209.

20 ~~(6) (a) Except as provided in subsection (6)(b), contributions ordered under this section and each~~
21 ~~modification of an existing order are enforceable by immediate or delinquency income withholding, or both,~~
22 ~~under Title 40, chapter 5, part 4. An order for contribution that is inconsistent with this section is~~
23 ~~nevertheless subject to withholding for the payment of the contribution without need for an amendment~~
24 ~~of the support order or for any further action by the court.~~

25 ~~(b) A court ordered exception from contributions under this section must be in writing and be~~
26 ~~included in the order. An exception from the immediate income withholding requirement may be granted~~
27 ~~if the court finds there is:~~

28 ~~(i) good cause not to require immediate income withholding; or~~

29 ~~(ii) an alternative arrangement between the department and the person who is ordered to pay~~
30 ~~contributions.~~

1 ~~(e) A finding of good cause not to require immediate income withholding must, at a minimum, be~~
 2 ~~based upon:~~

3 ~~(i) a written determination and explanation by the court of the reasons why the implementation of~~
 4 ~~immediate income withholding is not in the best interests of the child; and~~

5 ~~(ii) proof of timely payment of previously ordered support in cases involving modification of~~
 6 ~~contributions ordered under this section.~~

7 ~~(d) An alternative arrangement must:~~

8 ~~(i) provide sufficient security to ensure compliance with the arrangement;~~

9 ~~(ii) be in writing and be signed by a representative of the department and the person required to~~
 10 ~~make contributions; and~~

11 ~~(iii) if approved by the court, be entered into the record of the proceeding.~~

12 ~~(7) (a) If the court orders the payment of contributions under this section, the department shall~~
 13 ~~apply to the department of public health and human services for support enforcement services pursuant~~
 14 ~~to Title IV-D of the Social Security Act.~~

15 ~~(b) The department of public health and human services may collect and enforce a contribution~~
 16 ~~order under this section by any means available under law, including the remedies provided for in Title 40,~~
 17 ~~chapter 5, parts 2 and 4."~~

18

19 **Section 25.** Section 41-5-502, MCA, is amended to read:

20 **"41-5-502. Summons.** (1) After a petition has been filed, summons must be served directly to:

21 (a) the youth;

22 (b) ~~his~~ the youth's parent or parents having actual custody of the youth or ~~his~~ the youth's guardian
 23 or custodian, as the case may be; and

24 (c) other persons as the court may direct.

25 (2) The summons must:

26 (a) require the parties to whom it is directed to appear personally before the court at the time fixed
 27 by the summons to answer the allegations of the petition;

28 (b) advise the parties of their right to counsel under the Montana Youth Court Act; and

29 (c) have attached to it a copy of the petition.

30 (3) The court may endorse upon the summons an order directing the person or persons having the

1 physical custody or control of the youth to bring the youth to the hearing.

2 (4) If it appears to the court that the youth needs to be placed in detention or shelter care, the
3 judge may endorse on the summons an order directing the officer serving the summons to at once take the
4 youth into custody and to take ~~him~~ the youth to the place of detention or shelter care designated by the
5 court, subject to the rights of the youth and parent or person having legal custody of the youth as set forth
6 in the provisions of the Montana Youth Court Act relating to detention and shelter care criteria and
7 postdetention proceedings.

8 (5) If ~~any~~ a youth is placed in detention or shelter care under any provision of this chapter pending
9 an adjudication, the court shall, as soon as practicable, conduct a probable cause hearing as provided in
10 ~~41-5-303~~ [section 12].

11 (6) The youth court judge may also admit the youth to bail in accordance with Title 46, chapter
12 9."

13
14 **Section 26.** Section 41-5-521, MCA, is amended to read:

15 **"41-5-521. Adjudicatory hearing.** (1) Prior to any adjudicatory hearing, the court shall determine
16 whether the youth admits or denies the offenses alleged in the petition. If the youth denies all offenses
17 alleged in the petition, the youth or the youth's parent, guardian, or attorney may demand a jury trial on
18 the contested offenses. In the absence of a demand, a jury trial is waived. If the youth denies some
19 offenses and admits others, the contested offenses may be dismissed in the discretion of the youth court
20 judge. The adjudicatory hearing must be set immediately and accorded a preferential priority.

21 (2) An adjudicatory hearing must be held to determine whether the contested offenses are
22 supported by proof beyond a reasonable doubt in cases involving a youth alleged to be delinquent or in
23 need of supervision. If the hearing is before a jury, the jury's function is to determine whether the youth
24 committed the contested offenses. If the hearing is before the youth court judge without a jury, the judge
25 shall make and record findings on all issues. If the allegations of the petitions are not established at the
26 hearing, the youth court shall dismiss the petition and discharge the youth from custody.

27 (3) An adjudicatory hearing must be recorded verbatim by whatever means the court considers
28 appropriate.

29 (4) The youth charged in a petition must be present at the hearing and, if brought from detention
30 to the hearing, may not appear clothed in institutional clothing.

1 (5) In a hearing on a petition under this section, the general public may not be excluded, except
2 that in the court's discretion, the general public may be excluded if the petition ~~does not allege~~ alleges that
3 the youth is ~~delinquent~~ in need of supervision.

4 (6) If, on the basis of a valid admission by a youth of the allegations of the petition or after the
5 hearing required by this section, a youth is found to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of
6 supervision, the court shall schedule a dispositional hearing under this chapter.

7 (7) When a jury trial is required in a case, it may be held before a jury selected as provided in Title
8 25, chapter 7, part 2, and in Rule 47, M.R.Civ.P."

9
10 **Section 27.** Section 41-5-522, MCA, is amended to read:

11 **"41-5-522. Dispositional hearing.** (1) As soon as practicable after a youth is found to be a
12 delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision, the court shall conduct a dispositional hearing. The
13 dispositional hearing may involve a determination of the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians
14 to pay a contribution for the cost of care, commitment, and treatment of the youth as required in ~~41-5-523~~
15 [section 35].

16 (2) Before conducting the dispositional hearing, the court shall direct that a social summary or
17 predisposition report be made in writing by a probation officer concerning the youth, the youth's family,
18 the youth's environment, and other matters relevant to the need for care or rehabilitation or disposition of
19 the case. The youth court may have the youth examined, and the results of the examination must be made
20 available to the court as part of the social summary or predisposition report. The court may order the
21 examination of a parent or guardian whose ability to care for or supervise a youth is at issue before the
22 court. The results of the examination must be included in the social summary or predisposition report. The
23 youth or the youth's parents, guardian, or counsel has the right to subpoena all persons who have prepared
24 any portion of the social summary or predisposition report and has the right to cross-examine the parties
25 at the dispositional hearing.

26 (3) Defense counsel must be furnished with a copy of the social summary or predisposition report
27 and psychological report prior to the dispositional hearing.

28 (4) The dispositional hearing must be conducted in the manner set forth in subsections (3), (4), and
29 (5) of 41-5-521. The court shall hear all evidence relevant to a proper disposition of the case best serving
30 the interests of the youth and the public. The evidence must include but is not limited to the social

1 summary and predisposition report provided for in subsection (2) of this section.

2 (5) If the court finds that it is in the best interest of the youth, the youth or the youth's parents
3 or guardian may be temporarily excluded from the hearing during the taking of evidence on the issues of
4 need for treatment and rehabilitation.

5 ~~(6) In determining whether restitution, as authorized by 41-5-523, is appropriate in a particular~~
6 ~~case, the following factors may be considered in addition to any other evidence:~~

7 ~~(a) age of the youth;~~

8 ~~(b) ability of the youth to pay;~~

9 ~~(c) ability of the parents, legal guardian, or those that contributed to the youth's delinquency or~~
10 ~~need for supervision to pay;~~

11 ~~(d) amount of damage to the victim; and~~

12 ~~(e) legal remedies of the victim. However, the ability of the victim or the victim's insurer to stand~~
13 ~~any loss may not be considered in any case."~~

14
15 **Section 28.** Section 41-5-523, MCA, is amended to read:

16 **"41-5-523. Disposition of youth in need of supervision — ~~sentence to correctional facility —~~**
17 **~~commitment to department — placement and evaluation of youth -- restrictions.~~** (1) If a youth is found to
18 be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision, the youth court may enter its judgment making
19 one or more of the following dispositions:

20 ~~(a) retain jurisdiction in a disposition provided under subsection (1)(b) or (1)(d);~~

21 ~~(b)(1) place the youth on probation; The youth court retains jurisdiction in a disposition under this~~
22 ~~subsection.~~

23 ~~(c) subject to subsections (1)(n)(i), (2)(a), (2)(b), and (6), sentence a youth to one of the state~~
24 ~~youth correctional facilities established under 52-5-101 and, as part of the sentence, deny the youth~~
25 ~~eligibility for release without the express approval of the sentencing judge until the youth reaches 18 years~~
26 ~~of age. A youth may not be sentenced to a state youth correctional facility unless the department informs~~
27 ~~the judge that space is available for the youth at that facility. The sentencing judge may not place~~
28 ~~limitations on the release unless recommended by the youth placement committee.~~

29 ~~(d) require a youth found to be delinquent to register as a sex offender pursuant to 46-18-254 and~~
30 ~~46-23-506;~~

1 ~~(e)~~(2) place the youth in an in-state residence that ensures that the youth is accountable, provides
2 for rehabilitation, and protects the public. Before placement, the sentencing judge shall seek and consider
3 placement recommendations from the youth placement committee. The judge may not place the youth in
4 an in-state residence unless the department informs the judge that resources are available for placement
5 of the youth at that residence.

6 ~~(f)~~(3)(a) commit the youth to the department. In an order committing a youth to the department,
7 ~~(i)~~ the court shall determine whether continuation in the youth's own home would be contrary to
8 the welfare of the youth and whether reasonable efforts have been made to prevent or eliminate the need
9 for removal of the youth from the youth's home;

10 (b) The department may not place a youth in need of supervision in a state youth correctional
11 facility.

12 ~~(ii) in the case of a delinquent youth who is determined by the court to be a serious juvenile~~
13 ~~offender, the judge may specify that the youth be placed in a state youth correctional facility if the judge~~
14 ~~finds that the placement is necessary for the protection of the public. The court may order the department~~
15 ~~to notify the court within 5 working days before the proposed release of a youth from a youth correctional~~
16 ~~facility. Once a youth is committed to the department for placement in a state youth correctional facility,~~
17 ~~the department is responsible for determining an appropriate date of release into an appropriate placement.~~

18 ~~(g)~~(4) order restitution by the youth or the youth's parents or guardians, subject to the provisions
19 of [section 37];

20 ~~(h)~~(5) impose a fine as authorized by law if the violation alleged would constitute a criminal offense
21 if committed by an adult;

22 ~~(i)~~(6) require the performance of community service;

23 ~~(j)~~(7) require the youth, the youth's parents or guardians, or the persons having legal custody of
24 the youth to receive counseling services;

25 ~~(k)~~(8) require the medical and psychological evaluation of the youth, the youth's parents or
26 guardians, or the persons having legal custody of the youth;

27 ~~(l)~~(9) require the parents, guardians, or other persons having legal custody of the youth to furnish
28 services the court may designate;

29 ~~(m)~~(10) subject to the provisions of subsection (11), order further care, treatment, evaluation, or
30 relief that the court considers beneficial to the youth and the community and that does not obligate funding

1 from the department for services outside the state of Montana without the department's approval, ~~except~~
 2 ~~that a youth may not be placed by a youth court in a residential treatment facility as defined in 50-5-101.~~
 3 ~~Only the department may, pursuant to subsection (1)(f), place a youth in a residential treatment facility.;~~

4 ~~(n)(11) subject to the provisions of [section 31],~~ commit the youth to a mental health facility if,
 5 based upon the testimony of a professional person as defined in 53-21-102, the court finds that the youth
 6 is seriously mentally ill as defined in 53-21-102. ~~The youth is entitled to all rights provided by 53-21-114~~
 7 ~~through 53-21-119.;~~

8 ~~(i) A youth adjudicated mentally ill or seriously mentally ill as defined in 53-21-102 may not be~~
 9 ~~committed or sentenced to a state youth correctional facility.~~

10 ~~(ii) A youth adjudicated to be mentally ill or seriously mentally ill after placement in or sentencing~~
 11 ~~to a state youth correctional facility must be moved to a more appropriate placement in response to the~~
 12 ~~youth's mental health needs and consistent with the disposition alternatives available in 53-21-127.~~

13 ~~(e)(12) place the youth under home arrest as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10.~~

14 ~~(2) When a youth is committed to the department, the department shall determine the appropriate~~
 15 ~~placement and rehabilitation program for the youth after considering the recommendations made under~~
 16 ~~41-5-527 by the youth placement committee. Placement is subject to the following limitations:~~

17 ~~(a) A youth in need of supervision or adjudicated delinquent for commission of an act that would~~
 18 ~~not be a criminal offense if committed by an adult may not be placed in a state youth correctional facility.~~

19 ~~(b) A youth may not be held in a state youth correctional facility for a period of time in excess of~~
 20 ~~the maximum period of imprisonment that could be imposed on an adult convicted of the offense or~~
 21 ~~offenses that brought the youth under the jurisdiction of the youth court. This section does not limit the~~
 22 ~~power of the department to enter into an aftercare agreement with the youth pursuant to 52-5-126.~~

23 ~~(c) A youth may not be placed in or transferred to a penal institution or other facility used for the~~
 24 ~~execution of sentence of adults convicted of crimes.~~

25 ~~(3) A youth placed in a state youth correctional facility or other facility or program operated by the~~
 26 ~~department or who signs an aftercare agreement under 52-5-126 must be supervised by the department.~~
 27 ~~A youth who is placed in any other placement by the department, the youth court, or the youth court's~~
 28 ~~juvenile probation officer must be supervised by the probation officer of the youth court having jurisdiction~~
 29 ~~over the youth under 41-5-205 whether or not the youth is committed to the department. Supervision by~~
 30 ~~the youth probation officer includes but is not limited to:~~

1 ~~(a) submitting information and documentation necessary for the person, committee, or team that~~
2 ~~is making the placement recommendation to determine an appropriate placement for the youth;~~

3 ~~(b) securing approval for payment of special education costs from the youth's school district of~~
4 ~~residence or the office of public instruction, as required in Title 20, chapter 7, part 4;~~

5 ~~(c) submitting an application to a facility in which the youth may be placed; and~~

6 ~~(d) case management of the youth.~~

7 ~~(4) The youth court may order a youth to receive a medical or psychological evaluation at any time~~
8 ~~prior to final disposition if the youth waives the youth's constitutional rights in the manner provided for in~~
9 ~~41-5-303. The county determined by the court as the residence of the youth is responsible for the cost of~~
10 ~~the evaluation, except as provided in subsection (5). A county may contract with the department or other~~
11 ~~public or private agencies to obtain evaluation services ordered by the court.~~

12 ~~(5) The youth court shall determine the financial ability of the youth's parents to pay the cost of~~
13 ~~an evaluation ordered by the court under subsection (4). If they are financially able, the court shall order~~
14 ~~the youth's parents to pay all or part of the cost of the evaluation.~~

15 ~~(6) The youth court may not order placement or evaluation of a youth at a state youth correctional~~
16 ~~facility unless the youth is found to be a delinquent youth or is alleged to have committed an offense that~~
17 ~~is transferable to criminal court under 41-5-206.~~

18 ~~(7) An evaluation of a youth may not be performed at the Montana state hospital unless the youth~~
19 ~~is transferred to the district court under 41-5-206, 41-5-208, or 41-5-1106.~~

20 ~~(8) An order of the court may be modified at any time. In the case of a youth committed to the~~
21 ~~department, an order pertaining to the youth may be modified only upon notice to the department and~~
22 ~~subsequent hearing.~~

23 ~~(9) Whenever the court commits a youth to the department, it shall transmit with the dispositional~~
24 ~~judgment copies of medical reports, social history material, education records, and any other clinical,~~
25 ~~predisposition, or other reports and information pertinent to the care and treatment of the youth.~~

26 ~~(10) If a youth is committed to the department, the court shall examine the financial ability of the~~
27 ~~youth's parents or guardians to pay a contribution covering all or part of the costs for the care,~~
28 ~~commitment, and treatment of the youth, including the costs of necessary medical, dental, and other health~~
29 ~~care.~~

30 ~~(11) If the court determines that the youth's parents or guardians are financially able to pay a~~

1 ~~contribution as provided in subsection (10), the court shall order the youth's parents or guardians to pay~~
2 ~~an amount based on the uniform child support guidelines adopted by the department of public health and~~
3 ~~human services pursuant to 40-5-209.~~

4 ~~(12) (a) Except as provided in subsection (12)(b), contributions ordered under this section and each~~
5 ~~modification of an existing order are enforceable by immediate or delinquency income withholding, or both,~~
6 ~~under Title 40, chapter 5, part 4. An order for contribution that is inconsistent with this section is~~
7 ~~nevertheless subject to withholding for the payment of the contribution without need for an amendment~~
8 ~~of the support order or for any further action by the court.~~

9 ~~(b) A court ordered exception from contributions under this section must be in writing and be~~
10 ~~included in the order. An exception from the immediate income withholding requirement may be granted~~
11 ~~if the court finds there is:~~

12 ~~(i) good cause not to require immediate income withholding; or~~

13 ~~(ii) an alternative arrangement between the department and the person who is ordered to pay~~
14 ~~contributions.~~

15 ~~(c) A finding of good cause not to require immediate income withholding must, at a minimum, be~~
16 ~~based upon:~~

17 ~~(i) a written determination and explanation by the court of the reasons why the implementation of~~
18 ~~immediate income withholding is not in the best interests of the youth; and~~

19 ~~(ii) proof of timely payment of previously ordered support in cases involving modification of~~
20 ~~contributions ordered under this section.~~

21 ~~(d) An alternative arrangement must:~~

22 ~~(i) provide sufficient security to ensure compliance with the arrangement;~~

23 ~~(ii) be in writing and be signed by a representative of the department and the person required to~~
24 ~~make contributions; and~~

25 ~~(iii) if approved by the court, be entered into the record of the proceeding.~~

26 ~~(13) Upon a showing of a change in the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians to pay,~~
27 ~~the court may modify its order for the payment of contributions required under subsection (11).~~

28 ~~(14) (a) If the court orders the payment of contributions under this section, the department shall~~
29 ~~apply to the department of public health and human services for support enforcement services pursuant~~
30 ~~to Title IV-D of the Social Security Act.~~

1 ~~(b) The department of public health and human services may collect and enforce a contribution~~
 2 ~~order under this section by any means available under law, including the remedies provided for in Title 40,~~
 3 ~~chapter 5, parts 2 and 4."~~

4
 5 **NEW SECTION. Section 29. Disposition of delinquent youth -- restrictions.** (1) If a youth is found
 6 to be a delinquent youth, the youth court may enter its judgment making one or more of the following
 7 dispositions:

8 (a) any one or more of the dispositions provided in 41-5-523;

9 (b) subject to 41-5-523(3)(b), [sections 30(1), 31(2)], and subsection (2) of this section, sentence
 10 a youth to one of the state youth correctional facilities established under 52-5-101 and, as part of the
 11 sentence, deny the youth eligibility for release without the express approval of the sentencing judge until
 12 the youth reaches 18 years of age. A youth may not be sentenced to a state youth correctional facility
 13 unless the department informs the judge that space is available for the youth at that facility. The sentencing
 14 judge may not place limitations on the release unless recommended by the youth placement committee.

15 (c) require a youth found to be delinquent, as the result of the commission of an offense that would
 16 be a violation of 45-5-501 through 45-5-504, 45-5-507, or 45-5-511 if committed by an adult, to register
 17 as a sex offender pursuant to 46-18-254 and 46-23-506. The youth court retains jurisdiction in a
 18 disposition under this subsection.

19 (d) in the case of a delinquent youth who is determined by the court to be a serious juvenile
 20 offender, the judge may specify that the youth be placed in a state youth correctional facility if the judge
 21 finds that the placement is necessary for the protection of the public. The court may order the department
 22 to notify the court within 5 working days before the proposed release of a youth from a youth correctional
 23 facility. Once a youth is committed to the department for placement in a state youth correctional facility,
 24 the department is responsible for determining an appropriate date of release into an appropriate placement.

25 (2) The youth court may not order placement of a youth at a state youth correctional facility unless
 26 the youth is found to be a delinquent youth or is alleged to have committed an offense that is transferable
 27 to criminal court under 41-5-206.

28
 29 **NEW SECTION. Section 30. Disposition -- commitment to department -- restrictions on placement.**
 30 When a youth is committed to the department, the department shall determine the appropriate placement

1 and rehabilitation program for the youth after considering the recommendations made under 41-5-527 by
2 the youth placement committee. Placement is subject to the limitations contained in 41-5-523(3)(b) and
3 the following limitations:

4 (1) A youth may not be held in a state youth correctional facility for a period of time in excess of
5 the maximum period of imprisonment that could be imposed on an adult convicted of the offense or
6 offenses that brought the youth under the jurisdiction of the youth court. This section does not limit the
7 power of the department to enter into an aftercare agreement with the youth pursuant to 52-5-126.

8 (2) A youth may not be placed in or transferred to a penal institution or other facility used for the
9 execution of sentence of adults convicted of crimes.

10 (3) The department may not place a youth adjudicated delinquent for commission of an act that
11 would not be a criminal offense if committed by an adult in a state youth correctional facility.

12
13 **NEW SECTION. Section 31. Disposition -- finding of mentally ill or seriously mentally ill -- rights**
14 **-- limitation on placement.** (1) A youth who is found to be seriously mentally ill as defined in 53-21-102
15 is entitled to all rights provided by 53-21-114 through 53-21-119.

16 (2) A youth who, prior to placement or sentencing, is found to be mentally ill, as defined in
17 41-5-103, or seriously mentally ill, as defined in 53-21-102, may not be committed or sentenced to a state
18 youth correctional facility.

19 (3) A youth who is found to be mentally ill or seriously mentally ill after placement in or sentencing
20 to a state youth correctional facility must be moved to a more appropriate placement in response to the
21 youth's mental health needs and consistent with the disposition alternatives available in 53-21-127.

22
23 **NEW SECTION. Section 32. Disposition -- commitment to department -- supervision.** (1) A youth
24 placed in a state youth correctional facility or other facility or program operated by the department or who
25 signs an aftercare agreement under 52-5-126 must be supervised by the department.

26 (2) A youth who is placed in any other placement by the department, the youth court, or the youth
27 court's juvenile probation officer must be supervised by the probation officer of the youth court having
28 jurisdiction over the youth under 41-5-205 whether or not the youth is committed to the department.
29 Supervision by the youth probation officer includes but is not limited to:

30 (a) submitting information and documentation necessary for the person, committee, or team that

1 is making the placement recommendation to determine an appropriate placement for the youth;

2 (b) securing approval for payment of special education costs from the youth's school district of
3 residence or the office of public instruction, as required in Title 20, chapter 7, part 4;

4 (c) submitting an application to a facility in which the youth may be placed; and

5 (d) case management of the youth.

6
7 **NEW SECTION. Section 33. Disposition -- commitment to department -- transfer of records.**

8 Whenever the court commits a youth to the department, it shall transmit with the dispositional judgment
9 copies of medical reports, social history material, education records, and any other clinical, predisposition,
10 or other reports and information pertinent to the care and treatment of the youth.

11
12 **NEW SECTION. Section 34. Modification of court orders -- notice to department -- hearing. (1)**

13 An order of the court may be modified at any time.

14 (2) In the case of a youth committed to the department, an order pertaining to the youth may be
15 modified only upon notice to the department and subsequent hearing.

16
17 **NEW SECTION. Section 35. Contribution for costs -- order for contribution -- exceptions --
18 collection.** (1) If a youth is committed to the department, the court shall examine the financial ability of
19 the youth's parents or guardians to pay a contribution covering all or part of the costs for the care,
20 commitment, and treatment of the youth, including the costs of necessary medical, dental, and other health
21 care.

22 (2) If the court determines that the youth's parents or guardians are financially able to pay a
23 contribution as provided in subsection (1), the court shall order the youth's parents or guardians to pay an
24 amount based on the uniform child support guidelines adopted by the department of public health and
25 human services pursuant to 40-5-209.

26 (3) (a) Except as provided in subsection (3)(b), contributions ordered under 41-5-403 and this
27 section and each modification of an existing order are enforceable by immediate or delinquency income
28 withholding, or both, under Title 40, chapter 5, part 4. An order for contribution that is inconsistent with
29 this section is nevertheless subject to withholding for the payment of the contribution without need for an
30 amendment of the support order or for any further action by the court.

1 (b) A court-ordered exception from contributions under 41-5-403 or this section must be in writing
2 and must be included in the order. An exception from the immediate income withholding requirement may
3 be granted if the court finds that there is:

4 (i) good cause not to require immediate income withholding; or

5 (ii) an alternative arrangement between the department and the person who is ordered to pay
6 contributions.

7 (c) A finding of good cause not to require immediate income withholding must, at a minimum, be
8 based upon:

9 (i) a written determination and explanation by the court of the reasons why the implementation of
10 immediate income withholding is not in the best interests of the youth; and

11 (ii) proof of timely payment of previously ordered support in cases involving modification of
12 contributions ordered under this section.

13 (d) An alternative arrangement must:

14 (i) provide sufficient security to ensure compliance with the arrangement;

15 (ii) be in writing and be signed by a representative of the department and the person required to
16 make contributions; and

17 (iii) if approved by the court, be entered into the record of the proceeding.

18 (4) Upon a showing of a change in the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians to pay,
19 the court may modify its order for the payment of contributions required under 41-5-403 or subsection (2).

20 (5) (a) If the court orders the payment of contributions under 41-5-403 or this section, the
21 department shall apply to the department of public health and human services for support enforcement
22 services pursuant to Title IV-D of the Social Security Act.

23 (b) The department of public health and human services may collect and enforce a contribution
24 order under 41-5-403 or this section by any means available under law, including the remedies provided
25 for in Title 40, chapter 5, parts 2 and 4.

26
27 **NEW SECTION. Section 36. Disposition -- medical or psychological evaluation of youth -- costs.**

28 (1) The youth court may order a youth to receive a medical or psychological evaluation at any time prior
29 to final disposition if the youth waives the youth's constitutional rights in the manner provided for in
30 41-5-303. Except as provided in subsection (2), the county determined by the court as the residence of

1 the youth is responsible for the cost of the evaluation. A county may contract with the department or other
2 public or private agencies to obtain evaluation services ordered by the court.

3 (2) The youth court shall determine the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians to pay
4 the cost of an evaluation ordered by the court under subsection (1). If they are financially able, the court
5 shall order the youth's parents or guardians to pay all or part of the cost of the evaluation.

6 (3) The youth court may not order evaluation of a youth at a state youth correctional facility unless
7 the youth is found to be a delinquent youth or is alleged to have committed an offense that is transferable
8 to district court under 41-5-206.

9 (4) An evaluation of a youth may not be performed at the Montana state hospital unless the youth
10 is transferred to the district court under 41-5-206, 41-5-208, or 41-5-1105.

11
12 **NEW SECTION. Section 37. Restitution.** (1) In determining whether restitution, as authorized by
13 41-5-403 and 41-5-523, is appropriate in a particular case, the following factors may be considered in
14 addition to any other evidence:

- 15 (a) age of the youth;
16 (b) ability of the youth to pay;
17 (c) ability of the parents, legal guardian, or those that contributed to the youth's delinquency or
18 need for supervision to pay;
19 (d) amount of damage to the victim; and
20 (e) legal remedies of the victim. However, the ability of the victim or the victim's insurer to stand
21 any loss may not be considered in any case.

22 (2) Restitution paid by a youth or a youth's parents or guardians is subject to subrogation as
23 provided in 46-18-248.

24
25 **Section 38.** Section 41-5-525, MCA, is amended to read:
26 **"41-5-525. Youth placement committees -- composition.** (1) In each judicial district, the
27 department shall establish a youth placement committee for the purposes of:

- 28 (a) recommending an appropriate placement of a youth referred to the department under 41-5-403;
29 or
30 (b) recommending available community services or alternative placements whenever a change is

1 required in the placement of a youth who is currently in the custody of the department under 41-5-523 or
2 [section 29]. However, the committee may not substitute its judgment for that of the superintendent of a
3 state youth correctional facility regarding the discharge of a youth from the facility.

4 (2) The committee consists of not less than five members and must include persons who are
5 knowledgeable about the youth, treatment and placement options, and other resources appropriate to
6 address the needs of the youth. Members may include:

7 (a) two representatives of the department;

8 (b) a representative of the department of public health and human services;

9 (c) either the chief probation officer or the youth's probation officer;

10 (d) a mental health professional;

11 (e) a representative of a school district located within the boundaries of the judicial district;

12 (f) if an Indian child or children are involved, someone, preferably an Indian person, knowledgeable
13 about Indian culture and family matters;

14 (g) a parent or guardian; and

15 (h) a youth services provider.

16 (3) Committee members serve without compensation.

17 (4) Notwithstanding the provisions of 41-5-527, the committee may be convened by the
18 department or the probation officer of the youth court."
19

20 **Section 39.** Section 41-5-527, MCA, is amended to read:

21 **"41-5-527. Youth placement committee to submit recommendation to department -- acceptance**
22 **or rejection of recommendation by department.** (1) Prior to commitment of a youth to the department
23 pursuant to 41-5-523 or [section 29], a youth placement committee must be convened. The committee
24 shall submit in writing to the department and to the youth court judge its primary and alternative
25 recommendations for placement of the youth.

26 (2) If the department accepts either of the committee's recommendations, it shall promptly notify
27 the committee in writing.

28 (3) If the department rejects both of the committee's recommendations, it shall promptly notify the
29 committee in writing of the reasons for rejecting the recommendations and shall make an appropriate
30 placement for the youth.

1 (4) Within 72 hours after making a decision on a placement or change of placement, the
2 department shall notify the youth court of the decision and of the placement or change of placement."
3

4 **Section 40.** Section 41-5-530, MCA, is amended to read:

5 **"41-5-530. Parental contributions account -- allocation of proceeds.** (1) There is a parental
6 contributions account in the state special revenue fund.

7 (2) Contributions paid by the parents and guardians of youth under 41-3-406, 41-5-403, ~~41-5-523~~
8 [section 35], or 41-5-524 must be deposited in the account.

9 (3) All money in the account, except any amount required to be returned to federal or county
10 sources, is allocated to the department of public health and human services to carry out its duties under
11 52-1-103."
12

13 **Section 41.** Section 41-5-1004, MCA, is amended to read:

14 **"41-5-1004. Distribution of grants -- limitation of funding -- restrictions on use.** (1) The board shall
15 award grants on an equitable basis, giving preference to services that will be used on a regional basis.

16 (2) The board shall award grants to eligible counties:

17 (a) in a block grant in an amount not to exceed 50% of the approved, estimated cost of secure
18 detention; or

19 (b) on a matching basis in an amount not to exceed:

20 (i) 75% of the approved cost of providing holdovers, attendant care, and other alternatives to
21 secure detention, except for shelter care. Shelter care must be paid as provided by law.

22 (ii) 50% of the approved cost of programs for the transportation of youth to appropriate detention
23 or shelter care facilities, including regional detention facilities.

24 (3) Based on funding available after the board has funded block grants under subsection (2), the
25 board shall, in cases of extreme hardship in which the transfer of youth court cases to the adult system
26 has placed considerable financial strain on a county's resources, award grants to eligible counties to fund
27 up to 75% of the actual costs of secure detention of youth awaiting transfer. Hardship cases will be
28 addressed at the end of the fiscal year and will be awarded by the board based upon a consideration of the
29 applicant county's past 3 years' expenditures for youth detention and upon consideration of the particular
30 case or cases that created the hardship expenditure for which the hardship grant is requested.

1 (4) Grants under 41-5-1002 may not be used to pay for the cost of youth evaluations. The cost
2 of evaluations must be paid as provided for in ~~41-5-523~~ [section 36]."

3
4 **Section 42.** Section 41-5-1104, MCA, is amended to read:

5 **"41-5-1104. Disposition in extended jurisdiction prosecutions.** (1) If a youth in an extended
6 jurisdiction prosecution pleads guilty to or is found guilty of an offense described in 41-5-1102(1)(b), the
7 court shall:

8 (a) impose one or more juvenile dispositions under ~~41-5-523~~ [section 29]; and

9 (b) impose an adult criminal sentence, the execution of which must be stayed on the condition that
10 the youth not violate the provisions of the disposition order and not commit a new offense. If the youth
11 violates the conditions of the stay or commits a new offense, the adult criminal sentence must be executed
12 as provided in 41-5-1105.

13 (2) Except as provided in subsection (3), if a youth in an extended jurisdiction prosecution is
14 convicted of an offense not described in 41-5-1102(1)(b), the court shall adjudicate the youth delinquent
15 and order a disposition under ~~41-5-523~~ [section 29].

16 (3) If a youth in an extended jurisdiction prosecution pleads guilty to an offense not described in
17 41-5-1102(1)(b), the court may impose, with the youth's consent, a disposition provided under subsection
18 (1)(b) of this section. If the youth does not consent to disposition under subsection (1)(b), the court shall
19 impose a disposition as provided under subsection (2)."

20
21 **Section 43.** Section 46-24-207, MCA, is amended to read:

22 **"46-24-207. Victims and witnesses of juvenile felony offenses -- consultation -- notification of**
23 **proceedings.** (1) The attorney general shall ensure that the services and assistance that must be provided
24 under this chapter to a victim or witness of a crime are also provided to the victim or witness of a juvenile
25 felony offense.

26 (2) In a proceeding filed under Title 41, chapter 5, part ~~514~~ or 15, the county attorney or a
27 designee shall consult with the victim of a juvenile felony offense or, in the case of a minor victim or a
28 homicide victim, with the victim's family regarding the disposition of the case, including:

29 (a) a dismissal of the petition filed under 41-5-501;

30 (b) a reduction of the charge to misdemeanor;

1 (c) the release of the youth from detention or shelter care pending the adjudicatory hearing; and

2 (d) the disposition of the youth.

3 (3) (a) Whenever possible, a person described in subsection (3)(b) who provides the youth court
4 with a current address and telephone number must receive prompt advance notification of youth court case
5 proceedings, including:

6 (i) the filing of a petition under 41-5-501;

7 (ii) the release of the youth from detention or shelter care; and

8 (iii) proceedings in the adjudication of the petition, including, when applicable, entry of a consent
9 decree under 41-5-524, the setting of a date for the adjudicatory hearing under 41-5-521, the setting of
10 a date for the dispositional hearing under 41-5-522, the disposition made, and the release of the youth from
11 a youth correctional facility.

12 (b) A person entitled to notification under this subsection (3) must be a victim of a juvenile felony
13 offense, an adult relative of the victim if the victim is a minor, or an adult relative of a homicide victim.

14 (c) The court shall provide to the department the list of people entitled to notification under this
15 subsection (3), and the department is responsible to provide the notification.

16 (4) For purposes of this section, "juvenile felony offense" means an offense committed by a
17 juvenile that, if committed by an adult, would constitute a felony offense. The term includes any offense
18 for which a juvenile may be declared a serious juvenile offender, as defined in 41-5-103."

19

20 **Section 44.** Section 52-5-129, MCA, is amended to read:

21 **"52-5-129. Hearing on alleged violation of aftercare agreement -- right to appeal outcome.** (1)

22 When it is alleged by an aftercare counselor that a youth has violated the terms of the youth's aftercare
23 agreement, the youth must be granted a hearing at the site of the alleged violation or in the county in which
24 the youth is residing or is found within 10 days after notice has been served on the youth or the youth is
25 detained, whichever is earlier. The purpose of the hearing is to determine whether the youth committed the
26 violation and, if so, whether the violation is of such a nature that the youth should be returned to the youth
27 correctional facility from which the youth was released or a different plan for treatment should be pursued
28 by the department of corrections.

29 (2) The youth, upon advice of an attorney, may waive the right to a hearing.

30 (3) With regard to this hearing, the youth must be given:

1 (a) written notice of the alleged violation of the aftercare agreement, including notice of the
2 purpose of the hearing;

3 (b) a disclosure of the evidence against the youth and the facts constituting the alleged violation;

4 (c) the opportunity to be heard in person and to present witnesses and documentary evidence to
5 controvert the evidence against the youth and to show that there are compelling reasons that justify or
6 mitigate the violation;

7 (d) the opportunity to have the ~~referee~~ hearings officer subpoena witnesses;

8 (e) the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses;

9 (f) the right to be represented by an attorney;

10 (g) a record of the hearing; and

11 (h) notice that a written statement as to the evidence relied upon in reaching the final decision and
12 the reasons for the final decision will be provided by the ~~referee~~ hearings officer.

13 (4) The department shall appoint a ~~referee~~ hearings officer, who may not be an employee of the
14 department, to conduct the hearing. In the conduct of the hearing, the department may request the county
15 attorney's assistance as necessary. The department shall adopt rules necessary to effect a prompt and full
16 review.

17 (5) If the ~~referee~~ hearings officer finds, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the youth did in
18 fact commit the violation, the ~~referee~~ hearings officer shall make a recommendation to the department for
19 the placement of the youth. In making this recommendation, the ~~referee~~ hearings officer may consider
20 mitigating circumstances. Final approval rests with the department and must be made within 10 days of
21 the ~~referee's~~ hearings officer's recommendation.

22 (6) The youth may appeal from the decision at the hearing to the district court of the county in
23 which the hearing was held by serving and filing a notice of appeal with the court within 10 days of the
24 department's decision. The youth may obtain a written transcript of the hearing from the department by
25 giving written notice of appeal. The district court, upon receipt of a notice of appeal, shall order the
26 department to promptly certify to the court a record of all proceedings before the department and shall
27 proceed to a prompt hearing on the appeal based upon the record on appeal. The decision of the
28 department may not be altered except for abuse of discretion or manifest injustice.

29 (7) Pending the hearing on a violation and pending the department's decision, a youth may not be
30 detained except when the youth's detention or care is required to protect the person or property of the

1 youth or of others or the youth may abscond or be removed from the community. The department shall
2 determine the place and manner of detention and is responsible for the cost of the detention. Procedures
3 for taking into custody and detention of a youth charged with violation of the youth's aftercare agreement
4 are as provided in 41-5-303, 41-5-306, 41-5-311, ~~and 41-5-314~~, sections 12 through 14, and sections
5 18 through 21].

6 (8) If the decision is made to return the youth to the youth correctional facility from which the
7 youth was released and the youth appeals that decision, the youth shall await the outcome of the appeal
8 at the facility."

9
10 **Section 45.** Section 53-9-107, MCA, is amended to read:

11 **"53-9-107. Public inspection and disclosure of division's records.** (1) Except as provided in
12 subsections (2) and (3), the records the division maintains in its possession in the administration of this part
13 are open to public inspection and disclosure.

14 (2) Confidential criminal justice information obtained by the division is subject to the confidentiality
15 provisions of the Montana Criminal Justice Information Act of 1979, Title 44, chapter 5. ~~Information~~
16 ~~regarding youth court proceedings obtained by the division is subject to the confidentiality provisions of~~
17 ~~Title 41, chapter 5, part 6.~~

18 (3) In assuring that the right of individual privacy so essential to the well-being of a free society
19 may not be infringed without the showing of a compelling state interest, the following public records of the
20 division are exempt from disclosure:

21 (a) information of a personal nature, such as personal, medical, or similar information, if the public
22 disclosure thereof would constitute an unreasonable invasion of privacy, unless the public interest by clear
23 and convincing evidence requires disclosure in the particular instance. The party seeking disclosure ~~shall~~
24 ~~have~~ has the burden of showing that public disclosure would not constitute an unreasonable invasion of
25 privacy.

26 (b) any public records or information, the disclosure of which is prohibited by federal law or
27 regulations.

28 (4) If any public record of the division contains material ~~which~~ that is not exempt under subsection
29 (3), as well as material ~~which~~ that is exempt from disclosure, the division shall separate the exempt and
30 nonexempt and make the nonexempt material available for examination."

1 **NEW SECTION. Section 46. Repealer.** Sections 41-5-310 and 41-5-312, MCA, are repealed.

2

3 **NEW SECTION. Section 47. Code commissioner instructions.** (1)(a) The code commissioner is
4 instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter 5, part 1: 41-5-207, 41-5-525,
5 41-5-526, 41-5-527, 41-5-528, 41-5-529, 41-5-530.

6 (b) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
7 5, part 2: 41-5-603, 41-5-604, 41-5-605.

8 (c) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber sections in Title 41, chapter 5, part 3, to
9 achieve a logical sequence.

10 (d) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
11 5, part 12: 41-5-301, 41-5-304.

12 (e) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
13 5, part 13: 41-5-401, 41-5-402, 41-5-403.

14 (f) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
15 5, part 14: 41-5-202, 41-5-501, 41-5-502, 41-5-503, 41-5-511, 41-5-512, 41-5-513, 41-5-514,
16 41-5-515, 41-5-524, 41-5-531, 41-5-532.

17 (g) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
18 5, part 15: 41-5-521, 41-5-522, 41-5-523, 41-5-533.

19 (h) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
20 5, part 16: 41-5-1101, 41-5-1102, 41-5-1103, 41-5-1104, 41-5-1105.

21 (i) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
22 5, part 17: 41-5-701, 41-5-702, 41-5-703, 41-5-704, 41-5-705, 41-5-706.

23 (j) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
24 5, part 18: 41-5-802, 41-5-809, 41-5-810, 41-5-811, 41-5-812, 41-5-813, 41-5-814.

25 (k) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
26 5, part 19: 41-5-1001, 41-5-1002, 41-5-1003, 41-5-1004, 41-5-1005, 41-5-1006, 41-5-1007,
27 41-5-1008.

28 (2) The code commissioner is instructed to implement 1-11-101(2)(g)(ii) by correcting any clearly
29 inaccurate references to or in sections of the Montana Code Annotated caused by the renumbering required
30 by this section, including material enacted by the 55th legislature.

1 **NEW SECTION. Section 48. Codification instruction.** (1) [Sections 12 through 14, 16, and 18
2 through 21] are intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5, part 3, and the provisions
3 of Title 41, chapter 5, part 3, apply to [sections 12 through 14, 16, and 18 through 21].

4 (2) [Sections 6 through 8] are intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5, part
5 12, and the provisions of Title 41, chapter 5, part 12, apply to [sections 6 through 8].

6 (3) [Section 9] is intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5, part 13, and the
7 provisions of Title 41, chapter 5, part 13, apply to [section 9].

8 (4) [Section 10] is intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5, part 14, and
9 the provisions of Title 41, chapter 5, part 14, apply to [section 10].

10 (5) [Sections 29 through 37] are intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5,
11 part 15, and the provisions of Title 41, chapter 5, part 15, apply to [sections 29 through 37].

12

13 **NEW SECTION. Section 49. Coordination instruction.** (1) If ___ Bill No. ___ [LC 224] is passed
14 and approved and if it includes a section that amends 41-5-523(3)(b), then the code commissioner is
15 instructed to compile the two provisions to retain the structure of [this act] and the substantive changes
16 of ___ Bill No. ___ [LC 224].

17 (2) If ___ Bill No. ___ [LC 222] is passed and approved and if it includes a section that amends
18 41-5-523(2)(b), then the code commissioner is instructed to compile the two provisions to retain the
19 structure of [this act] and the substantive changes of ___ Bill No. ___ [LC 222].

20

21 **NEW SECTION. Section 50. Saving clause.** [This act] does not affect rights and duties that
22 matured, penalties that were incurred, or proceedings that were begun before [the effective date of this
23 act].

24

25 **NEW SECTION. Section 51. Applicability.** [This act] applies to proceedings commenced after [the
26 effective date of this act].

27

-END-

HOUSE BILL NO. 114

INTRODUCED BY MCCULLOCH

BY REQUEST OF THE JUVENILE JUSTICE AND JUVENILE MENTAL HEALTH STUDY COMMISSION

A BILL FOR AN ACT ENTITLED: "AN ACT GENERALLY REVISING AND RECODIFYING THE MONTANA YOUTH COURT ACT; CLARIFYING THAT SHORT-TERM DETENTION OF YOUTH, FOR UP TO 96 HOURS, EXCLUDES WEEKENDS AND LEGAL HOLIDAYS; AMENDING SECTIONS 7-6-501, 7-32-2244, 41-5-103, 41-5-208, 41-5-301, 41-5-303, 41-5-305, 41-5-306, 41-5-307, 41-5-311, 41-5-403, 41-5-502, 41-5-521, 41-5-522, 41-5-523, 41-5-525, 41-5-527, 41-5-530, 41-5-1004, 41-5-1104, 46-24-207, 52-5-129, AND 53-9-107, MCA; REPEALING SECTIONS 41-5-310 AND 41-5-312, MCA; AND PROVIDING AN APPLICABILITY DATE."

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MONTANA:

Section 1. Section 7-6-501, MCA, is amended to read:

"7-6-501. Definitions. As used in 7-6-502 and this section, unless the context requires otherwise, the following definitions apply:

(1) "Detention" means the holding or temporary placement of a youth in a facility other than the youth's own home for the purpose of ensuring the continued custody of the youth at any time after the youth is taken into custody and before final disposition of his case.

(2) "Juvenile detention program" means services to provide for the lawful detention or shelter care of youth. The term includes:

- (a) youth evaluations ordered by the court under 41-5-523, section 29, or section 36; and
- (b) programs for the transportation of youth to appropriate detention facilities or shelter care facilities.

(3) "Local government" has the same meaning as provided in 7-12-1103.

(4) "Shelter care" has the same meaning as provided in 41-5-103.

(5) "Youth" means an individual who is less than 18 years of age who is alleged to be a delinquent youth or youth in need of supervision as those terms are defined in 41-5-103."

1 **Section 2.** Section 7-32-2244, MCA, is amended to read:

2 **"7-32-2244. Detention of juveniles.** Juveniles may be held in a detention center only in accordance
3 with ~~41-5-301 through 41-5-307, 41-5-309, and 41-5-311~~ Title 41, chapter 5, part 3."

4

5 **Section 3.** Section 41-5-103, MCA, is amended to read:

6 **"41-5-103. Definitions.** As used in the Montana Youth Court Act, unless the context requires
7 otherwise, the following definitions apply:

8 (1) "Adult" means an individual who is 18 years of age or older.

9 (2) "Agency" means any entity of state or local government authorized by law to be responsible
10 for the care or rehabilitation of youth.

11 (3) "Commit" means to transfer to legal custody.

12 (4) "Correctional facility" means a public or private residential facility used for the placement of
13 delinquent youth or individuals convicted of criminal offenses.

14 (5) "Court", when used without further qualification, means the youth court of the district court.

15 (6) "Custodian" means a person, other than a parent or guardian, to whom legal custody of the
16 youth has been given but does not include a person who has only physical custody.

17 (7) "Delinquent youth" means a youth:

18 (a) who has committed an offense that, if committed by an adult, would constitute a criminal
19 offense; or

20 (b) who, having been placed on probation as a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision,
21 violates any condition of probation.

22 (8) "Department" means the department of corrections provided for in 2-15-2301.

23 (9) "Detention" means the holding or temporary placement of a youth in the youth's home under
24 home arrest or in a facility other than the youth's own home for the purpose of ensuring the continued
25 custody of the youth at any time after the youth is taken into custody and before final disposition of the
26 youth's case.

27 (10) "Detention facility" means a physically restricting facility designed to prevent a youth from
28 departing at will. The term includes a youth detention facility, short-term detention center, and regional
29 detention facility.

30 (11) "Final disposition" means the implementation of a court order for the disposition or placement

1 of a youth as provided in 41-5-523 or [section 29].

2 (12) "Foster home" means a private residence licensed by the department of public health and
3 human services for placement of a youth.

4 (13) ~~"Guardianship" means the status created and defined by law between a youth and an adult~~
5 ~~with the reciprocal rights, duties, and responsibilities.~~ "Guardian" means an adult:

6 (a) who is responsible for a youth and has reciprocal rights, duties, and responsibilities with the
7 youth; and

8 (b) whose status is created and defined by law.

9 (14) "Holdover" means a room, office, building, or other place approved by the board of crime
10 control for the temporary detention and supervision of youth in a physically unrestricting setting for a period
11 not to exceed 24 hours while the youth is awaiting a probable cause hearing, release, or transfer to an
12 appropriate detention or shelter care facility. The term does not include a jail.

13 (15) "Jail" means a facility used for the confinement of adults accused or convicted of criminal
14 offenses. The term includes a lockup or other facility used primarily for the temporary confinement of adults
15 after arrest.

16 (16) "Judge", when used without further qualification, means the judge of the youth court.

17 (17) (a) "Legal custody" means the legal status created by order of a court of competent jurisdiction
18 that gives a person the right and duty to:

19 (i) have physical custody of the youth;

20 (ii) determine with whom the youth shall live and for what period;

21 (iii) protect, train, and discipline the youth; and

22 (iv) provide the youth with food, shelter, education, and ordinary medical care.

23 (b) An individual granted legal custody of a youth shall personally exercise the individual's rights
24 and duties as guardian unless otherwise authorized by the court entering the order.

25 ~~(18) "Mentally ill" means suffering from a mental disorder that has not resulted in self-inflicted~~
26 ~~injury or injury to others or the imminent threat of injury but that:~~

27 ~~(a) has resulted in behavior that creates serious difficulty in protecting the person's life or health~~
28 ~~even with the available assistance of family, friends, or others;~~

29 ~~(b) is treatable, with a reasonable prospect of success;~~

30 ~~(c) has deprived the person of the capacity to make an informed decision concerning treatment;~~

1 ~~(d) has resulted in the person's refusing or being unable to consent to voluntary admission for~~
2 ~~treatment; and~~

3 ~~(e) poses a significant risk of the person's becoming seriously mentally ill or will, if untreated,~~
4 ~~predictably result in further serious deterioration in the mental condition of the person. Predictability may~~
5 ~~be established by the patient's medical history.~~

6 ~~(18)(19)(18)~~ "Necessary parties" includes the youth, and the youth's parents, guardian, custodian,
7 or spouse.

8 ~~(19)(20)(19)~~ "Parent" means the natural or adoptive parent but does not include a person whose
9 parental rights have been judicially terminated, nor does it include the putative father of an illegitimate youth
10 unless the putative father's paternity is established by an adjudication or by other clear and convincing
11 proof.

12 ~~(20)(21)(20)~~ "Probable cause hearing" means the hearing provided for in ~~41-5-303~~ [section 12].

13 ~~(21)(22)(21)~~ "Regional detention facility" means a youth detention facility established and
14 maintained by two or more counties, as authorized in 41-5-811.

15 ~~(22)(23)(22)~~ "Restitution" means payments in cash to the victim or with services to the victim or
16 the general community when these payments are made pursuant to an informal adjustment, consent decree,
17 or other youth court order.

18 ~~(23)(24)(23)~~ "Secure detention facility" means any public or private facility that:

19 (a) is used for the temporary placement of youth or individuals accused or convicted of criminal
20 offenses; and

21 (b) is designed to physically restrict the movements and activities of youth or other individuals held
22 in lawful custody of the facility.

23 ~~(24)(25)(24)~~ "Serious juvenile offender" means a youth who has committed an offense that would
24 be considered a felony offense if committed by an adult and that is an offense against a person, an offense
25 against property, or an offense involving dangerous drugs.

26 ~~(25)(26)(25)~~ "Shelter care" means the temporary substitute care of youth in physically unrestricting
27 facilities.

28 ~~(26)(27)(26)~~ "Shelter care facility" means a facility used for the shelter care of youth. The term is
29 limited to the facilities enumerated in ~~41-5-306(1)~~ [section 20].

30 ~~(27)(28)(27)~~ "Short-term detention center" means a detention facility licensed by the department

1 for the temporary placement or care of youth, for a period not to exceed 96 hours excluding weekends and
 2 legal holidays, pending a probable cause hearing, release, or transfer of the youth to an appropriate
 3 detention facility or shelter care facility.

4 ~~(28)(29)(28)~~ "State youth correctional facility" means a residential facility used for the placement
 5 and rehabilitation of delinquent youth, such as the Pine Hills school in Miles City ~~and the Mountain View~~
 6 ~~school in Helena.~~

7 ~~(29)(30)(29)~~ "Substitute care" means full-time care of youth in a residential setting for the purpose
 8 of providing food, shelter, security and safety, guidance, direction, and, if necessary, treatment to youth
 9 who are removed from or are without the care and supervision of their parents or guardian.

10 ~~(30)(31)(30)~~ "Youth" means an individual who is less than 18 years of age without regard to sex
 11 or emancipation.

12 ~~(31)(32)(31)~~ "Youth court" means the court established pursuant to this chapter to hear all
 13 proceedings in which a youth is alleged to be a delinquent youth, a youth in need of supervision, or a youth
 14 in need of care and includes the youth court judge and probation officers.

15 ~~(32)(33)(32)~~ "Youth detention facility" means a secure detention facility licensed by the department
 16 for the temporary substitute care of youth that:

- 17 (a) is operated, administered, and staffed separately and independently of a jail; and
- 18 (b) is used exclusively for the lawful detention of alleged or adjudicated delinquent youth.

19 ~~(33)(34)(33)~~ "Youth in need of care" has the meaning provided for in 41-3-102.

20 ~~(34)(35)(34)~~ "Youth in need of supervision" means a youth who commits an offense prohibited by
 21 law that, if committed by an adult, would not constitute a criminal offense, including but not limited to a
 22 youth who:

- 23 (a) violates any Montana municipal or state law regarding use of alcoholic beverages by minors;
- 24 (b) continues to exhibit behavior beyond the control of the youth's parents, foster parents, physical
 25 custodian, or guardian despite the attempt of the youth's parents, foster parents, physical custodian, or
 26 guardian to exert all reasonable efforts to mediate, resolve, or control the youth's behavior; or
- 27 (c) has committed any of the acts of a delinquent youth but whom the youth court, in its
 28 discretion, chooses to regard as a youth in need of supervision."

29

30 **Section 4.** Section 41-5-208, MCA, is amended to read:

1 **"41-5-208. Transfer to district court after prosecution -- disposition in district court -- limitation**
 2 **on jurisdiction.** (1) To ensure continued compliance with the court's disposition under ~~41-5-523~~ section
 3 29], at any time after a youth reaches 18 years of age but before the youth reaches 21 years of age, the
 4 youth court judge may transfer jurisdiction to district court and order the transfer of supervisory
 5 responsibility and the youth's case files to the department.

6 (2) If a youth whose case has been transferred to district court under this section violates a
 7 disposition imposed under ~~41-5-523~~ section 29], the district court may impose conditions as provided
 8 under 46-18-201 through 46-18-203.

9 (3) If, at the time of transfer, the youth is incarcerated in a state youth correctional facility, the
 10 district court may order that the youth, after reaching 18 years of age:

- 11 (a) be incarcerated in a state adult correctional facility, boot camp, or prerelease center; or
 12 (b) be supervised by the department.

13 (4) The district court's jurisdiction over a case transferred under this section terminates when the
 14 youth reaches 25 years of age."

15
 16 **Section 5.** Section 41-5-301, MCA, is amended to read:

17 **"41-5-301. Preliminary ~~investigation and disposition~~ inquiry -- referral of youth in need of care.**

18 (1) Whenever the court receives information from any agency or person, based upon reasonable grounds,
 19 that a youth is or appears to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision or, being subject to
 20 a court order or consent order, has violated the terms of an order, a probation officer shall make a
 21 preliminary inquiry into the matter.

22 ~~(2) The probation officer may:~~

23 ~~(a) require the presence of any person relevant to the inquiry;~~

24 ~~(b) request subpoenas from the judge to accomplish this purpose;~~

25 ~~(c) require investigation of the matter by any law enforcement agency or any other appropriate~~
 26 ~~state or local agency.~~

27 ~~(3)~~(2) If the probation officer determines that the facts indicate that the youth is a youth in need
 28 of care, the matter must be immediately referred to the department of public health and human services.

29 ~~(4) (a) The probation officer in the conduct of the preliminary inquiry shall:~~

30 ~~(i) advise the youth of the youth's rights under this chapter and the constitutions of the state of~~

1 ~~Montana and the United States;~~

2 ~~(ii) determine whether the matter is within the jurisdiction of the court;~~

3 ~~(iii) determine, if the youth is in detention or shelter care, whether detention or shelter care should~~
4 ~~be continued based upon criteria set forth in 41-5-305.~~

5 ~~(b) Once relevant information is secured, the probation officer shall:~~

6 ~~(i) determine whether the interest of the public or the youth requires that further action be taken;~~

7 ~~(ii) terminate the inquiry upon the determination that no further action be taken; and~~

8 ~~(iii) release the youth immediately upon the determination that the filing of a petition is not~~
9 ~~authorized.~~

10 ~~(5) The probation officer upon determining that further action is required may:~~

11 ~~(a) provide counseling, refer the youth and the youth's parents to another agency providing~~
12 ~~appropriate services, or take any other action or make any informal adjustment that does not involve~~
13 ~~probation or detention;~~

14 ~~(b) provide for treatment or adjustment involving probation or other disposition authorized under~~
15 ~~41-5-401 through 41-5-403 if the treatment or adjustment is voluntarily accepted by the youth's parents~~
16 ~~or guardian and the youth, if the matter is referred immediately to the county attorney for review, and if~~
17 ~~the probation officer proceeds no further unless authorized by the county attorney; or~~

18 ~~(c) refer the matter to the county attorney for filing a petition charging the youth to be a delinquent~~
19 ~~youth or a youth in need of supervision.~~

20 ~~(6) The county attorney may apply to the youth court for permission to file a petition charging a~~
21 ~~youth to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision. The application must be supported by~~
22 ~~evidence that the youth court may require. If it appears that there is probable cause to believe that the~~
23 ~~allegations of the petition are true, the youth court shall grant leave to file the petition.~~

24 ~~(7) A petition charging a youth held in detention must be filed within 7 working days from the date~~
25 ~~the youth was first taken into custody or the petition must be dismissed and the youth released unless good~~
26 ~~cause is shown to further detain the youth.~~

27 ~~(8) If a petition is not filed under this section, the complainant and victim, if any, must be informed~~
28 ~~by the probation officer of the action and the reasons for not filing and must be advised of the right to~~
29 ~~submit the matter to the county attorney for review. The county attorney, upon receiving a request for~~
30 ~~review, shall consider the facts, consult with the probation officer, and make the final decision as to~~

1 ~~whether a petition is filed."~~

2

3 **NEW SECTION. Section 6. Preliminary inquiry -- procedure.** (1) In conducting a preliminary inquiry
4 under 41-5-301, the probation officer shall:

5 (a) advise the youth of the youth's rights under this chapter and the constitutions of the state of
6 Montana and the United States;

7 (b) determine whether the matter is within the jurisdiction of the court;

8 (c) determine, if the youth is in detention or shelter care, whether detention or shelter care should
9 be continued based upon criteria set forth in 41-5-305 and [section 16].

10 (2) In conducting a preliminary inquiry, the probation officer may:

11 (a) require the presence of any person relevant to the inquiry;

12 (b) request subpoenas from the judge to accomplish this purpose;

13 (c) require investigation of the matter by any law enforcement agency or any other appropriate
14 state or local agency.

15

16 **NEW SECTION. Section 7. Preliminary inquiry -- determinations -- release.** Once relevant
17 information is secured after a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the probation officer shall:

18 (1) determine whether the interest of the public or the youth requires that further action be taken;

19 (2) terminate the inquiry upon the determination that no further action be taken; and

20 (3) release the youth immediately upon the determination that the filing of a petition is not
21 authorized.

22

23 **NEW SECTION. Section 8. Preliminary inquiry -- dispositions available to probation officer.** Upon
24 determining that further action is required after a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the probation officer
25 may:

26 (1) arrange informal disposition as provided in [section 9]; or

27 (2) refer the matter to the county attorney for filing a petition charging the youth to be a delinquent
28 youth or a youth in need of supervision.

29

30 **NEW SECTION. Section 9. Informal disposition.** After a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the

1 probation officer upon determining that further action is required and that referral to the county attorney
2 is not required may:

3 (1) provide counseling, refer the youth and the youth's parents to another agency providing
4 appropriate services, or take any other action or make any informal adjustment that does not involve
5 probation or detention; or

6 (2) provide for treatment or adjustment involving probation or other disposition authorized under
7 41-5-401 through 41-5-403 if the treatment or adjustment is voluntarily accepted by the youth's parents
8 or guardian and the youth, if the matter is referred immediately to the county attorney for review, and if
9 the probation officer proceeds no further unless authorized by the county attorney.

10

11 **NEW SECTION. Section 10. Petition -- county attorney -- procedure -- release from custody.** (1)

12 The county attorney may apply to the youth court for permission to file a petition charging a youth to be
13 a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision. The application must be supported by evidence that
14 the youth court may require. If it appears that there is probable cause to believe that the allegations of the
15 petition are true, the youth court shall grant leave to file the petition.

16 (2) A petition charging a youth held in detention must be filed within 7 working days from the date
17 the youth was first taken into custody or the petition must be dismissed and the youth released unless good
18 cause is shown to further detain the youth.

19 (3) If a petition is not filed under this section, the complainant and victim, if any, must be informed
20 by the probation officer of the action and the reasons for not filing and must be advised of the right to
21 submit the matter to the county attorney for review. The county attorney, upon receiving a request for
22 review, shall consider the facts, consult with the probation officer, and make the final decision as to
23 whether a petition is filed.

24

25 **Section 11.** Section 41-5-303, MCA, is amended to read:

26 **"41-5-303. Rights of youth taken into custody -- questioning -- ~~hearing for probable cause --~~**
27 **~~detention -- waiver of rights.~~** (1) When a youth is taken into custody for questioning upon a matter that
28 could result in a petition alleging that the youth is either a delinquent youth or a youth in need of
29 supervision, the following requirements must be met:

30 (a) The youth must be advised of ~~his~~ the youth's right against self-incrimination and ~~his~~ the youth's

1 right to counsel.

2 ~~(b) The youth may waive these rights under the following situations:~~

3 ~~(i) when the youth is 16 years of age or older, the youth may make an effective waiver;~~

4 ~~(ii) when the youth is under the age of 16 years and the youth and a parent or guardian agree, they~~
5 ~~may make an effective waiver; and~~

6 ~~(iii) when the youth is under the age of 16 years and the youth and his parent or guardian do not~~
7 ~~agree, the youth may make an effective waiver only with advice of counsel.~~

8 ~~(e)(b)~~ The investigating officer, probation officer, or person assigned to give notice shall
9 immediately notify the parents, guardian, or legal custodian of the youth that the youth has been taken into
10 custody, the reasons for taking the youth into custody, and where the youth is being held. If the parents,
11 guardian, or legal custodian cannot be found through diligent efforts, a close relative or friend chosen by
12 the youth must be notified.

13 (2) A youth may waive the rights listed in subsection (1) under the following situations:

14 (a) when the youth is 16 years of age or older, the youth may make an effective waiver;

15 (b) when the youth is under 16 years of age and the youth and the youth's parent or guardian
16 agree, they may make an effective waiver; or

17 (c) when the youth is under 16 years of age and the youth and the youth's parent or guardian do
18 not agree, the youth may make an effective waiver only with advice of counsel.

19 ~~(2) Unless a youth has been released, a hearing must be held within 24 hours after the youth is~~
20 ~~taken into custody, excluding weekends and legal holidays, to determine whether there is probable cause~~
21 ~~to believe that the youth is a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision.~~

22 ~~(3) The probable cause hearing required under subsection (2) may be held by the youth court, a~~
23 ~~justice of the peace, a municipal or city judge, or a magistrate having jurisdiction in the case as provided~~
24 ~~in 41-5-203. If the probable cause hearing is held by a justice of the peace, a municipal or city judge, or~~
25 ~~a magistrate, a record of the hearing must be made by a court reporter or by a tape recording of the~~
26 ~~hearing.~~

27 ~~(4) At the probable cause hearing, the youth must be informed of his constitutional rights and his~~
28 ~~rights under this chapter.~~

29 ~~(5) A parent, guardian, or legal custodian of the youth may be held in contempt of court for failing~~
30 ~~to be present at or to participate in the probable cause hearing unless he:~~

1 ~~(a) cannot be located through diligent efforts of the investigating peace officer or peace officers;~~

2 or

3 ~~(b) is excused by the court for good cause.~~

4 ~~(6) At the probable cause hearing, a guardian ad litem may be appointed as provided in 41-5-512.~~

5 ~~(7) If it is determined that there is probable cause to believe the youth is a delinquent youth or is~~
 6 ~~a youth in need of supervision, the court having jurisdiction in the case shall determine whether the youth~~
 7 ~~should be retained in custody. If the court determines that continued custody of the youth is necessary and~~
 8 ~~if the youth meets the criteria in 41-5-305, the youth may be placed in a detention facility or shelter care~~
 9 ~~facility as provided in 41-5-306 but may not be placed in a jail or other facility used for the confinement~~
 10 ~~of adults accused or convicted of criminal offenses.~~

11 ~~(8) If probable cause is not found or if a probable cause hearing is not held within the time specified~~
 12 ~~in subsection (2), the youth must be immediately released from custody."~~

13
 14 **NEW SECTION. Section 12. Custody -- hearing for probable cause.** (1) When a youth is taken
 15 into custody for questioning, a hearing to determine whether there is probable cause to believe the youth
 16 is a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision must be held within 24 hours, excluding weekends
 17 and legal holidays. A hearing is not required if the youth is released prior to the time of the required
 18 hearing.

19 (2) The probable cause hearing required under subsection (1) may be held by the youth court, a
 20 justice of the peace, a municipal or city judge, or a magistrate having jurisdiction in the case as provided
 21 in 41-5-203. If the probable cause hearing is held by a justice of the peace, a municipal or city judge, or
 22 a magistrate, a record of the hearing must be made by a court reporter or by a tape recording of the
 23 hearing.

24 (3) A probable cause hearing may be conducted by telephone if other means of conducting the
 25 hearing are impractical. All written orders and findings of the court in a hearing conducted by telephone
 26 must bear the name of the judge or magistrate presiding in the case and the hour and date the order or
 27 findings were issued.

28
 29 **NEW SECTION. Section 13. Custody -- hearing for probable cause -- procedure.** (1) At a probable
 30 cause hearing held pursuant to [section 12], the youth must be informed of the youth's constitutional rights

1 and the youth's rights under this chapter.

2 (2) A parent, guardian, or custodian of the youth may be held in contempt of court for failing to
3 be present at or to participate in the probable cause hearing unless the parent, guardian, or custodian:

4 (a) cannot be located through diligent efforts of the investigating peace officer or peace officers;

5 or

6 (b) is excused by the court for good cause.

7 (3) At the probable cause hearing, a guardian ad litem may be appointed as provided in 41-5-512.

8

9 **NEW SECTION. Section 14. Custody -- hearing for probable cause -- determinations -- detention**

10 **-- release.** (1) If, at a probable cause hearing held pursuant to [section 12], it is determined that there is
11 probable cause to believe the youth is a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision, the court
12 having jurisdiction in the case shall determine whether the youth should be retained in custody. If the court
13 determines that continued custody of the youth is necessary and if the youth meets the criteria in 41-5-305
14 or [section 16], the youth may be placed in a detention facility or shelter care facility as provided in
15 [sections 18 through 21] but may not be placed in a jail or other facility used for the confinement of adults
16 accused or convicted of criminal offenses.

17 (2) If probable cause is not found or if a probable cause hearing is not held within the time specified
18 in [section 12], the youth must be immediately released from custody.

19

20 **Section 15.** Section 41-5-305, MCA, is amended to read:

21 **"41-5-305. Criteria for placement of youth in secure detention facilities ~~or shelter care facilities.~~**

22 ~~(1)~~ A youth may ~~not~~ be placed in a secure detention facility ~~unless~~ only if the youth:

23 ~~(a)(1)~~ ~~he~~ has allegedly committed an act that if committed by an adult would constitute a criminal
24 offense and the alleged offense is one specified in 41-5-206;

25 ~~(b)(2)~~ ~~he~~ is alleged to be a delinquent youth and:

26 ~~(i)(a)~~ ~~he~~ has escaped from a correctional facility or secure detention facility;

27 ~~(ii)(b)~~ ~~he~~ has violated a valid court order or an aftercare agreement;

28 ~~(iii)(c)~~ ~~his~~ the youth's detention is required to protect persons or property;

29 ~~(iv)(d)~~ ~~he~~ the youth has pending court or administrative action or is awaiting a transfer to another
30 jurisdiction and may abscond or be removed from the jurisdiction of the court;

- 1 ~~(v)(e)~~ there are not adequate assurances that ~~he~~ the youth will appear for court when required; or
- 2 ~~(vi)(f)~~ ~~he~~ the youth meets additional criteria for secure detention established by the youth court in
- 3 the judicial district that has current jurisdiction over ~~him~~ the youth; or
- 4 ~~(c)(3)~~ ~~he~~ has been adjudicated delinquent and is awaiting final disposition of ~~his~~ the youth's case.
- 5 ~~(2) A youth may not be placed in a shelter care facility unless:~~
- 6 ~~(a) the youth and his family need shelter care to address their problematic situation when it is not~~
- 7 ~~possible for the youth to remain at home;~~
- 8 ~~(b) the youth needs to be protected from physical or emotional harm;~~
- 9 ~~(c) the youth needs to be deterred or prevented from immediate repetition of his troubling behavior;~~
- 10 ~~(d) shelter care is necessary to assess the youth and his environment;~~
- 11 ~~(e) shelter care is necessary to provide adequate time for case planning and disposition; or~~
- 12 ~~(f) shelter care is necessary to intervene in a crisis situation and provide intensive services or~~
- 13 ~~attention that might alleviate the problem and reunite the family."~~

14

15 **NEW SECTION. Section 16. Criteria for placement of youth in shelter care facilities.** A youth may

16 be placed in a shelter care facility only if:

- 17 (1) the youth and the youth's family need shelter care to address their problematic situation and
- 18 it is not possible for the youth to remain at home;
- 19 (2) the youth needs to be protected from physical or emotional harm;
- 20 (3) the youth needs to be deterred or prevented from immediate repetition of troubling behavior;
- 21 (4) shelter care is necessary to assess the youth and the youth's environment;
- 22 (5) shelter care is necessary to provide adequate time for case planning and disposition; or
- 23 (6) shelter care is necessary to intervene in a crisis situation and provide intensive services or
- 24 attention that might alleviate the problem and reunite the family.

25

26 **Section 17.** Section 41-5-306, MCA, is amended to read:

27 **"41-5-306. Place of shelter care or detention Limitation on placement of youth in need of care.**

28 ~~(1) After a probable cause hearing provided for in 41-5-303, a youth alleged to be a youth in need of~~

29 ~~supervision may be placed only:~~

30 ~~(a) in a licensed youth foster home as defined in 41-3-1102;~~

- 1 ~~(b) in a facility operated by a licensed child welfare agency;~~
 2 ~~(c) in a licensed youth group home as defined in 41-3-1102; or~~
 3 ~~(d) under home arrest, either in the youth's own home or in one of the facilities described in~~
 4 ~~subsections (1)(a) through (1)(c), as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10.~~

5 (2) A youth alleged to be a youth in need of care may be placed only in ~~the facilities listed in~~
 6 ~~subsection (1) shelter care, as provided in [section 20],~~ and may not be placed in a jail or other facility
 7 intended or used for the confinement of adults accused or convicted of criminal offenses.

8 ~~(3) After a probable cause hearing provided for in 41-5-303, a youth alleged to be a delinquent~~
 9 ~~youth may be placed only:~~

- 10 ~~(a) in the facilities described in subsection (1);~~
 11 ~~(b) under home arrest as provided in subsection (1);~~
 12 ~~(c) in a short term detention center;~~
 13 ~~(d) in a youth detention facility; or~~
 14 ~~(e) in a community youth court program."~~

15

16 **NEW SECTION. Section 18. Limitation on placement of youth in need of supervision.** (1) After
 17 a probable cause hearing provided for in [section 12], a youth alleged to be a youth in need of supervision
 18 may be placed only in shelter care, as provided in [section 20].

19 (2) A youth alleged or found to be a youth in need of supervision may not be placed in a jail, secure
 20 detention facility, or correctional facility.

21

22 **NEW SECTION. Section 19. Limitation on placement of delinquent youth.** After a probable cause
 23 hearing provided for in [section 12], a youth alleged to be a delinquent youth may be placed only:

- 24 (1) in shelter care, in the facilities described in [section 20];
 25 (2) under home arrest as provided in [section 20];
 26 (3) in detention, as provided in [section 21]; or
 27 (4) in a community youth court program.

28

29 **NEW SECTION. Section 20. Place of shelter care.** Placement in shelter care means placement in
 30 one of the following:

- 1 (1) in a licensed youth foster home as defined in 41-3-1102;
 2 (2) in a facility operated by a licensed child welfare agency;
 3 (3) in a licensed youth group home as defined in 41-3-1102; or
 4 (4) under home arrest as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10, either in the youth's own home
 5 or in one of the facilities described in subsections (1) through (3).
 6

7 **NEW SECTION. Section 21. Place of detention.** Placement in detention means placement in one
 8 of the following facilities:

- 9 (1) a short-term detention center; or
 10 (2) a youth detention facility, including a regional detention facility.
 11

12 **Section 22.** Section 41-5-307, MCA, is amended to read:

13 **"41-5-307. Release or delivery from custody -- detention -- shelter care.** (1) Whenever a peace
 14 officer believes, on reasonable grounds, that a youth can be released to a responsible person ~~who has~~
 15 ~~custody of the youth, then~~ the peace officer may release the youth to that person upon receiving a written
 16 promise from the person to bring the youth before the probation officer at a time and place specified in the
 17 written promise, or a peace officer may release the youth under any other reasonable circumstances.

18 (2) Whenever the peace officer believes, on reasonable grounds, that the youth must be detained,
 19 the peace officer shall notify the probation officer immediately and shall, as soon as practicable, provide
 20 the probation officer with a written report of ~~his~~ the peace officer's reasons for holding the youth in
 21 detention. If it is necessary to hold the youth pending appearance before the youth court, then the youth
 22 must be held in a place of detention, as provided in [section 21], that is approved by the youth court.

23 (3) If the peace officer believes that the youth must be sheltered, the peace officer shall notify the
 24 probation officer immediately and shall provide a written report of ~~his~~ the peace officer's reasons for placing
 25 the youth in shelter care. If the youth is then held, the youth must be placed in a shelter care facility
 26 approved by the youth court."
 27

28 **Section 23.** Section 41-5-311, MCA, is amended to read:

29 **"41-5-311. Youth not to be detained in jail -- exceptions -- time limitations.** (1) A youth may not
 30 be detained or otherwise placed in a jail or other adult detention facility except as provided in 41-5-206 and

1 this section.

2 (2) A youth who has allegedly committed an offense that if committed by an adult would constitute
3 a criminal offense may be temporarily detained in a jail or other adult detention facility for a period not to
4 exceed:

5 (a) 6 hours, but in no case overnight, for the purpose of identification, processing, or transfer of
6 the youth to an appropriate detention facility or shelter care facility; or

7 (b) 24 hours, excluding weekends and legal holidays, if the youth is awaiting a probable cause
8 hearing pursuant to ~~41-5-303~~ [section 12].

9 (3) The exception provided for in subsection (2)(b) applies only if:

10 (a) the court having jurisdiction over the youth is outside a metropolitan statistical area;

11 (b) alternative facilities are not available or alternative facilities do not provide adequate security;

12 and

13 (c) the youth is kept in an area that provides physical as well as sight and sound separation from
14 adults accused or convicted of criminal offenses.

15 (4) Whenever, despite all good faith efforts to comply with the time limitations specified in
16 subsection (2), the limitations are exceeded, this circumstance does not serve as grounds for dismissal of
17 the case nor does this circumstance constitute a defense in a subsequent delinquency or criminal
18 proceeding."

19

20 **Section 24.** Section 41-5-403, MCA, is amended to read:

21 **"41-5-403. Disposition permitted under informal adjustment -- contributions by parents or**
22 **guardians for youth's care.** (1) The following dispositions may be imposed by informal adjustment:

23 (a) probation;

24 (b) placement of the youth in substitute care in a youth care facility, as defined in 41-3-1102, ~~and~~
25 as determined by the department;

26 (c) placement of the youth with a private agency responsible for the care and rehabilitation of the
27 youth as determined by the department;

28 (d) restitution upon approval of the youth court judge ~~and subject to the provisions of [section 37]~~;

29 (e) placement of the youth under home arrest as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10.

30 ~~(2) In determining whether restitution is appropriate in a particular case, the following factors may~~

1 ~~be considered in addition to any other evidence:~~

2 ~~(a) age of the youth;~~

3 ~~(b) ability of the youth to pay;~~

4 ~~(c) ability of the parents, legal guardian, or persons contributing to the youth's delinquency or need~~
5 ~~for supervision to pay;~~

6 ~~(d) amount of damage to the victim; and~~

7 ~~(e) legal remedies of the victim. However, the ability of the victim or the victim's insurer to stand~~
8 ~~any loss may not be considered in any case.~~

9 ~~(3)(2)~~ If the youth violates an aftercare agreement as provided for in 52-5-126, the youth must be
10 returned to the court for further disposition. A youth may not be placed in a state youth correctional facility
11 under informal adjustment.

12 ~~(4)(3)~~ If the youth is placed in substitute care requiring payment by the department, the court, as
13 provided in [section 35], shall examine the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians to pay a
14 contribution covering all or part of the costs for the care, placement, and treatment of the youth, including
15 the costs of necessary medical, dental, and other health care.

16 ~~(5)(4)~~ If the court determines that the youth's parents or guardians are financially able to pay a
17 contribution as provided in subsection ~~(4)(3)~~, the court shall order the youth's parents or guardians to pay
18 an amount based on the uniform child support guidelines adopted by the department of public health and
19 human services pursuant to 40-5-209.

20 ~~(6) (a) Except as provided in subsection (6)(b), contributions ordered under this section and each~~
21 ~~modification of an existing order are enforceable by immediate or delinquency income withholding, or both,~~
22 ~~under Title 40, chapter 5, part 4. An order for contribution that is inconsistent with this section is~~
23 ~~nevertheless subject to withholding for the payment of the contribution without need for an amendment~~
24 ~~of the support order or for any further action by the court.~~

25 ~~(b) A court-ordered exception from contributions under this section must be in writing and be~~
26 ~~included in the order. An exception from the immediate income withholding requirement may be granted~~
27 ~~if the court finds there is:~~

28 ~~(i) good cause not to require immediate income withholding; or~~

29 ~~(ii) an alternative arrangement between the department and the person who is ordered to pay~~
30 ~~contributions.~~

1 ~~(c) A finding of good cause not to require immediate income withholding must, at a minimum, be~~
 2 ~~based upon:~~

3 ~~(i) a written determination and explanation by the court of the reasons why the implementation of~~
 4 ~~immediate income withholding is not in the best interests of the child; and~~

5 ~~(ii) proof of timely payment of previously ordered support in cases involving modification of~~
 6 ~~contributions ordered under this section.~~

7 ~~(d) An alternative arrangement must:~~

8 ~~(i) provide sufficient security to ensure compliance with the arrangement;~~

9 ~~(ii) be in writing and be signed by a representative of the department and the person required to~~
 10 ~~make contributions; and~~

11 ~~(iii) if approved by the court, be entered into the record of the proceeding.~~

12 ~~(7) (a) If the court orders the payment of contributions under this section, the department shall~~
 13 ~~apply to the department of public health and human services for support enforcement services pursuant~~
 14 ~~to Title IV-D of the Social Security Act.~~

15 ~~(b) The department of public health and human services may collect and enforce a contribution~~
 16 ~~order under this section by any means available under law, including the remedies provided for in Title 40,~~
 17 ~~chapter 5, parts 2 and 4."~~

18
 19 **Section 25.** Section 41-5-502, MCA, is amended to read:

20 **"41-5-502. Summons.** (1) After a petition has been filed, summons must be served directly to:

21 (a) the youth;

22 (b) ~~his~~ the youth's parent or parents having actual custody of the youth or ~~his~~ the youth's guardian
 23 or custodian, as the case may be; and

24 (c) other persons as the court may direct.

25 (2) The summons must:

26 (a) require the parties to whom it is directed to appear personally before the court at the time fixed
 27 by the summons to answer the allegations of the petition;

28 (b) advise the parties of their right to counsel under the Montana Youth Court Act; and

29 (c) have attached to it a copy of the petition.

30 (3) The court may endorse upon the summons an order directing the person or persons having the

1 physical custody or control of the youth to bring the youth to the hearing.

2 (4) If it appears to the court that the youth needs to be placed in detention or shelter care, the
3 judge may endorse on the summons an order directing the officer serving the summons to at once take the
4 youth into custody and to take ~~him~~ the youth to the place of detention or shelter care designated by the
5 court, subject to the rights of the youth and parent or person having legal custody of the youth as set forth
6 in the provisions of the Montana Youth Court Act relating to detention and shelter care criteria and
7 postdetention proceedings.

8 (5) If ~~any~~ a youth is placed in detention or shelter care under any provision of this chapter pending
9 an adjudication, the court shall, as soon as practicable, conduct a probable cause hearing as provided in
10 ~~41-5-303~~ [section 12].

11 (6) The youth court judge may also admit the youth to bail in accordance with Title 46, chapter
12 9."

13

14 **Section 26.** Section 41-5-521, MCA, is amended to read:

15 "**41-5-521. Adjudicatory hearing.** (1) Prior to any adjudicatory hearing, the court shall determine
16 whether the youth admits or denies the offenses alleged in the petition. If the youth denies all offenses
17 alleged in the petition, the youth or the youth's parent, guardian, or attorney may demand a jury trial on
18 the contested offenses. In the absence of a demand, a jury trial is waived. If the youth denies some
19 offenses and admits others, the contested offenses may be dismissed in the discretion of the youth court
20 judge. The adjudicatory hearing must be set immediately and accorded a preferential priority.

21 (2) An adjudicatory hearing must be held to determine whether the contested offenses are
22 supported by proof beyond a reasonable doubt in cases involving a youth alleged to be delinquent or in
23 need of supervision. If the hearing is before a jury, the jury's function is to determine whether the youth
24 committed the contested offenses. If the hearing is before the youth court judge without a jury, the judge
25 shall make and record findings on all issues. If the allegations of the petitions are not established at the
26 hearing, the youth court shall dismiss the petition and discharge the youth from custody.

27 (3) An adjudicatory hearing must be recorded verbatim by whatever means the court considers
28 appropriate.

29 (4) The youth charged in a petition must be present at the hearing and, if brought from detention
30 to the hearing, may not appear clothed in institutional clothing.

1 (5) In a hearing on a petition under this section, the general public may not be excluded, except
2 that in the court's discretion, the general public may be excluded if the petition ~~does not allege~~ alleges that
3 the youth is ~~delinquent in need of supervision~~.

4 (6) If, on the basis of a valid admission by a youth of the allegations of the petition or after the
5 hearing required by this section, a youth is found to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of
6 supervision, the court shall schedule a dispositional hearing under this chapter.

7 (7) When a jury trial is required in a case, it may be held before a jury selected as provided in Title
8 25, chapter 7, part 2, and in Rule 47, M.R.Civ.P."

9

10 **Section 27.** Section 41-5-522, MCA, is amended to read:

11 **"41-5-522. Dispositional hearing.** (1) As soon as practicable after a youth is found to be a
12 delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision, the court shall conduct a dispositional hearing. The
13 dispositional hearing may involve a determination of the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians
14 to pay a contribution for the cost of care, commitment, and treatment of the youth as required in ~~41-5-523~~
15 [section 35].

16 (2) Before conducting the dispositional hearing, the court shall direct that a social summary or
17 predisposition report be made in writing by a probation officer concerning the youth, the youth's family,
18 the youth's environment, and other matters relevant to the need for care or rehabilitation or disposition of
19 the case. The youth court may have the youth examined, and the results of the examination must be made
20 available to the court as part of the social summary or predisposition report. The court may order the
21 examination of a parent or guardian whose ability to care for or supervise a youth is at issue before the
22 court. The results of the examination must be included in the social summary or predisposition report. The
23 youth or the youth's parents, guardian, or counsel has the right to subpoena all persons who have prepared
24 any portion of the social summary or predisposition report and has the right to cross-examine the parties
25 at the dispositional hearing.

26 (3) Defense counsel must be furnished with a copy of the social summary or predisposition report
27 and psychological report prior to the dispositional hearing.

28 (4) The dispositional hearing must be conducted in the manner set forth in subsections (3), (4), and
29 (5) of 41-5-521. The court shall hear all evidence relevant to a proper disposition of the case best serving
30 the interests of the youth and the public. The evidence must include but is not limited to the social

1 summary and predisposition report provided for in subsection (2) of this section.

2 (5) If the court finds that it is in the best interest of the youth, the youth or the youth's parents
3 or guardian may be temporarily excluded from the hearing during the taking of evidence on the issues of
4 need for treatment and rehabilitation.

5 ~~(6) In determining whether restitution, as authorized by 41-5-523, is appropriate in a particular
6 case, the following factors may be considered in addition to any other evidence:~~

7 ~~(a) age of the youth;~~

8 ~~(b) ability of the youth to pay;~~

9 ~~(c) ability of the parents, legal guardian, or those that contributed to the youth's delinquency or
10 need for supervision to pay;~~

11 ~~(d) amount of damage to the victim; and~~

12 ~~(e) legal remedies of the victim. However, the ability of the victim or the victim's insurer to stand
13 any loss may not be considered in any case."~~

14
15 **Section 28.** Section 41-5-523, MCA, is amended to read:

16 **"41-5-523. Disposition of youth in need of supervision ~~— sentence to correctional facility —~~**
17 **~~commitment to department — placement and evaluation of youth -- restrictions.~~ (1) If a youth is found to
18 be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision, the youth court may enter its judgment making
19 one or more of the following dispositions:**

20 ~~(a) retain jurisdiction in a disposition provided under subsection (1)(b) or (1)(d);~~

21 ~~(b)(1) place the youth on probation; The youth court retains jurisdiction in a disposition under this~~
22 ~~subsection.~~

23 ~~(c) subject to subsections (1)(n)(i), (2)(a), (2)(b), and (6), sentence a youth to one of the state
24 youth correctional facilities established under 52-5-101 and, as part of the sentence, deny the youth
25 eligibility for release without the express approval of the sentencing judge until the youth reaches 18 years
26 of age. A youth may not be sentenced to a state youth correctional facility unless the department informs
27 the judge that space is available for the youth at that facility. The sentencing judge may not place
28 limitations on the release unless recommended by the youth placement committee.~~

29 ~~(d) require a youth found to be delinquent to register as a sex offender pursuant to 46-18-254 and
30 46-23-506;~~

1 ~~(e)~~(2) place the youth in an in-state residence that ensures that the youth is accountable, provides
 2 for rehabilitation, and protects the public. Before placement, the sentencing judge shall seek and consider
 3 placement recommendations from the youth placement committee. The judge may not place the youth in
 4 an in-state residence unless the department informs the judge that resources are available for placement
 5 of the youth at that residence.

6 ~~(f)~~(3)(a) commit the youth to the department. In an order committing a youth to the department,
 7 ~~(f)~~ the court shall determine whether continuation in the youth's own home would be contrary to
 8 the welfare of the youth and whether reasonable efforts have been made to prevent or eliminate the need
 9 for removal of the youth from the youth's home;

10 (b) The department may not place a youth in need of supervision in a state youth correctional
 11 facility.

12 ~~(ii) in the case of a delinquent youth who is determined by the court to be a serious juvenile~~
 13 ~~offender, the judge may specify that the youth be placed in a state youth correctional facility if the judge~~
 14 ~~finds that the placement is necessary for the protection of the public. The court may order the department~~
 15 ~~to notify the court within 5 working days before the proposed release of a youth from a youth correctional~~
 16 ~~facility. Once a youth is committed to the department for placement in a state youth correctional facility,~~
 17 ~~the department is responsible for determining an appropriate date of release into an appropriate placement.~~

18 ~~(g)~~(4) order restitution by the youth or the youth's parents or guardians, subject to the provisions
 19 of [section 37];

20 ~~(h)~~(5) impose a fine as authorized by law if the violation alleged would constitute a criminal offense
 21 if committed by an adult;

22 ~~(i)~~(6) require the performance of community service;

23 ~~(j)~~(7) require the youth, the youth's parents or guardians, or the persons having legal custody of
 24 the youth to receive counseling services;

25 ~~(k)~~(8) require the medical and psychological evaluation of the youth, the youth's parents or
 26 guardians, or the persons having legal custody of the youth;

27 ~~(l)~~(9) require the parents, guardians, or other persons having legal custody of the youth to furnish
 28 services the court may designate;

29 ~~(m)~~(10) subject to the provisions of subsection (11), order further care, treatment, evaluation, or
 30 relief that the court considers beneficial to the youth and the community and that does not obligate funding

1 from the department for services outside the state of Montana without the department's approval, ~~except~~
2 ~~that a youth may not be placed by a youth court in a residential treatment facility as defined in 50-5-101.~~
3 ~~Only the department may, pursuant to subsection (1)(f), place a youth in a residential treatment facility;~~

4 ~~(A)(11) subject to the provisions of [section 31], commit the youth to a mental health facility if,~~
5 ~~based upon the testimony of a professional person as defined in 53-21-102, the court finds that the youth~~
6 ~~is seriously mentally ill as defined in 53-21-102. The youth is entitled to all rights provided by 53-21-114~~
7 ~~through 53-21-119.~~

8 ~~(i) A youth adjudicated mentally ill or seriously mentally ill as defined in 53-21-102 may not be~~
9 ~~committed or sentenced to a state youth correctional facility.~~

10 ~~(ii) A youth adjudicated to be mentally ill or seriously mentally ill after placement in or sentencing~~
11 ~~to a state youth correctional facility must be moved to a more appropriate placement in response to the~~
12 ~~youth's mental health needs and consistent with the disposition alternatives available in 53-21-127.~~

13 ~~(A)(12) place the youth under home arrest as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10.~~

14 ~~(2) When a youth is committed to the department, the department shall determine the appropriate~~
15 ~~placement and rehabilitation program for the youth after considering the recommendations made under~~
16 ~~41-5-527 by the youth placement committee. Placement is subject to the following limitations:~~

17 ~~(a) A youth in need of supervision or adjudicated delinquent for commission of an act that would~~
18 ~~not be a criminal offense if committed by an adult may not be placed in a state youth correctional facility.~~

19 ~~(b) A youth may not be held in a state youth correctional facility for a period of time in excess of~~
20 ~~the maximum period of imprisonment that could be imposed on an adult convicted of the offense or~~
21 ~~offenses that brought the youth under the jurisdiction of the youth court. This section does not limit the~~
22 ~~power of the department to enter into an aftercare agreement with the youth pursuant to 52-5-126.~~

23 ~~(c) A youth may not be placed in or transferred to a penal institution or other facility used for the~~
24 ~~execution of sentence of adults convicted of crimes.~~

25 ~~(3) A youth placed in a state youth correctional facility or other facility or program operated by the~~
26 ~~department or who signs an aftercare agreement under 52-5-126 must be supervised by the department.~~
27 ~~A youth who is placed in any other placement by the department, the youth court, or the youth court's~~
28 ~~juvenile probation officer must be supervised by the probation officer of the youth court having jurisdiction~~
29 ~~over the youth under 41-5-205 whether or not the youth is committed to the department. Supervision by~~
30 ~~the youth probation officer includes but is not limited to:~~

1 ~~(a) submitting information and documentation necessary for the person, committee, or team that~~
2 ~~is making the placement recommendation to determine an appropriate placement for the youth;~~

3 ~~(b) securing approval for payment of special education costs from the youth's school district of~~
4 ~~residence or the office of public instruction, as required in Title 20, chapter 7, part 4;~~

5 ~~(c) submitting an application to a facility in which the youth may be placed; and~~

6 ~~(d) case management of the youth.~~

7 ~~(4) The youth court may order a youth to receive a medical or psychological evaluation at any time~~
8 ~~prior to final disposition if the youth waives the youth's constitutional rights in the manner provided for in~~
9 ~~41-5-303. The county determined by the court as the residence of the youth is responsible for the cost of~~
10 ~~the evaluation, except as provided in subsection (5). A county may contract with the department or other~~
11 ~~public or private agencies to obtain evaluation services ordered by the court.~~

12 ~~(5) The youth court shall determine the financial ability of the youth's parents to pay the cost of~~
13 ~~an evaluation ordered by the court under subsection (4). If they are financially able, the court shall order~~
14 ~~the youth's parents to pay all or part of the cost of the evaluation.~~

15 ~~(6) The youth court may not order placement or evaluation of a youth at a state youth correctional~~
16 ~~facility unless the youth is found to be a delinquent youth or is alleged to have committed an offense that~~
17 ~~is transferable to criminal court under 41-5-206.~~

18 ~~(7) An evaluation of a youth may not be performed at the Montana state hospital unless the youth~~
19 ~~is transferred to the district court under 41-5-206, 41-5-208, or 41-5-1105.~~

20 ~~(8) An order of the court may be modified at any time. In the case of a youth committed to the~~
21 ~~department, an order pertaining to the youth may be modified only upon notice to the department and~~
22 ~~subsequent hearing.~~

23 ~~(9) Whenever the court commits a youth to the department, it shall transmit with the dispositional~~
24 ~~judgment copies of medical reports, social history material, education records, and any other clinical,~~
25 ~~predisposition, or other reports and information pertinent to the care and treatment of the youth.~~

26 ~~(10) If a youth is committed to the department, the court shall examine the financial ability of the~~
27 ~~youth's parents or guardians to pay a contribution covering all or part of the costs for the care,~~
28 ~~commitment, and treatment of the youth, including the costs of necessary medical, dental, and other health~~
29 ~~care.~~

30 ~~(11) If the court determines that the youth's parents or guardians are financially able to pay a~~

1 ~~contribution as provided in subsection (10), the court shall order the youth's parents or guardians to pay~~
2 ~~an amount based on the uniform child support guidelines adopted by the department of public health and~~
3 ~~human services pursuant to 40-5-209.~~

4 ~~(12) (a) Except as provided in subsection (12)(b), contributions ordered under this section and each~~
5 ~~modification of an existing order are enforceable by immediate or delinquency income withholding, or both,~~
6 ~~under Title 40, chapter 5, part 4. An order for contribution that is inconsistent with this section is~~
7 ~~nevertheless subject to withholding for the payment of the contribution without need for an amendment~~
8 ~~of the support order or for any further action by the court.~~

9 ~~(b) A court-ordered exception from contributions under this section must be in writing and be~~
10 ~~included in the order. An exception from the immediate income withholding requirement may be granted~~
11 ~~if the court finds there is:~~

12 ~~(i) good cause not to require immediate income withholding; or~~

13 ~~(ii) an alternative arrangement between the department and the person who is ordered to pay~~
14 ~~contributions.~~

15 ~~(c) A finding of good cause not to require immediate income withholding must, at a minimum, be~~
16 ~~based upon:~~

17 ~~(i) a written determination and explanation by the court of the reasons why the implementation of~~
18 ~~immediate income withholding is not in the best interests of the youth; and~~

19 ~~(ii) proof of timely payment of previously ordered support in cases involving modification of~~
20 ~~contributions ordered under this section.~~

21 ~~(d) An alternative arrangement must:~~

22 ~~(i) provide sufficient security to ensure compliance with the arrangement;~~

23 ~~(ii) be in writing and be signed by a representative of the department and the person required to~~
24 ~~make contributions; and~~

25 ~~(iii) if approved by the court, be entered into the record of the proceeding.~~

26 ~~(13) Upon a showing of a change in the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians to pay,~~
27 ~~the court may modify its order for the payment of contributions required under subsection (11).~~

28 ~~(14) (a) If the court orders the payment of contributions under this section, the department shall~~
29 ~~apply to the department of public health and human services for support enforcement services pursuant~~
30 ~~to Title IV-D of the Social Security Act.~~

1 ~~(b) The department of public health and human services may collect and enforce a contribution~~
2 ~~order under this section by any means available under law, including the remedies provided for in Title 40,~~
3 ~~chapter 5, parts 2 and 4."~~

4
5 **NEW SECTION. Section 29. Disposition of delinquent youth -- restrictions.** (1) If a youth is found
6 to be a delinquent youth, the youth court may enter its judgment making one or more of the following
7 dispositions:

8 (a) any one or more of the dispositions provided in 41-5-523;

9 (b) subject to 41-5-523(3)(b), [sections 30(1), 31(2)], and subsection (2) of this section, sentence
10 a youth to one of the state youth correctional facilities established under 52-5-101 and, as part of the
11 sentence, deny the youth eligibility for release without the express approval of the sentencing judge until
12 the youth reaches 18 years of age. A youth may not be sentenced to a state youth correctional facility
13 unless the department informs the judge that space is available for the youth at that facility. The sentencing
14 judge may not place limitations on the release unless recommended by the youth placement committee.

15 (c) require a youth found to be delinquent, as the result of the commission of an offense that would
16 be a violation of 45-5-501 through 45-5-504, 45-5-507, or 45-5-511 if committed by an adult, to register
17 as a sex offender pursuant to 46-18-254 and 46-23-506. The youth court retains jurisdiction in a
18 disposition under this subsection.

19 (d) in the case of a delinquent youth who is determined by the court to be a serious juvenile
20 offender, the judge may specify that the youth be placed in a state youth correctional facility if the judge
21 finds that the placement is necessary for the protection of the public. The court may order the department
22 to notify the court within 5 working days before the proposed release of a youth from a youth correctional
23 facility. Once a youth is committed to the department for placement in a state youth correctional facility,
24 the department is responsible for determining an appropriate date of release into an appropriate placement.

25 (2) The youth court may not order placement of a youth at a state youth correctional facility unless
26 the youth is found to be a delinquent youth or is alleged to have committed an offense that is transferable
27 to criminal court under 41-5-206.

28
29 **NEW SECTION. Section 30. Disposition -- commitment to department -- restrictions on placement.**
30 When a youth is committed to the department, the department shall determine the appropriate placement

1 and rehabilitation program for the youth after considering the recommendations made under 41-5-527 by
2 the youth placement committee. Placement is subject to the limitations contained in 41-5-523(3)(b) and
3 the following limitations:

4 (1) A youth may not be held in a state youth correctional facility for a period of time in excess of
5 the maximum period of imprisonment that could be imposed on an adult convicted of the offense or
6 offenses that brought the youth under the jurisdiction of the youth court. This section does not limit the
7 power of the department to enter into an aftercare agreement with the youth pursuant to 52-5-126.

8 (2) A youth may not be placed in or transferred to a penal institution or other facility used for the
9 execution of sentence of adults convicted of crimes.

10 (3) The department may not place a youth adjudicated delinquent for commission of an act that
11 would not be a criminal offense if committed by an adult in a state youth correctional facility.

12

13 **NEW SECTION. Section 31. Disposition -- finding of mentally ill or seriously mentally ill -- rights**
14 **-- limitation on placement.** (1) A youth who is found to be seriously mentally ill as defined in 53-21-102
15 is entitled to all rights provided by 53-21-114 through 53-21-119.

16 (2) A youth who, prior to placement or sentencing, is found to be mentally ill, as defined in
17 41-5-103, or seriously mentally ill, as defined in 53-21-102, may not be committed or sentenced to a state
18 youth correctional facility.

19 (3) A youth who is found to be mentally ill or seriously mentally ill after placement in or sentencing
20 to a state youth correctional facility must be moved to a more appropriate placement in response to the
21 youth's mental health needs and consistent with the disposition alternatives available in 53-21-127.

22

23 **NEW SECTION. Section 32. Disposition -- commitment to department -- supervision.** (1) A youth
24 placed in a state youth correctional facility or other facility or program operated by the department or who
25 signs an aftercare agreement under 52-5-126 must be supervised by the department.

26 (2) A youth who is placed in any other placement by the department, the youth court, or the youth
27 court's juvenile probation officer must be supervised by the probation officer of the youth court having
28 jurisdiction over the youth under 41-5-205 whether or not the youth is committed to the department.
29 Supervision by the youth probation officer includes but is not limited to:

30 (a) submitting information and documentation necessary for the person, committee, or team that

1 is making the placement recommendation to determine an appropriate placement for the youth;

2 (b) securing approval for payment of special education costs from the youth's school district of
3 residence or the office of public instruction, as required in Title 20, chapter 7, part 4;

4 (c) submitting an application to a facility in which the youth may be placed; and

5 (d) case management of the youth.

6

7 **NEW SECTION. Section 33. Disposition -- commitment to department -- transfer of records.**

8 Whenever the court commits a youth to the department, it shall transmit with the dispositional judgment
9 copies of medical reports, social history material, education records, and any other clinical, predisposition,
10 or other reports and information pertinent to the care and treatment of the youth.

11

12 **NEW SECTION. Section 34. Modification of court orders -- notice to department -- hearing.** (1)

13 An order of the court may be modified at any time.

14 (2) In the case of a youth committed to the department, an order pertaining to the youth may be
15 modified only upon notice to the department and subsequent hearing.

16

17 **NEW SECTION. Section 35. Contribution for costs -- order for contribution -- exceptions --**

18 **collection.** (1) If a youth is committed to the department, the court shall examine the financial ability of
19 the youth's parents or guardians to pay a contribution covering all or part of the costs for the care,
20 commitment, and treatment of the youth, including the costs of necessary medical, dental, and other health
21 care.

22 (2) If the court determines that the youth's parents or guardians are financially able to pay a
23 contribution as provided in subsection (1), the court shall order the youth's parents or guardians to pay an
24 amount based on the uniform child support guidelines adopted by the department of public health and
25 human services pursuant to 40-5-209.

26 (3) (a) Except as provided in subsection (3)(b), contributions ordered under 41-5-403 and this
27 section and each modification of an existing order are enforceable by immediate or delinquency income
28 withholding, or both, under Title 40, chapter 5, part 4. An order for contribution that is inconsistent with
29 this section is nevertheless subject to withholding for the payment of the contribution without need for an
30 amendment of the support order or for any further action by the court.

1 (b) A court-ordered exception from contributions under 41-5-403 or this section must be in writing
2 and must be included in the order. An exception from the immediate income withholding requirement may
3 be granted if the court finds that there is:

4 (i) good cause not to require immediate income withholding; or

5 (ii) an alternative arrangement between the department and the person who is ordered to pay
6 contributions.

7 (c) A finding of good cause not to require immediate income withholding must, at a minimum, be
8 based upon:

9 (i) a written determination and explanation by the court of the reasons why the implementation of
10 immediate income withholding is not in the best interests of the youth; and

11 (ii) proof of timely payment of previously ordered support in cases involving modification of
12 contributions ordered under this section.

13 (d) An alternative arrangement must:

14 (i) provide sufficient security to ensure compliance with the arrangement;

15 (ii) be in writing and be signed by a representative of the department and the person required to
16 make contributions; and

17 (iii) if approved by the court, be entered into the record of the proceeding.

18 (4) Upon a showing of a change in the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians to pay,
19 the court may modify its order for the payment of contributions required under 41-5-403 or subsection (2).

20 (5) (a) If the court orders the payment of contributions under 41-5-403 or this section, the
21 department shall apply to the department of public health and human services for support enforcement
22 services pursuant to Title IV-D of the Social Security Act.

23 (b) The department of public health and human services may collect and enforce a contribution
24 order under 41-5-403 or this section by any means available under law, including the remedies provided
25 for in Title 40, chapter 5, parts 2 and 4.

26

27 **NEW SECTION. Section 36. Disposition -- medical or psychological evaluation of youth -- costs.**

28 (1) The youth court may order a youth to receive a medical or psychological evaluation at any time prior
29 to final disposition if the youth waives the youth's constitutional rights in the manner provided for in
30 41-5-303. Except as provided in subsection (2), the county determined by the court as the residence of

1 the youth is responsible for the cost of the evaluation. A county may contract with the department or other
2 public or private agencies to obtain evaluation services ordered by the court.

3 (2) The youth court shall determine the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians to pay
4 the cost of an evaluation ordered by the court under subsection (1). If they are financially able, the court
5 shall order the youth's parents or guardians to pay all or part of the cost of the evaluation.

6 (3) The youth court may not order evaluation of a youth at a state youth correctional facility unless
7 the youth is found to be a delinquent youth or is alleged to have committed an offense that is transferable
8 to district court under 41-5-206.

9 (4) An evaluation of a youth may not be performed at the Montana state hospital unless the youth
10 is transferred to the district court under 41-5-206, 41-5-208, or 41-5-1105.

11

12 **NEW SECTION. Section 37. Restitution.** (1) In determining whether restitution, as authorized by
13 41-5-403 and 41-5-523, is appropriate in a particular case, the following factors may be considered in
14 addition to any other evidence:

15 (a) age of the youth;

16 (b) ability of the youth to pay;

17 (c) ability of the parents, legal guardian, or those that contributed to the youth's delinquency or
18 need for supervision to pay;

19 (d) amount of damage to the victim; and

20 (e) legal remedies of the victim. However, the ability of the victim or the victim's insurer to stand
21 any loss may not be considered in any case.

22 (2) Restitution paid by a youth or a youth's parents or guardians is subject to subrogation as
23 provided in 46-18-248.

24

25 **Section 38.** Section 41-5-525, MCA, is amended to read:

26 **"41-5-525. Youth placement committees -- composition.** (1) In each judicial district, the
27 department shall establish a youth placement committee for the purposes of:

28 (a) recommending an appropriate placement of a youth referred to the department under 41-5-403;

29 or

30 (b) recommending available community services or alternative placements whenever a change is

1 required in the placement of a youth who is currently in the custody of the department under 41-5-523 or
2 [section 29]. However, the committee may not substitute its judgment for that of the superintendent of a
3 state youth correctional facility regarding the discharge of a youth from the facility.

4 (2) The committee consists of not less than five members and must include persons who are
5 knowledgeable about the youth, treatment and placement options, and other resources appropriate to
6 address the needs of the youth. Members may include:

7 (a) two representatives of the department;

8 (b) a representative of the department of public health and human services;

9 (c) either the chief probation officer or the youth's probation officer;

10 (d) a mental health professional;

11 (e) a representative of a school district located within the boundaries of the judicial district;

12 (f) if an Indian child or children are involved, someone, preferably an Indian person, knowledgeable
13 about Indian culture and family matters;

14 (g) a parent or guardian; and

15 (h) a youth services provider.

16 (3) Committee members serve without compensation.

17 (4) Notwithstanding the provisions of 41-5-527, the committee may be convened by the
18 department or the probation officer of the youth court."
19

20 **Section 39.** Section 41-5-527, MCA, is amended to read:

21 **"41-5-527. Youth placement committee to submit recommendation to department -- acceptance**
22 **or rejection of recommendation by department.** (1) Prior to commitment of a youth to the department
23 pursuant to 41-5-523 or [section 29], a youth placement committee must be convened. The committee
24 shall submit in writing to the department and to the youth court judge its primary and alternative
25 recommendations for placement of the youth.

26 (2) If the department accepts either of the committee's recommendations, it shall promptly notify
27 the committee in writing.

28 (3) If the department rejects both of the committee's recommendations, it shall promptly notify the
29 committee in writing of the reasons for rejecting the recommendations and shall make an appropriate
30 placement for the youth.

1 (4) Within 72 hours after making a decision on a placement or change of placement, the
2 department shall notify the youth court of the decision and of the placement or change of placement."

3
4 **Section 40.** Section 41-5-530, MCA, is amended to read:

5 **"41-5-530. Parental contributions account -- allocation of proceeds.** (1) There is a parental
6 contributions account in the state special revenue fund.

7 (2) Contributions paid by the parents and guardians of youth under 41-3-406, 41-5-403, ~~41-5-523~~
8 [section 35], or 41-5-524 must be deposited in the account.

9 (3) All money in the account, except any amount required to be returned to federal or county
10 sources, is allocated to the department of public health and human services to carry out its duties under
11 52-1-103."

12
13 **Section 41.** Section 41-5-1004, MCA, is amended to read:

14 **"41-5-1004. Distribution of grants -- limitation of funding -- restrictions on use.** (1) The board shall
15 award grants on an equitable basis, giving preference to services that will be used on a regional basis.

16 (2) The board shall award grants to eligible counties:

17 (a) in a block grant in an amount not to exceed 50% of the approved, estimated cost of secure
18 detention; or

19 (b) on a matching basis in an amount not to exceed:

20 (i) 75% of the approved cost of providing holdovers, attendant care, and other alternatives to
21 secure detention, except for shelter care. Shelter care must be paid as provided by law.

22 (ii) 50% of the approved cost of programs for the transportation of youth to appropriate detention
23 or shelter care facilities, including regional detention facilities.

24 (3) Based on funding available after the board has funded block grants under subsection (2), the
25 board shall, in cases of extreme hardship in which the transfer of youth court cases to the adult system
26 has placed considerable financial strain on a county's resources, award grants to eligible counties to fund
27 up to 75% of the actual costs of secure detention of youth awaiting transfer. Hardship cases will be
28 addressed at the end of the fiscal year and will be awarded by the board based upon a consideration of the
29 applicant county's past 3 years' expenditures for youth detention and upon consideration of the particular
30 case or cases that created the hardship expenditure for which the hardship grant is requested.

1 (4) Grants under 41-5-1002 may not be used to pay for the cost of youth evaluations. The cost
2 of evaluations must be paid as provided for in ~~41-5-523~~ [section 36]."

3
4 **Section 42.** Section 41-5-1104, MCA, is amended to read:

5 **"41-5-1104. Disposition in extended jurisdiction prosecutions.** (1) If a youth in an extended
6 jurisdiction prosecution pleads guilty to or is found guilty of an offense described in 41-5-1102(1)(b), the
7 court shall:

8 (a) impose one or more juvenile dispositions under ~~41-5-523~~ [section 29]; and

9 (b) impose an adult criminal sentence, the execution of which must be stayed on the condition that
10 the youth not violate the provisions of the disposition order and not commit a new offense. If the youth
11 violates the conditions of the stay or commits a new offense, the adult criminal sentence must be executed
12 as provided in 41-5-1105.

13 (2) Except as provided in subsection (3), if a youth in an extended jurisdiction prosecution is
14 convicted of an offense not described in 41-5-1102(1)(b), the court shall adjudicate the youth delinquent
15 and order a disposition under ~~41-5-523~~ [section 29].

16 (3) If a youth in an extended jurisdiction prosecution pleads guilty to an offense not described in
17 41-5-1102(1)(b), the court may impose, with the youth's consent, a disposition provided under subsection
18 (1)(b) of this section. If the youth does not consent to disposition under subsection (1)(b), the court shall
19 impose a disposition as provided under subsection (2)."

20
21 **Section 43.** Section 46-24-207, MCA, is amended to read:

22 **"46-24-207. Victims and witnesses of juvenile felony offenses -- consultation -- notification of**
23 **proceedings.** (1) The attorney general shall ensure that the services and assistance that must be provided
24 under this chapter to a victim or witness of a crime are also provided to the victim or witness of a juvenile
25 felony offense.

26 (2) In a proceeding filed under Title 41, chapter 5, part ~~514 or 15~~, the county attorney or a
27 designee shall consult with the victim of a juvenile felony offense or, in the case of a minor victim or a
28 homicide victim, with the victim's family regarding the disposition of the case, including:

29 (a) a dismissal of the petition filed under 41-5-501;

30 (b) a reduction of the charge to misdemeanor;

- 1 (c) the release of the youth from detention or shelter care pending the adjudicatory hearing; and
2 (d) the disposition of the youth.

3 (3) (a) Whenever possible, a person described in subsection (3)(b) who provides the youth court
4 with a current address and telephone number must receive prompt advance notification of youth court case
5 proceedings, including:

- 6 (i) the filing of a petition under 41-5-501;
7 (ii) the release of the youth from detention or shelter care; and
8 (iii) proceedings in the adjudication of the petition, including, when applicable, entry of a consent
9 decree under 41-5-524, the setting of a date for the adjudicatory hearing under 41-5-521, the setting of
10 a date for the dispositional hearing under 41-5-522, the disposition made, and the release of the youth from
11 a youth correctional facility.

12 (b) A person entitled to notification under this subsection (3) must be a victim of a juvenile felony
13 offense, an adult relative of the victim if the victim is a minor, or an adult relative of a homicide victim.

14 (c) The court shall provide to the department the list of people entitled to notification under this
15 subsection (3), and the department is responsible to provide the notification.

16 (4) For purposes of this section, "juvenile felony offense" means an offense committed by a
17 juvenile that, if committed by an adult, would constitute a felony offense. The term includes any offense
18 for which a juvenile may be declared a serious juvenile offender, as defined in 41-5-103.

19

20 **Section 44.** Section 52-5-129, MCA, is amended to read:

21 **"52-5-129. Hearing on alleged violation of aftercare agreement -- right to appeal outcome.** (1)

22 When it is alleged by an aftercare counselor that a youth has violated the terms of the youth's aftercare
23 agreement, the youth must be granted a hearing at the site of the alleged violation or in the county in which
24 the youth is residing or is found within 10 days after notice has been served on the youth or the youth is
25 detained, whichever is earlier. The purpose of the hearing is to determine whether the youth committed the
26 violation and, if so, whether the violation is of such a nature that the youth should be returned to the youth
27 correctional facility from which the youth was released or a different plan for treatment should be pursued
28 by the department of corrections.

29 (2) The youth, upon advice of an attorney, may waive the right to a hearing.

30 (3) With regard to this hearing, the youth must be given:

- 1 (a) written notice of the alleged violation of the aftercare agreement, including notice of the
2 purpose of the hearing;
- 3 (b) a disclosure of the evidence against the youth and the facts constituting the alleged violation;
- 4 (c) the opportunity to be heard in person and to present witnesses and documentary evidence to
5 controvert the evidence against the youth and to show that there are compelling reasons that justify or
6 mitigate the violation;
- 7 (d) the opportunity to have the ~~referee~~ hearings officer subpoena witnesses;
- 8 (e) the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses;
- 9 (f) the right to be represented by an attorney;
- 10 (g) a record of the hearing; and
- 11 (h) notice that a written statement as to the evidence relied upon in reaching the final decision and
12 the reasons for the final decision will be provided by the ~~referee~~ hearings officer.
- 13 (4) The department shall appoint a ~~referee~~ hearings officer, who may not be an employee of the
14 department, to conduct the hearing. In the conduct of the hearing, the department may request the county
15 attorney's assistance as necessary. The department shall adopt rules necessary to effect a prompt and full
16 review.
- 17 (5) If the ~~referee~~ hearings officer finds, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the youth did in
18 fact commit the violation, the ~~referee~~ hearings officer shall make a recommendation to the department for
19 the placement of the youth. In making this recommendation, the ~~referee~~ hearings officer may consider
20 mitigating circumstances. Final approval rests with the department and must be made within 10 days of
21 the ~~referee's~~ hearings officer's recommendation.
- 22 (6) The youth may appeal from the decision at the hearing to the district court of the county in
23 which the hearing was held by serving and filing a notice of appeal with the court within 10 days of the
24 department's decision. The youth may obtain a written transcript of the hearing from the department by
25 giving written notice of appeal. The district court, upon receipt of a notice of appeal, shall order the
26 department to promptly certify to the court a record of all proceedings before the department and shall
27 proceed to a prompt hearing on the appeal based upon the record on appeal. The decision of the
28 department may not be altered except for abuse of discretion or manifest injustice.
- 29 (7) Pending the hearing on a violation and pending the department's decision, a youth may not be
30 detained except when the youth's detention or care is required to protect the person or property of the

1 youth or of others or the youth may abscond or be removed from the community. The department shall
2 determine the place and manner of detention and is responsible for the cost of the detention. Procedures
3 for taking into custody and detention of a youth charged with violation of the youth's aftercare agreement
4 are as provided in 41-5-303, 41-5-306, 41-5-311, ~~and 41-5-314~~, [sections 12 through 14], and [sections
5 18 through 21].

6 (8) If the decision is made to return the youth to the youth correctional facility from which the
7 youth was released and the youth appeals that decision, the youth shall await the outcome of the appeal
8 at the facility."

9

10 **Section 45.** Section 53-9-107, MCA, is amended to read:

11 **"53-9-107. Public inspection and disclosure of division's records.** (1) Except as provided in
12 subsections (2) and (3), the records the division maintains in its possession in the administration of this part
13 are open to public inspection and disclosure.

14 (2) Confidential criminal justice information obtained by the division is subject to the confidentiality
15 provisions of the Montana Criminal Justice Information Act of 1979, Title 44, chapter 5. ~~Information~~
16 ~~regarding youth court proceedings obtained by the division is subject to the confidentiality provisions of~~
17 ~~Title 41, chapter 5, part 6.~~

18 (3) In assuring that the right of individual privacy so essential to the well-being of a free society
19 may not be infringed without the showing of a compelling state interest, the following public records of the
20 division are exempt from disclosure:

21 (a) information of a personal nature, such as personal, medical, or similar information, if the public
22 disclosure thereof would constitute an unreasonable invasion of privacy, unless the public interest by clear
23 and convincing evidence requires disclosure in the particular instance. The party seeking disclosure ~~shall~~
24 ~~have~~ has the burden of showing that public disclosure would not constitute an unreasonable invasion of
25 privacy.

26 (b) any public records or information, the disclosure of which is prohibited by federal law or
27 regulations.

28 (4) If any public record of the division contains material ~~which~~ that is not exempt under subsection
29 (3), as well as material ~~which~~ that is exempt from disclosure, the division shall separate the exempt and
30 nonexempt and make the nonexempt material available for examination."

1 **NEW SECTION. Section 46. Repealer.** Sections 41-5-310 and 41-5-312, MCA, are repealed.

2
3 **NEW SECTION. Section 47. Code commissioner instructions.** (1)(a) The code commissioner is
4 instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter 5, part 1: 41-5-207, 41-5-525,
5 41-5-526, 41-5-527, 41-5-528, 41-5-529, 41-5-530.

6 (b) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
7 5, part 2: 41-5-603, 41-5-604, 41-5-605.

8 (c) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber sections in Title 41, chapter 5, part 3, to
9 achieve a logical sequence.

10 (d) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
11 5, part 12: 41-5-301, 41-5-304.

12 (e) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
13 5, part 13: 41-5-401, 41-5-402, 41-5-403.

14 (f) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
15 5, part 14: 41-5-202, 41-5-501, 41-5-502, 41-5-503, 41-5-511, 41-5-512, 41-5-513, 41-5-514,
16 41-5-515, 41-5-524, 41-5-531, 41-5-532.

17 (g) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
18 5, part 15: 41-5-521, 41-5-522, 41-5-523, 41-5-533.

19 (h) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
20 5, part 16: 41-5-1101, 41-5-1102, 41-5-1103, 41-5-1104, 41-5-1105.

21 (i) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
22 5, part 17: 41-5-701, 41-5-702, 41-5-703, 41-5-704, 41-5-705, 41-5-706.

23 (j) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
24 5, part 18: 41-5-802, 41-5-809, 41-5-810, 41-5-811, 41-5-812, 41-5-813, 41-5-814.

25 (k) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
26 5, part 19: 41-5-1001, 41-5-1002, 41-5-1003, 41-5-1004, 41-5-1005, 41-5-1006, 41-5-1007,
27 41-5-1008.

28 (2) The code commissioner is instructed to implement 1-11-101(2)(g)(ii) by correcting any clearly
29 inaccurate references to or in sections of the Montana Code Annotated caused by the renumbering required
30 by this section, including material enacted by the 55th legislature.

1 **NEW SECTION. Section 48. Codification instruction.** (1) [Sections 12 through 14, 16, and 18
2 through 21] are intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5, part 3, and the provisions
3 of Title 41, chapter 5, part 3, apply to [sections 12 through 14, 16, and 18 through 21].

4 (2) [Sections 6 through 8] are intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5, part
5 12, and the provisions of Title 41, chapter 5, part 12, apply to [sections 6 through 8].

6 (3) [Section 9] is intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5, part 13, and the
7 provisions of Title 41, chapter 5, part 13, apply to [section 9].

8 (4) [Section 10] is intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5, part 14, and
9 the provisions of Title 41, chapter 5, part 14, apply to [section 10].

10 (5) [Sections 29 through 37] are intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5,
11 part 15, and the provisions of Title 41, chapter 5, part 15, apply to [sections 29 through 37].

12
13 **NEW SECTION. Section 49. Coordination instruction.** (1) If ___ Bill No. ___ [LC 224] is passed
14 and approved and if it includes a section that amends 41-5-523(3)(b), then the code commissioner is
15 instructed to compile the two provisions to retain the structure of [this act] and the substantive changes
16 of ___ Bill No. ___ [LC 224].

17 (2) If ___ Bill No. ___ [LC 222] is passed and approved and if it includes a section that amends
18 41-5-523(2)(b), then the code commissioner is instructed to compile the two provisions to retain the
19 structure of [this act] and the substantive changes of ___ Bill No. ___ [LC 222].

20 (3) IF SENATE BILL NO. 48 AND THIS BILL ARE BOTH PASSED AND APPROVED:

21 (A) ANY REFERENCE IN THIS BILL TO [SECTION 29] IS VOID, AND THE REFERENCE MUST BE
22 CHANGED TO REFLECT [SECTION 34] IN SENATE BILL NO. 48 IN THE SECOND READING COPY OF THE
23 SECOND HOUSE;

24 (B) ANY REFERENCE TO [SECTION 35] IN THIS BILL IS VOID, AND THE REFERENCE MUST BE
25 CHANGED TO REFLECT [SECTION 41] IN SENATE BILL NO. 48 IN THE SECOND READING COPY OF THE
26 SECOND HOUSE;

27 (C) ANY REFERENCE TO [SECTION 36] IN THIS BILL IS VOID, AND THE REFERENCE MUST BE
28 CHANGED TO REFLECT [SECTION 39] IN SENATE BILL NO. 48 IN THE SECOND READING COPY OF THE
29 SECOND HOUSE;

30 (D) SECTIONS AMENDING 41-5-301, 41-5-303, 41-5-305, 41-5-306, AND 41-5-530, IN SENATE

1 BILL NO. 48, SECOND READING COPY OF THE SECOND HOUSE ARE VOID:

2 (E) SECTIONS AMENDING 41-5-403, 41-5-523, 41-5-1004, AND 41-5-1104 AND [SECTIONS 29,
3 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, AND 48(5)] IN THIS BILL, FIRST READING COPY, ARE VOID;

4 (F) THE FOLLOWING SECTIONS IN THIS BILL MUST READ AS FOLLOWS:

5 "Section 5. Section 41-5-301, MCA, is amended to read:

6 "**41-5-301. Preliminary investigation and disposition inquiry -- referral of youth in need of care.** (1)

7 Whenever the court receives information from ~~any~~ an agency or person, based upon reasonable grounds,
8 that a youth is or appears to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of ~~supervision~~ intervention or, ~~being~~
9 that the youth is subject to a court order or consent order, and has violated the terms of an order, a
10 probation officer or an assessment officer shall make a preliminary inquiry into the matter.

11 ~~(2) The probation officer may:~~

12 ~~(a) require the presence of any person relevant to the inquiry;~~

13 ~~(b) request subpoenas from the judge to accomplish this purpose;~~

14 ~~(c) require investigation of the matter by any law enforcement agency or any other appropriate~~
15 ~~state or local agency.~~

16 ~~(3)(2)~~ If the probation officer or assessment officer determines that the facts indicate that the youth
17 is a youth in need of care, the matter must be immediately referred to the department of public health and
18 human services.

19 ~~(4) (a) The probation officer in the conduct of the preliminary inquiry shall:~~

20 ~~(i) advise the youth of the youth's rights under this chapter and the constitutions of the state of~~
21 ~~Montana and the United States;~~

22 ~~(ii) determine whether the matter is within the jurisdiction of the court;~~

23 ~~(iii) determine, if the youth is in detention or shelter care, whether detention or shelter care should~~
24 ~~be continued based upon criteria set forth in 41-5-305.~~

25 ~~(b) Once relevant information is secured, the probation officer shall:~~

26 ~~(i) determine whether the interest of the public or the youth requires that further action be taken;~~

27 ~~(ii) terminate the inquiry upon the determination that no further action be taken; and~~

28 ~~(iii) release the youth immediately upon the determination that the filing of a petition is not~~
29 ~~authorized.~~

30 ~~(5) The probation officer upon determining that further action is required may:~~

1 ~~(a) provide counseling, refer the youth and the youth's parents to another agency providing~~
2 ~~appropriate services, or take any other action or make any informal adjustment that does not involve~~
3 ~~probation or detention;~~

4 ~~(b) provide for treatment or adjustment involving probation or other disposition authorized under~~
5 ~~41-5-401 through 41-5-403 if the treatment or adjustment is voluntarily accepted by the youth's parents~~
6 ~~or guardian and the youth, if the matter is referred immediately to the county attorney for review, and if~~
7 ~~the probation officer proceeds no further unless authorized by the county attorney; or~~

8 ~~(c) refer the matter to the county attorney for filing a petition charging the youth to be a delinquent~~
9 ~~youth or a youth in need of supervision.~~

10 ~~(6) The county attorney may apply to the youth court for permission to file a petition charging a~~
11 ~~youth to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision. The application must be supported by~~
12 ~~evidence that the youth court may require. If it appears that there is probable cause to believe that the~~
13 ~~allegations of the petition are true, the youth court shall grant leave to file the petition.~~

14 ~~(7) A petition charging a youth held in detention must be filed within 7 working days from the date~~
15 ~~the youth was first taken into custody or the petition must be dismissed and the youth released unless good~~
16 ~~cause is shown to further detain the youth.~~

17 ~~(8) If a petition is not filed under this section, the complainant and victim, if any, must be informed~~
18 ~~by the probation officer of the action and the reasons for not filing and must be advised of the right to~~
19 ~~submit the matter to the county attorney for review. The county attorney, upon receiving a request for~~
20 ~~review, shall consider the facts, consult with the probation officer, and make the final decision as to~~
21 ~~whether a petition is filed."~~

22 **NEW SECTION. Section 6. Preliminary inquiry -- procedure -- youth assessment.** (1) In conducting
23 a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the probation officer or assessment officer shall:

24 (a) advise the youth of the youth's rights under this chapter and the constitutions of the state of
25 Montana and the United States;

26 (b) determine whether the matter is within the jurisdiction of the court;

27 (c) determine, if the youth is in detention, a youth assessment center, or shelter care, whether
28 detention, placement in a youth assessment center, or shelter care should be continued or modified based
29 upon criteria set forth in 41-5-305, [section 16], and [section 47].

30 (2) In conducting a preliminary inquiry, the probation officer or assessment officer may:

- 1 (a) require the presence of any person relevant to the inquiry;
- 2 (b) request subpoenas from the judge to accomplish this purpose;
- 3 (c) require investigation of the matter by any law enforcement agency or any other appropriate
- 4 state or local agency;
- 5 (d) perform a youth assessment pursuant to [section 46].
- 6 (3) The probation officer or assessment officer shall collect the following information regarding a
- 7 youth:
- 8 (a) biographical data;
- 9 (b) a description of prior and current offenses, including criminal history;
- 10 (c) a listing of known or suspected associates;
- 11 (d) any gang or drug involvement;
- 12 (e) field investigation data;
- 13 (f) motor vehicle ownership and offense data, if any;
- 14 (g) whether the youth is a suspect in other criminal investigations;
- 15 (h) history of any victimization of others by the youth;
- 16 (i) the youth's status offense history;
- 17 (j) existence of active warrants;
- 18 (k) school, employment, and family histories;
- 19 (l) social and medical services histories;
- 20 (m) prior conduct in a youth detention or correctional facility, if any.

21 **NEW SECTION. Section 7. Preliminary inquiry -- determinations -- release.** Once relevant

22 information is secured after a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the probation officer or assessment

23 officer shall:

- 24 (1) determine whether the interest of the public or the youth requires that further action be taken;
- 25 (2) terminate the inquiry upon the determination that no further action be taken; and
- 26 (3) release the youth immediately upon the determination that the filing of a petition is not
- 27 authorized.

28 **NEW SECTION. Section 8. Preliminary inquiry -- dispositions available to probation officer.** Upon

29 determining that further action is required after a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the probation officer

30 or assessment officer may:

1 (1) arrange informal disposition as provided in [section 9]; or

2 (2) refer the matter to the county attorney for filing a petition in youth court charging the youth
3 to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of intervention or for filing an information in the district court
4 as provided in 41-5-206.

5 **NEW SECTION. Section 9. Informal disposition.** After a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the
6 probation officer or assessment officer upon determining that further action is required and that referral to
7 the county attorney is not required may:

8 (1) provide counseling, refer the youth and the youth's family to another agency providing
9 appropriate services, or take any other action or make any informal adjustment that does not involve
10 probation or detention; or

11 (2) provide for treatment or adjustment involving probation or other disposition authorized under
12 41-5-401 through 41-5-403 if the treatment or adjustment is voluntarily accepted by the youth's parents
13 or guardian and the youth, if the matter is referred immediately to the county attorney for review, and if
14 the probation officer or assessment officer proceeds no further unless authorized by the county attorney.

15 **NEW SECTION. Section 10. Petition -- county attorney -- procedure -- release from custody.** (1)
16 The county attorney may apply to the youth court for permission to file a petition charging a youth to be
17 a delinquent youth or a youth in need of intervention. The application must be supported by evidence that
18 the youth court may require. If it appears that there is probable cause to believe that the allegations of the
19 petition are true, the youth court shall grant leave to file the petition.

20 (2) A petition charging a youth who is held in detention or a youth assessment center must be filed
21 within 7 working days from the date the youth was first taken into custody or the petition must be
22 dismissed and the youth released unless good cause is shown to further detain the youth.

23 (3) If a petition is not filed under this section, the complainant and victim, if any, must be informed
24 by the probation officer or assessment officer of the action and the reasons for not filing and must be
25 advised of the right to submit the matter to the county attorney for review. The county attorney, upon
26 receiving a request for review, shall consider the facts, consult with the probation officer or assessment
27 officer, and make the final decision as to whether a petition is filed.

28 **NEW SECTION. Section 14. Custody -- hearing for probable cause -- determinations -- detention**
29 **-- release.** (1) If, at a probable cause hearing held pursuant to [section 12], it is determined that there is
30 probable cause to believe that the youth is a delinquent youth or a youth in need of intervention, the court

1 having jurisdiction in the case shall determine whether the youth should be retained in custody. If the court
 2 determines that continued custody of the youth is necessary and if the youth meets the criteria in
 3 41-5-305, [section 16], or [section 47], the youth may be placed in a detention facility, a youth assessment
 4 center, or a shelter care facility as provided in [sections 18 through 21] but may not be placed in a jail or
 5 other facility used for the confinement of adults accused or convicted of criminal offenses.

6 (2) If probable cause is not found or if a probable cause hearing is not held within the time specified
 7 in [section 12], the youth must be immediately released from custody.

8 **Section 17.** Section 41-5-306, MCA, is amended to read:

9 **"41-5-306. Place of shelter care or detention Limitation on placement of youth in need of care.**

10 ~~(1) After a probable cause hearing provided for in 41-5-303, a youth alleged to be a youth in need of~~
 11 ~~supervision may be placed only:~~

12 ~~(a) in a licensed youth foster home as defined in 41-3-1102;~~

13 ~~(b) in a facility operated by a licensed child welfare agency;~~

14 ~~(c) in a licensed youth group home as defined in 41-3-1102; or~~

15 ~~(d) under home arrest, either in the youth's own home or in one of the facilities described in~~
 16 ~~subsections (1)(a) through (1)(c), as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10.~~

17 ~~(2) A youth alleged to be a youth in need of care may be placed only in the facilities listed in~~
 18 ~~subsection (1) by the department of public health and human services as provided in Title 41, chapter 3,~~
 19 and may not be placed in a youth assessment center, youth detention facility, jail, or other facility intended
 20 or used for the confinement of adults accused or convicted of criminal offenses.

21 ~~(3) After a probable cause hearing provided for in 41-5-303, a youth alleged to be a delinquent~~
 22 ~~youth may be placed only:~~

23 ~~(a) in the facilities described in subsection (1);~~

24 ~~(b) under home arrest as provided in subsection (1);~~

25 ~~(c) in a short term detention center;~~

26 ~~(d) in a youth detention facility; or~~

27 ~~(e) in a community youth court program."~~

28 **NEW SECTION. Section 20. Place of shelter care.** Placement in shelter care means placement in
 29 one of the following:

30 (1) in a licensed youth care facility as defined in 41-3-1102; or

1 (2) under home arrest, with or without a monitoring device, as provided in Title 46, chapter 18,
2 part 10, either in the youth's own home or in a facility described in subsection (1).

3 (3) All money in the account, except any amount required to be returned to federal or county
4 sources, is allocated to the department of public health and human services to carry out its duties under
5 52-1-103."

6 **Section 40.** Section 41-5-530, MCA, is amended to read:

7 "**41-5-530. Parental contributions account -- allocation of proceeds.** (1) There is a parental
8 contributions account in the state special revenue fund.

9 (2) Contributions paid by the parents and guardians of youth under 41-3-406, ~~41-5-403, 41-5-523~~
10 [section ~~36~~ 41 of Senate Bill No. 48, second reading copy of the second house], or 41-5-524 must be
11 deposited in the account.

12 (3) All money in the account, except any amount required to be returned to federal or county
13 sources, is allocated to the department of public health and human services to carry out its duties under
14 52-1-103."

15 (G) THIS SECTION MUST BE PLACED IN HOUSE BILL NO. 114 AND IS INTENDED TO BE CODIFIED
16 IN TITLE 41, CHAPTER 5, PART 12, AND THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 41, CHAPTER 5, PART 12, APPLY
17 TO THIS SECTION:

18 "NEW SECTION. **Section 46. Preliminary inquiry -- youth assessment.** (1) The probation officer
19 or assessment officer may perform a youth assessment if:

20 (a) a youth has been referred to the youth court as an alleged youth in need of intervention with
21 a minimum of two misdemeanor offenses or three offenses that would not be offenses if the youth were
22 an adult in the past year; or

23 (b) the youth or the youth's parent or guardian requests the youth assessment and both the youth
24 and the parent or guardian are willing to cooperate with the assessment process.

25 (2) A youth assessment:

26 (a) must be a multidisciplinary effort that may include, but is not limited to a chemical dependency
27 evaluation of the youth, an educational assessment of the youth, an evaluation to determine if the youth
28 has mental health needs, or an assessment of the need for any family-based services or other services
29 provided by the department of public health and human services or other state and local agencies. The
30 education component of the youth assessment is intended to address attendance, behavior, and

1 performance issues of the youth. The education component is not intended to interfere with the right to
 2 attend a nonpublic or home school that complies with 20-5-109.

3 (b) must include a summary of the family's strengths and needs as they relate to addressing the
 4 youth's behavior;

5 (c) may occur in a youth's home, with or without electronic monitoring, or pursuant to 41-5-305
 6 in a youth assessment center licensed by the department of public health and human services or in any
 7 other entity licensed by the department of public health and human services. The county shall provide
 8 adequate security in other licensed entities through provision of additional staff or electronic monitoring.
 9 The staff provided by the county must meet licensing requirements applicable to the licensed entity in
 10 which the youth is being held.

11 (3) The assessment officer arranging the youth assessment shall work with the parent or guardian
 12 of the youth to coordinate the performance of the various parts of the assessment with any providers that
 13 may already be working with the family or providers that are chosen by the family to the extent possible
 14 to meet the goals of the Youth Court Act."

15 (H) THIS SECTION MUST BE PLACED IN HOUSE BILL NO. 114 AND IS INTENDED TO BE CODIFIED
 16 IN TITLE 41, CHAPTER 5, PART 3, AND THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 41, CHAPTER 5, PART 3, APPLY TO
 17 THIS SECTION:

18 "NEW SECTION. Section 47. Criteria for placement of youth in youth assessment centers. A
 19 youth may be placed in a youth assessment center only if:

- 20 (1) the youth meets the requirements for placement in shelter care;
 21 (2) the youth has not committed an act that would be a felony offense if committed by an adult;
 22 (3) the youth needs an alternative, staff-secured site for evaluation and assessment of the youth's
 23 need for services;
 24 (4) the youth needs to be held accountable for the youth's actions with structured programming;
 25 and
 26 (5) the youth meets qualifications as outlined by the placement guidelines that are determined by
 27 the department and coordinated with the guidelines used by the youth placement committees."

28 (I) THIS SECTION MUST BE PLACED IN HOUSE BILL NO. 114:

29 "NEW SECTION. Section 50. Code commissioner instruction. (1) Wherever a reference to "an
 30 aftercare agreement" appears in House Bill No. 114, the code commissioner is directed to change it to an

1 appropriate reference to "a parole agreement".

2 (2) References to "an aftercare agreement" that are contained in Title 41, chapter 5, in material
3 enacted by the 55th legislature must be changed to "a parole agreement"."

4

5 **NEW SECTION.** **Section 50. Saving clause.** [This act] does not affect rights and duties that
6 matured, penalties that were incurred, or proceedings that were begun before [the effective date of this
7 act].

8

9 **NEW SECTION.** **Section 51. Applicability.** [This act] applies to proceedings commenced after [the
10 effective date of this act].

11

-END-

1 HOUSE BILL NO. 114

2 INTRODUCED BY MCCULLOCH

3 BY REQUEST OF THE JUVENILE JUSTICE AND JUVENILE MENTAL HEALTH STUDY COMMISSION

4
5 A BILL FOR AN ACT ENTITLED: "AN ACT GENERALLY REVISING AND RECODIFYING THE MONTANA
6 YOUTH COURT ACT; CLARIFYING THAT SHORT-TERM DETENTION OF YOUTH, FOR UP TO 96 HOURS,
7 EXCLUDES WEEKENDS AND LEGAL HOLIDAYS; AMENDING SECTIONS 7-6-501, 7-32-2244, 41-5-103,
8 41-5-208, 41-5-301, 41-5-303, 41-5-305, 41-5-306, 41-5-307, 41-5-311, 41-5-403, 41-5-502, 41-5-521,
9 41-5-522, 41-5-523, 41-5-525, 41-5-527, 41-5-530, 41-5-1004, 41-5-1104, 46-24-207, 52-5-129, AND
10 53-9-107, MCA; REPEALING SECTIONS 41-5-310 AND 41-5-312, MCA; AND PROVIDING AN
11 APPLICABILITY DATE."

12
13 BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MONTANA:

THERE ARE NO CHANGES IN THIS BILL AND IT WILL NOT BE REPRINTED. PLEASE REFER TO SECOND READING COPY (YELLOW) FOR COMPLETE TEXT.

APPROVED BY COM ON
FINANCE & CLAIMS

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13

HOUSE BILL NO. 114

INTRODUCED BY MCCULLOCH

BY REQUEST OF THE JUVENILE JUSTICE AND JUVENILE MENTAL HEALTH STUDY COMMISSION

A BILL FOR AN ACT ENTITLED: "AN ACT GENERALLY REVISING AND RECODIFYING THE MONTANA
YOUTH COURT ACT; CLARIFYING THAT SHORT-TERM DETENTION OF YOUTH, FOR UP TO 96 HOURS,
EXCLUDES WEEKENDS AND LEGAL HOLIDAYS; AMENDING SECTIONS 7-6-501, 7-32-2244, 41-5-103,
41-5-208, 41-5-301, 41-5-303, 41-5-305, 41-5-306, 41-5-307, 41-5-311, 41-5-403, 41-5-502, 41-5-521,
41-5-522, 41-5-523, 41-5-525, 41-5-527, 41-5-530, 41-5-1004, 41-5-1104, 46-24-207, 52-5-129, AND
53-9-107, MCA; REPEALING SECTIONS 41-5-310 AND 41-5-312, MCA; AND PROVIDING AN
APPLICABILITY DATE."

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MONTANA:

**THERE ARE NO CHANGES IN THIS BILL AND IT WILL NOT BE
REPRINTED. PLEASE REFER TO SECOND READING COPY
(YELLOW) FOR COMPLETE TEXT.**

1 HOUSE BILL NO. 114

2 INTRODUCED BY MCCULLOCH

3 BY REQUEST OF THE JUVENILE JUSTICE AND JUVENILE MENTAL HEALTH STUDY COMMISSION

4
5 A BILL FOR AN ACT ENTITLED: "AN ACT GENERALLY REVISING AND RECODIFYING THE MONTANA
6 YOUTH COURT ACT; CLARIFYING THAT SHORT-TERM DETENTION OF YOUTH, FOR UP TO 96 HOURS,
7 EXCLUDES WEEKENDS AND LEGAL HOLIDAYS; AMENDING SECTIONS 7-6-501, 7-32-2244, 41-5-103,
8 41-5-208, 41-5-301, 41-5-303, 41-5-305, 41-5-306, 41-5-307, 41-5-311, 41-5-403, 41-5-502, 41-5-521,
9 41-5-522, 41-5-523, 41-5-525, 41-5-527, 41-5-530, 41-5-1004, 41-5-1104, 46-24-207, 52-5-129, AND
10 53-9-107, MCA; REPEALING SECTIONS 41-5-310 AND 41-5-312, MCA; AND PROVIDING AN
11 APPLICABILITY DATE."

12
13 BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MONTANA:

14
15 **Section 1.** Section 7-6-501, MCA, is amended to read:

16 **"7-6-501. Definitions.** As used in 7-6-502 and this section, unless the context requires otherwise,
17 the following definitions apply:

18 (1) "Detention" means the holding or temporary placement of a youth in a facility other than the
19 youth's own home for the purpose of ensuring the continued custody of the youth at any time after the
20 youth is taken into custody and before final disposition of his case.

21 (2) "Juvenile detention program" means services to provide for the lawful detention or shelter care
22 of youth. The term includes:

23 (a) youth evaluations ordered by the court under 41-5-523, [section 29], or [section 36]; and

24 (b) programs for the transportation of youth to appropriate detention facilities or shelter care
25 facilities.

26 (3) "Local government" has the same meaning as provided in 7-12-1103.

27 (4) "Shelter care" has the same meaning as provided in 41-5-103.

28 (5) "Youth" means an individual who is less than 18 years of age who is alleged to be a delinquent
29 youth or youth in need of supervision as those terms are defined in 41-5-103."
30

1 **Section 2.** Section 7-32-2244, MCA, is amended to read:

2 **"7-32-2244. Detention of juveniles.** Juveniles may be held in a detention center only in accordance
3 with ~~41-5-301 through 41-5-307, 41-5-309, and 41-5-311~~ Title 41, chapter 5, part 3."

4

5 **Section 3.** Section 41-5-103, MCA, is amended to read:

6 **"41-5-103. Definitions.** As used in the Montana Youth Court Act, unless the context requires
7 otherwise, the following definitions apply:

8 (1) "Adult" means an individual who is 18 years of age or older.

9 (2) "Agency" means any entity of state or local government authorized by law to be responsible
10 for the care or rehabilitation of youth.

11 (3) "Commit" means to transfer to legal custody.

12 (4) "Correctional facility" means a public or private residential facility used for the placement of
13 delinquent youth or individuals convicted of criminal offenses.

14 (5) "Court", when used without further qualification, means the youth court of the district court.

15 (6) "Custodian" means a person, other than a parent or guardian, to whom legal custody of the
16 youth has been given but does not include a person who has only physical custody.

17 (7) "Delinquent youth" means a youth:

18 (a) who has committed an offense that, if committed by an adult, would constitute a criminal
19 offense; or

20 (b) who, having been placed on probation as a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision,
21 violates any condition of probation.

22 (8) "Department" means the department of corrections provided for in 2-15-2301.

23 (9) "Detention" means the holding or temporary placement of a youth in the youth's home under
24 home arrest or in a facility other than the youth's own home for the purpose of ensuring the continued
25 custody of the youth at any time after the youth is taken into custody and before final disposition of the
26 youth's case.

27 (10) "Detention facility" means a physically restricting facility designed to prevent a youth from
28 departing at will. The term includes a youth detention facility, short-term detention center, and regional
29 detention facility.

30 (11) "Final disposition" means the implementation of a court order for the disposition or placement

1 of a youth as provided in 41-5-523 or [section 29].

2 (12) "Foster home" means a private residence licensed by the department of public health and
3 human services for placement of a youth.

4 (13) ~~"Guardianship" means the status created and defined by law between a youth and an adult~~
5 ~~with the reciprocal rights, duties, and responsibilities.~~ "Guardian" means an adult:

6 (a) who is responsible for a youth and has reciprocal rights, duties, and responsibilities with the
7 youth; and

8 (b) whose status is created and defined by law.

9 (14) "Holdover" means a room, office, building, or other place approved by the board of crime
10 control for the temporary detention and supervision of youth in a physically unrestricting setting for a period
11 not to exceed 24 hours while the youth is awaiting a probable cause hearing, release, or transfer to an
12 appropriate detention or shelter care facility. The term does not include a jail.

13 (15) "Jail" means a facility used for the confinement of adults accused or convicted of criminal
14 offenses. The term includes a lockup or other facility used primarily for the temporary confinement of adults
15 after arrest.

16 (16) "Judge", when used without further qualification, means the judge of the youth court.

17 (17) (a) "Legal custody" means the legal status created by order of a court of competent jurisdiction
18 that gives a person the right and duty to:

19 (i) have physical custody of the youth;

20 (ii) determine with whom the youth shall live and for what period;

21 (iii) protect, train, and discipline the youth; and

22 (iv) provide the youth with food, shelter, education, and ordinary medical care.

23 (b) An individual granted legal custody of a youth shall personally exercise the individual's rights
24 and duties as guardian unless otherwise authorized by the court entering the order.

25 ~~(18) "Mentally ill" means suffering from a mental disorder that has not resulted in self-inflicted~~
26 ~~injury or injury to others or the imminent threat of injury but that;~~

27 ~~(a) has resulted in behavior that creates serious difficulty in protecting the person's life or health~~
28 ~~even with the available assistance of family, friends, or others;~~

29 ~~(b) is treatable, with a reasonable prospect of success;~~

30 ~~(c) has deprived the person of the capacity to make an informed decision concerning treatment;~~

1 ~~(d) has resulted in the person's refusing or being unable to consent to voluntary admission for~~
2 ~~treatment; and~~

3 ~~(e) poses a significant risk of the person's becoming seriously mentally ill or will, if untreated,~~
4 ~~predictably result in further serious deterioration in the mental condition of the person. Predictability may~~
5 ~~be established by the patient's medical history.~~

6 ~~(18)(19)(18)~~ "Necessary parties" includes the youth, and the youth's parents, guardian, custodian,
7 or spouse.

8 ~~(19)(20)(19)~~ "Parent" means the natural or adoptive parent but does not include a person whose
9 parental rights have been judicially terminated, nor does it include the putative father of an illegitimate youth
10 unless the putative father's paternity is established by an adjudication or by other clear and convincing
11 proof.

12 ~~(20)(21)(20)~~ "Probable cause hearing" means the hearing provided for in ~~41-5-303~~ [section 12].

13 ~~(21)(22)(21)~~ "Regional detention facility" means a youth detention facility established and
14 maintained by two or more counties, as authorized in 41-5-811.

15 ~~(22)(23)(22)~~ "Restitution" means payments in cash to the victim or with services to the victim or
16 the general community when these payments are made pursuant to an informal adjustment, consent decree,
17 or other youth court order.

18 ~~(23)(24)(23)~~ "Secure detention facility" means any public or private facility that:

19 (a) is used for the temporary placement of youth or individuals accused or convicted of criminal
20 offenses; and

21 (b) is designed to physically restrict the movements and activities of youth or other individuals held
22 in lawful custody of the facility.

23 ~~(24)(25)(24)~~ "Serious juvenile offender" means a youth who has committed an offense that would
24 be considered a felony offense if committed by an adult and that is an offense against a person, an offense
25 against property, or an offense involving dangerous drugs.

26 ~~(25)(26)(25)~~ "Shelter care" means the temporary substitute care of youth in physically unrestricting
27 facilities.

28 ~~(26)(27)(26)~~ "Shelter care facility" means a facility used for the shelter care of youth. The term is
29 limited to the facilities enumerated in ~~41-5-306(1)~~ [section 20].

30 ~~(27)(28)(27)~~ "Short-term detention center" means a detention facility licensed by the department

1 for the temporary placement or care of youth, for a period not to exceed 96 hours excluding weekends and
 2 legal holidays, pending a probable cause hearing, release, or transfer of the youth to an appropriate
 3 detention facility or shelter care facility.

4 ~~(28)(29)(28)~~ "State youth correctional facility" means a residential facility used for the placement
 5 and rehabilitation of delinquent youth, such as the Pine Hills school in Miles City ~~and the Mountain View~~
 6 ~~school in Helena.~~

7 ~~(29)(30)(29)~~ "Substitute care" means full-time care of youth in a residential setting for the purpose
 8 of providing food, shelter, security and safety, guidance, direction, and, if necessary, treatment to youth
 9 who are removed from or are without the care and supervision of their parents or guardian.

10 ~~(30)(31)(30)~~ "Youth" means an individual who is less than 18 years of age without regard to sex
 11 or emancipation.

12 ~~(31)(32)(31)~~ "Youth court" means the court established pursuant to this chapter to hear all
 13 proceedings in which a youth is alleged to be a delinquent youth, a youth in need of supervision, or a youth
 14 in need of care and includes the youth court judge and probation officers.

15 ~~(32)(33)(32)~~ "Youth detention facility" means a secure detention facility licensed by the department
 16 for the temporary substitute care of youth that:

- 17 (a) is operated, administered, and staffed separately and independently of a jail; and
- 18 (b) is used exclusively for the lawful detention of alleged or adjudicated delinquent youth.

19 ~~(33)(34)(33)~~ "Youth in need of care" has the meaning provided for in 41-3-102.

20 ~~(34)(35)(34)~~ "Youth in need of supervision" means a youth who commits an offense prohibited by
 21 law that, if committed by an adult, would not constitute a criminal offense, including but not limited to a
 22 youth who:

- 23 (a) violates any Montana municipal or state law regarding use of alcoholic beverages by minors;
- 24 (b) continues to exhibit behavior beyond the control of the youth's parents, foster parents, physical
 25 custodian, or guardian despite the attempt of the youth's parents, foster parents, physical custodian, or
 26 guardian to exert all reasonable efforts to mediate, resolve, or control the youth's behavior; or
- 27 (c) has committed any of the acts of a delinquent youth but whom the youth court, in its
 28 discretion, chooses to regard as a youth in need of supervision."

29
 30 **Section 4.** Section 41-5-208, MCA, is amended to read:

1 **"41-5-208. Transfer to district court after prosecution -- disposition in district court -- limitation**
 2 **on jurisdiction.** (1) To ensure continued compliance with the court's disposition under ~~41-5-523~~ [section
 3 29], at any time after a youth reaches 18 years of age but before the youth reaches 21 years of age, the
 4 youth court judge may transfer jurisdiction to district court and order the transfer of supervisory
 5 responsibility and the youth's case files to the department.

6 (2) If a youth whose case has been transferred to district court under this section violates a
 7 disposition imposed under ~~41-5-523~~ [section 29], the district court may impose conditions as provided
 8 under 46-18-201 through 46-18-203.

9 (3) If, at the time of transfer, the youth is incarcerated in a state youth correctional facility, the
 10 district court may order that the youth, after reaching 18 years of age:

- 11 (a) be incarcerated in a state adult correctional facility, boot camp, or prerelease center; or
 12 (b) be supervised by the department.

13 (4) The district court's jurisdiction over a case transferred under this section terminates when the
 14 youth reaches 25 years of age."

15
 16 **Section 5.** Section 41-5-301, MCA, is amended to read:

17 **"41-5-301. Preliminary ~~investigation and disposition~~ inquiry -- referral of youth in need of care.**

18 (1) Whenever the court receives information from any agency or person, based upon reasonable grounds,
 19 that a youth is or appears to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision or, being subject to
 20 a court order or consent order, has violated the terms of an order, a probation officer shall make a
 21 preliminary inquiry into the matter.

22 ~~(2) The probation officer may:~~

23 ~~(a) require the presence of any person relevant to the inquiry;~~

24 ~~(b) request subpoenas from the judge to accomplish this purpose;~~

25 ~~(c) require investigation of the matter by any law enforcement agency or any other appropriate~~
 26 ~~state or local agency.~~

27 ~~(3)~~(2) If the probation officer determines that the facts indicate that the youth is a youth in need
 28 of care, the matter must be immediately referred to the department of public health and human services.

29 ~~(4) (a) The probation officer in the conduct of the preliminary inquiry shall:~~

30 ~~(i) advise the youth of the youth's rights under this chapter and the constitutions of the state of~~

1 ~~Montana and the United States;~~

2 ~~(ii) determine whether the matter is within the jurisdiction of the court;~~

3 ~~(iii) determine, if the youth is in detention or shelter care, whether detention or shelter care should~~
4 ~~be continued based upon criteria set forth in 41-5-305.~~

5 ~~(b) Once relevant information is secured, the probation officer shall:~~

6 ~~(i) determine whether the interest of the public or the youth requires that further action be taken;~~

7 ~~(ii) terminate the inquiry upon the determination that no further action be taken; and~~

8 ~~(iii) release the youth immediately upon the determination that the filing of a petition is not~~
9 ~~authorized.~~

10 ~~(5) The probation officer upon determining that further action is required may:~~

11 ~~(a) provide counseling, refer the youth and the youth's parents to another agency providing~~
12 ~~appropriate services, or take any other action or make any informal adjustment that does not involve~~
13 ~~probation or detention;~~

14 ~~(b) provide for treatment or adjustment involving probation or other disposition authorized under~~
15 ~~41-5-401 through 41-5-403 if the treatment or adjustment is voluntarily accepted by the youth's parents~~
16 ~~or guardian and the youth, if the matter is referred immediately to the county attorney for review, and if~~
17 ~~the probation officer proceeds no further unless authorized by the county attorney; or~~

18 ~~(c) refer the matter to the county attorney for filing a petition charging the youth to be a delinquent~~
19 ~~youth or a youth in need of supervision.~~

20 ~~(6) The county attorney may apply to the youth court for permission to file a petition charging a~~
21 ~~youth to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision. The application must be supported by~~
22 ~~evidence that the youth court may require. If it appears that there is probable cause to believe that the~~
23 ~~allegations of the petition are true, the youth court shall grant leave to file the petition.~~

24 ~~(7) A petition charging a youth held in detention must be filed within 7 working days from the date~~
25 ~~the youth was first taken into custody or the petition must be dismissed and the youth released unless good~~
26 ~~cause is shown to further detain the youth.~~

27 ~~(8) If a petition is not filed under this section, the complainant and victim, if any, must be informed~~
28 ~~by the probation officer of the action and the reasons for not filing and must be advised of the right to~~
29 ~~submit the matter to the county attorney for review. The county attorney, upon receiving a request for~~
30 ~~review, shall consider the facts, consult with the probation officer, and make the final decision as to~~

1 ~~whether a petition is filed."~~

2

3 **NEW SECTION. Section 6. Preliminary inquiry -- procedure.** (1) In conducting a preliminary inquiry
4 under 41-5-301, the probation officer shall:

5 (a) advise the youth of the youth's rights under this chapter and the constitutions of the state of
6 Montana and the United States;

7 (b) determine whether the matter is within the jurisdiction of the court;

8 (c) determine, if the youth is in detention or shelter care, whether detention or shelter care should
9 be continued based upon criteria set forth in 41-5-305 and [section 16].

10 (2) In conducting a preliminary inquiry, the probation officer may:

11 (a) require the presence of any person relevant to the inquiry;

12 (b) request subpoenas from the judge to accomplish this purpose;

13 (c) require investigation of the matter by any law enforcement agency or any other appropriate
14 state or local agency.

15

16 **NEW SECTION. Section 7. Preliminary inquiry -- determinations -- release.** Once relevant
17 information is secured after a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the probation officer shall:

18 (1) determine whether the interest of the public or the youth requires that further action be taken;

19 (2) terminate the inquiry upon the determination that no further action be taken; and

20 (3) release the youth immediately upon the determination that the filing of a petition is not
21 authorized.

22

23 **NEW SECTION. Section 8. Preliminary inquiry -- dispositions available to probation officer.** Upon
24 determining that further action is required after a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the probation officer
25 may:

26 (1) arrange informal disposition as provided in [section 9]; or

27 (2) refer the matter to the county attorney for filing a petition charging the youth to be a delinquent
28 youth or a youth in need of supervision.

29

30 **NEW SECTION. Section 9. Informal disposition.** After a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the

1 probation officer upon determining that further action is required and that referral to the county attorney
2 is not required may:

3 (1) provide counseling, refer the youth and the youth's parents to another agency providing
4 appropriate services, or take any other action or make any informal adjustment that does not involve
5 probation or detention; or

6 (2) provide for treatment or adjustment involving probation or other disposition authorized under
7 41-5-401 through 41-5-403 if the treatment or adjustment is voluntarily accepted by the youth's parents
8 or guardian and the youth, if the matter is referred immediately to the county attorney for review, and if
9 the probation officer proceeds no further unless authorized by the county attorney.

10

11 **NEW SECTION. Section 10. Petition -- county attorney -- procedure -- release from custody.** (1)

12 The county attorney may apply to the youth court for permission to file a petition charging a youth to be
13 a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision. The application must be supported by evidence that
14 the youth court may require. If it appears that there is probable cause to believe that the allegations of the
15 petition are true, the youth court shall grant leave to file the petition.

16 (2) A petition charging a youth held in detention must be filed within 7 working days from the date
17 the youth was first taken into custody or the petition must be dismissed and the youth released unless good
18 cause is shown to further detain the youth.

19 (3) If a petition is not filed under this section, the complainant and victim, if any, must be informed
20 by the probation officer of the action and the reasons for not filing and must be advised of the right to
21 submit the matter to the county attorney for review. The county attorney, upon receiving a request for
22 review, shall consider the facts, consult with the probation officer, and make the final decision as to
23 whether a petition is filed.

24

25 **Section 11.** Section 41-5-303, MCA, is amended to read:

26 **"41-5-303. Rights of youth taken into custody -- questioning -- ~~hearing for probable cause~~**
27 **~~detention -- waiver of rights.~~** (1) When a youth is taken into custody for questioning upon a matter that
28 could result in a petition alleging that the youth is either a delinquent youth or a youth in need of
29 supervision, the following requirements must be met:

30 (a) The youth must be advised of ~~his~~ the youth's right against self-incrimination and ~~his~~ the youth's

1 right to counsel.

2 ~~(b) The youth may waive these rights under the following situations:~~

3 ~~(i) when the youth is 16 years of age or older, the youth may make an effective waiver;~~

4 ~~(ii) when the youth is under the age of 16 years and the youth and a parent or guardian agree, they~~
5 ~~may make an effective waiver; and~~

6 ~~(iii) when the youth is under the age of 16 years and the youth and his parent or guardian do not~~
7 ~~agree, the youth may make an effective waiver only with advice of counsel.~~

8 ~~(e)(b)~~ The investigating officer, probation officer, or person assigned to give notice shall
9 immediately notify the parents, guardian, or legal custodian of the youth that the youth has been taken into
10 custody, the reasons for taking the youth into custody, and where the youth is being held. If the parents,
11 guardian, or legal custodian cannot be found through diligent efforts, a close relative or friend chosen by
12 the youth must be notified.

13 (2) A youth may waive the rights listed in subsection (1) under the following situations:

14 (a) when the youth is 16 years of age or older, the youth may make an effective waiver;

15 (b) when the youth is under 16 years of age and the youth and the youth's parent or guardian
16 agree, they may make an effective waiver; or

17 (c) when the youth is under 16 years of age and the youth and the youth's parent or guardian do
18 not agree, the youth may make an effective waiver only with advice of counsel.

19 ~~(2) Unless a youth has been released, a hearing must be held within 24 hours after the youth is~~
20 ~~taken into custody, excluding weekends and legal holidays, to determine whether there is probable cause~~
21 ~~to believe that the youth is a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision.~~

22 ~~(3) The probable cause hearing required under subsection (2) may be held by the youth court, a~~
23 ~~justice of the peace, a municipal or city judge, or a magistrate having jurisdiction in the case as provided~~
24 ~~in 41-5-203. If the probable cause hearing is held by a justice of the peace, a municipal or city judge, or~~
25 ~~a magistrate, a record of the hearing must be made by a court reporter or by a tape recording of the~~
26 ~~hearing.~~

27 ~~(4) At the probable cause hearing, the youth must be informed of his constitutional rights and his~~
28 ~~rights under this chapter.~~

29 ~~(5) A parent, guardian, or legal custodian of the youth may be held in contempt of court for failing~~
30 ~~to be present at or to participate in the probable cause hearing unless he:~~

1 ~~(a) cannot be located through diligent efforts of the investigating peace officer or peace officers;~~
 2 ~~or~~

3 ~~(b) is excused by the court for good cause.~~

4 ~~(6) At the probable cause hearing, a guardian ad litem may be appointed as provided in 41-5-512.~~

5 ~~(7) If it is determined that there is probable cause to believe the youth is a delinquent youth or is~~
 6 ~~a youth in need of supervision, the court having jurisdiction in the case shall determine whether the youth~~
 7 ~~should be retained in custody. If the court determines that continued custody of the youth is necessary and~~
 8 ~~if the youth meets the criteria in 41-5-305, the youth may be placed in a detention facility or shelter care~~
 9 ~~facility as provided in 41-5-306 but may not be placed in a jail or other facility used for the confinement~~
 10 ~~of adults accused or convicted of criminal offenses.~~

11 ~~(8) If probable cause is not found or if a probable cause hearing is not held within the time specified~~
 12 ~~in subsection (2), the youth must be immediately released from custody."~~

13

14 **NEW SECTION. Section 12. Custody -- hearing for probable cause.** (1) When a youth is taken
 15 into custody for questioning, a hearing to determine whether there is probable cause to believe the youth
 16 is a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision must be held within 24 hours, excluding weekends
 17 and legal holidays. A hearing is not required if the youth is released prior to the time of the required
 18 hearing.

19 (2) The probable cause hearing required under subsection (1) may be held by the youth court, a
 20 justice of the peace, a municipal or city judge, or a magistrate having jurisdiction in the case as provided
 21 in 41-5-203. If the probable cause hearing is held by a justice of the peace, a municipal or city judge, or
 22 a magistrate, a record of the hearing must be made by a court reporter or by a tape recording of the
 23 hearing.

24 (3) A probable cause hearing may be conducted by telephone if other means of conducting the
 25 hearing are impractical. All written orders and findings of the court in a hearing conducted by telephone
 26 must bear the name of the judge or magistrate presiding in the case and the hour and date the order or
 27 findings were issued.

28

29 **NEW SECTION. Section 13. Custody -- hearing for probable cause -- procedure.** (1) At a probable
 30 cause hearing held pursuant to [section 12], the youth must be informed of the youth's constitutional rights

1 and the youth's rights under this chapter.

2 (2) A parent, guardian, or custodian of the youth may be held in contempt of court for failing to
3 be present at or to participate in the probable cause hearing unless the parent, guardian, or custodian:

4 (a) cannot be located through diligent efforts of the investigating peace officer or peace officers;

5 or

6 (b) is excused by the court for good cause.

7 (3) At the probable cause hearing, a guardian ad litem may be appointed as provided in 41-5-512.

8

9 **NEW SECTION. Section 14. Custody -- hearing for probable cause -- determinations -- detention**

10 **-- release.** (1) If, at a probable cause hearing held pursuant to [section 12], it is determined that there is
11 probable cause to believe the youth is a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision, the court
12 having jurisdiction in the case shall determine whether the youth should be retained in custody. If the court
13 determines that continued custody of the youth is necessary and if the youth meets the criteria in 41-5-305
14 or [section 16], the youth may be placed in a detention facility or shelter care facility as provided in
15 [sections 18 through 21] but may not be placed in a jail or other facility used for the confinement of adults
16 accused or convicted of criminal offenses.

17 (2) If probable cause is not found or if a probable cause hearing is not held within the time specified
18 in [section 12], the youth must be immediately released from custody.

19

20 **Section 15.** Section 41-5-305, MCA, is amended to read:

21 **"41-5-305. Criteria for placement of youth in secure detention facilities ~~or shelter care facilities.~~**

22 ~~(1)~~ A youth may ~~not~~ be placed in a secure detention facility ~~unless~~ only if the youth:

23 ~~(a)~~ (1) ~~he~~ has allegedly committed an act that if committed by an adult would constitute a criminal
24 offense and the alleged offense is one specified in 41-5-206;

25 ~~(b)~~ (2) ~~he~~ is alleged to be a delinquent youth and:

26 ~~(i)~~ (a) ~~he~~ has escaped from a correctional facility or secure detention facility;

27 ~~(ii)~~ (b) ~~he~~ has violated a valid court order or an aftercare agreement;

28 ~~(iii)~~ (c) ~~his~~ the youth's detention is required to protect persons or property;

29 ~~(iv)~~ (d) ~~he~~ the youth has pending court or administrative action or is awaiting a transfer to another
30 jurisdiction and may abscond or be removed from the jurisdiction of the court;

- 1 ~~(v)(e)~~ there are not adequate assurances that ~~he~~ the youth will appear for court when required; or
- 2 ~~(vi)(f)~~ ~~he~~ the youth meets additional criteria for secure detention established by the youth court in
- 3 the judicial district that has current jurisdiction over ~~him~~ the youth; or
- 4 ~~(e)(3)~~ ~~he~~ has been adjudicated delinquent and is awaiting final disposition of ~~his~~ the youth's case.
- 5 ~~(2) A youth may not be placed in a shelter care facility unless:~~
- 6 ~~(a) the youth and his family need shelter care to address their problematic situation when it is not~~
- 7 ~~possible for the youth to remain at home;~~
- 8 ~~(b) the youth needs to be protected from physical or emotional harm;~~
- 9 ~~(c) the youth needs to be deterred or prevented from immediate repetition of his troubling behavior;~~
- 10 ~~(d) shelter care is necessary to assess the youth and his environment;~~
- 11 ~~(e) shelter care is necessary to provide adequate time for case planning and disposition; or~~
- 12 ~~(f) shelter care is necessary to intervene in a crisis situation and provide intensive services or~~
- 13 ~~attention that might alleviate the problem and reunite the family."~~

14

15 **NEW SECTION. Section 16. Criteria for placement of youth in shelter care facilities.** A youth may

16 be placed in a shelter care facility only if:

- 17 (1) the youth and the youth's family need shelter care to address their problematic situation and
- 18 it is not possible for the youth to remain at home;
- 19 (2) the youth needs to be protected from physical or emotional harm;
- 20 (3) the youth needs to be deterred or prevented from immediate repetition of troubling behavior;
- 21 (4) shelter care is necessary to assess the youth and the youth's environment;
- 22 (5) shelter care is necessary to provide adequate time for case planning and disposition; or
- 23 (6) shelter care is necessary to intervene in a crisis situation and provide intensive services or
- 24 attention that might alleviate the problem and reunite the family.

25

26 **Section 17.** Section 41-5-306, MCA, is amended to read:

27 **"41-5-306. Place of shelter care or detention Limitation on placement of youth in need of care.**

- 28 ~~(1) After a probable cause hearing provided for in 41-5-303, a youth alleged to be a youth in need of~~
- 29 ~~supervision may be placed only:~~
- 30 ~~(a) in a licensed youth foster home as defined in 41-3-1102;~~

1 ~~(b) in a facility operated by a licensed child welfare agency;~~
 2 ~~(c) in a licensed youth group home as defined in 41-3-1102; or~~
 3 ~~(d) under home arrest, either in the youth's own home or in one of the facilities described in~~
 4 ~~subsections (1)(a) through (1)(c), as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10.~~

5 ~~(2) A youth alleged to be a youth in need of care may be placed only in the facilities listed in~~
 6 ~~subsection (1) shelter care, as provided in [section 20], and may not be placed in a jail or other facility~~
 7 ~~intended or used for the confinement of adults accused or convicted of criminal offenses.~~

8 ~~(3) After a probable cause hearing provided for in 41-6-303, a youth alleged to be a delinquent~~
 9 ~~youth may be placed only:~~

- 10 ~~(a) in the facilities described in subsection (1);~~
 11 ~~(b) under home arrest as provided in subsection (1);~~
 12 ~~(c) in a short term detention center;~~
 13 ~~(d) in a youth detention facility; or~~
 14 ~~(e) in a community youth court program."~~

15

16 **NEW SECTION. Section 18. Limitation on placement of youth in need of supervision.** (1) After
 17 a probable cause hearing provided for in [section 12], a youth alleged to be a youth in need of supervision
 18 may be placed only in shelter care, as provided in [section 20].

19 (2) A youth alleged or found to be a youth in need of supervision may not be placed in a jail, secure
 20 detention facility, or correctional facility.

21

22 **NEW SECTION. Section 19. Limitation on placement of delinquent youth.** After a probable cause
 23 hearing provided for in [section 12], a youth alleged to be a delinquent youth may be placed only:

- 24 (1) in shelter care, in the facilities described in [section 20];
 25 (2) under home arrest as provided in [section 20];
 26 (3) in detention, as provided in [section 21]; or
 27 (4) in a community youth court program.

28

29 **NEW SECTION. Section 20. Place of shelter care.** Placement in shelter care means placement in
 30 one of the following:

- 1 (1) in a licensed youth foster home as defined in 41-3-1102;
 2 (2) in a facility operated by a licensed child welfare agency;
 3 (3) in a licensed youth group home as defined in 41-3-1102; or
 4 (4) under home arrest as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10, either in the youth's own home
 5 or in one of the facilities described in subsections (1) through (3).

6

7 **NEW SECTION. Section 21. Place of detention.** Placement in detention means placement in one
 8 of the following facilities:

9 (1) a short-term detention center; or

10 (2) a youth detention facility, including a regional detention facility.

11

12 **Section 22.** Section 41-5-307, MCA, is amended to read:

13 "**41-5-307. Release or delivery from custody -- detention -- shelter care.** (1) Whenever a peace
 14 officer believes, on reasonable grounds, that a youth can be released to a responsible person ~~who has~~
 15 ~~custody of the youth, then~~ the peace officer may release the youth to that person upon receiving a written
 16 promise from the person to bring the youth before the probation officer at a time and place specified in the
 17 written promise, or a peace officer may release the youth under any other reasonable circumstances.

18 (2) Whenever the peace officer believes, on reasonable grounds, that the youth must be detained,
 19 the peace officer shall notify the probation officer immediately and shall, as soon as practicable, provide
 20 the probation officer with a written report of ~~his~~ the peace officer's reasons for holding the youth in
 21 detention. If it is necessary to hold the youth pending appearance before the youth court, then the youth
 22 must be held in a place of detention, as provided in [section 21], that is approved by the youth court.

23 (3) If the peace officer believes that the youth must be sheltered, the peace officer shall notify the
 24 probation officer immediately and shall provide a written report of ~~his~~ the peace officer's reasons for placing
 25 the youth in shelter care. If the youth is then held, the youth must be placed in a shelter care facility
 26 approved by the youth court."

27

28 **Section 23.** Section 41-5-311, MCA, is amended to read:

29 "**41-5-311. Youth not to be detained in jail -- exceptions -- time limitations.** (1) A youth may not
 30 be detained or otherwise placed in a jail or other adult detention facility except as provided in 41-5-206 and

1 this section.

2 (2) A youth who has allegedly committed an offense that if committed by an adult would constitute
3 a criminal offense may be temporarily detained in a jail or other adult detention facility for a period not to
4 exceed:

5 (a) 6 hours, but in no case overnight, for the purpose of identification, processing, or transfer of
6 the youth to an appropriate detention facility or shelter care facility; or

7 (b) 24 hours, excluding weekends and legal holidays, if the youth is awaiting a probable cause
8 hearing pursuant to ~~41-5-303~~ [section 12].

9 (3) The exception provided for in subsection (2)(b) applies only if:

10 (a) the court having jurisdiction over the youth is outside a metropolitan statistical area;

11 (b) alternative facilities are not available or alternative facilities do not provide adequate security;

12 and

13 (c) the youth is kept in an area that provides physical as well as sight and sound separation from
14 adults accused or convicted of criminal offenses.

15 (4) Whenever, despite all good faith efforts to comply with the time limitations specified in
16 subsection (2), the limitations are exceeded, this circumstance does not serve as grounds for dismissal of
17 the case nor does this circumstance constitute a defense in a subsequent delinquency or criminal
18 proceeding."

19

20 **Section 24.** Section 41-5-403, MCA, is amended to read:

21 **"41-5-403. Disposition permitted under informal adjustment -- contributions by parents or**
22 **guardians for youth's care.** (1) The following dispositions may be imposed by informal adjustment:

23 (a) probation;

24 (b) placement of the youth in substitute care in a youth care facility, as defined in 41-3-1102, ~~and~~
25 as determined by the department;

26 (c) placement of the youth with a private agency responsible for the care and rehabilitation of the
27 youth as determined by the department;

28 (d) restitution upon approval of the youth court judge and subject to the provisions of [section 37];

29 (e) placement of the youth under home arrest as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10.

30 ~~(2) In determining whether restitution is appropriate in a particular case, the following factors may~~

1 ~~be considered in addition to any other evidence:~~

2 ~~(a) age of the youth;~~

3 ~~(b) ability of the youth to pay;~~

4 ~~(c) ability of the parents, legal guardian, or persons contributing to the youth's delinquency or need~~
5 ~~for supervision to pay;~~

6 ~~(d) amount of damage to the victim; and~~

7 ~~(e) legal remedies of the victim. However, the ability of the victim or the victim's insurer to stand~~
8 ~~any loss may not be considered in any case.~~

9 ~~(3)(2)~~ If the youth violates an aftercare agreement as provided for in 52-5-126, the youth must be
10 returned to the court for further disposition. A youth may not be placed in a state youth correctional facility
11 under informal adjustment.

12 ~~(4)(3)~~ If the youth is placed in substitute care requiring payment by the department, the court, as
13 provided in [section 35], shall examine the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians to pay a
14 contribution covering all or part of the costs for the care, placement, and treatment of the youth, including
15 the costs of necessary medical, dental, and other health care.

16 ~~(5)(4)~~ If the court determines that the youth's parents or guardians are financially able to pay a
17 contribution as provided in subsection ~~(4)(3)~~, the court shall order the youth's parents or guardians to pay
18 an amount based on the uniform child support guidelines adopted by the department of public health and
19 human services pursuant to 40-5-209.

20 ~~(6) (a) Except as provided in subsection (6)(b), contributions ordered under this section and each~~
21 ~~modification of an existing order are enforceable by immediate or delinquency income withholding, or both,~~
22 ~~under Title 40, chapter 5, part 4. An order for contribution that is inconsistent with this section is~~
23 ~~nevertheless subject to withholding for the payment of the contribution without need for an amendment~~
24 ~~of the support order or for any further action by the court.~~

25 ~~(b) A court ordered exception from contributions under this section must be in writing and be~~
26 ~~included in the order. An exception from the immediate income withholding requirement may be granted~~
27 ~~if the court finds there is:~~

28 ~~(i) good cause not to require immediate income withholding; or~~

29 ~~(ii) an alternative arrangement between the department and the person who is ordered to pay~~
30 ~~contributions.~~

1 ~~(c) A finding of good cause not to require immediate income withholding must, at a minimum, be~~
 2 ~~based upon:~~

3 ~~(i) a written determination and explanation by the court of the reasons why the implementation of~~
 4 ~~immediate income withholding is not in the best interests of the child; and~~

5 ~~(ii) proof of timely payment of previously ordered support in cases involving modification of~~
 6 ~~contributions ordered under this section.~~

7 ~~(d) An alternative arrangement must:~~

8 ~~(i) provide sufficient security to ensure compliance with the arrangement;~~

9 ~~(ii) be in writing and be signed by a representative of the department and the person required to~~
 10 ~~make contributions; and~~

11 ~~(iii) if approved by the court, be entered into the record of the proceeding.~~

12 ~~(7) (a) If the court orders the payment of contributions under this section, the department shall~~
 13 ~~apply to the department of public health and human services for support enforcement services pursuant~~
 14 ~~to Title IV-D of the Social Security Act.~~

15 ~~(b) The department of public health and human services may collect and enforce a contribution~~
 16 ~~order under this section by any means available under law, including the remedies provided for in Title 40,~~
 17 ~~chapter 5, parts 2 and 4."~~

18

19 **Section 25.** Section 41-5-502, MCA, is amended to read:

20 **"41-5-502. Summons.** (1) After a petition has been filed, summons must be served directly to:

21 (a) the youth;

22 (b) ~~his~~ the youth's parent or parents having actual custody of the youth or ~~his~~ the youth's guardian
 23 or custodian, as the case may be; and

24 (c) other persons as the court may direct.

25 (2) The summons must:

26 (a) require the parties to whom it is directed to appear personally before the court at the time fixed
 27 by the summons to answer the allegations of the petition;

28 (b) advise the parties of their right to counsel under the Montana Youth Court Act; and

29 (c) have attached to it a copy of the petition.

30 (3) The court may endorse upon the summons an order directing the person or persons having the

1 physical custody or control of the youth to bring the youth to the hearing.

2 (4) If it appears to the court that the youth needs to be placed in detention or shelter care, the
3 judge may endorse on the summons an order directing the officer serving the summons to at once take the
4 youth into custody and to take ~~him~~ the youth to the place of detention or shelter care designated by the
5 court, subject to the rights of the youth and parent or person having legal custody of the youth as set forth
6 in the provisions of the Montana Youth Court Act relating to detention and shelter care criteria and
7 postdetention proceedings.

8 (5) If ~~any~~ a youth is placed in detention or shelter care under any provision of this chapter pending
9 an adjudication, the court shall, as soon as practicable, conduct a probable cause hearing as provided in
10 ~~41-5-303~~ [section 12].

11 (6) The youth court judge may also admit the youth to bail in accordance with Title 46, chapter
12 9."

13

14 **Section 26.** Section 41-5-521, MCA, is amended to read:

15 **"41-5-521. Adjudicatory hearing.** (1) Prior to any adjudicatory hearing, the court shall determine
16 whether the youth admits or denies the offenses alleged in the petition. If the youth denies all offenses
17 alleged in the petition, the youth or the youth's parent, guardian, or attorney may demand a jury trial on
18 the contested offenses. In the absence of a demand, a jury trial is waived. If the youth denies some
19 offenses and admits others, the contested offenses may be dismissed in the discretion of the youth court
20 judge. The adjudicatory hearing must be set immediately and accorded a preferential priority.

21 (2) An adjudicatory hearing must be held to determine whether the contested offenses are
22 supported by proof beyond a reasonable doubt in cases involving a youth alleged to be delinquent or in
23 need of supervision. If the hearing is before a jury, the jury's function is to determine whether the youth
24 committed the contested offenses. If the hearing is before the youth court judge without a jury, the judge
25 shall make and record findings on all issues. If the allegations of the petitions are not established at the
26 hearing, the youth court shall dismiss the petition and discharge the youth from custody.

27 (3) An adjudicatory hearing must be recorded verbatim by whatever means the court considers
28 appropriate.

29 (4) The youth charged in a petition must be present at the hearing and, if brought from detention
30 to the hearing, may not appear clothed in institutional clothing.

1 (5) In a hearing on a petition under this section, the general public may not be excluded, except
2 that in the court's discretion, the general public may be excluded if the petition ~~does not allege~~ alleges that
3 the youth is ~~delinquent~~ in need of supervision.

4 (6) If, on the basis of a valid admission by a youth of the allegations of the petition or after the
5 hearing required by this section, a youth is found to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of
6 supervision, the court shall schedule a dispositional hearing under this chapter.

7 (7) When a jury trial is required in a case, it may be held before a jury selected as provided in Title
8 25, chapter 7, part 2, and in Rule 47, M.R.Civ.P."

9
10 **Section 27.** Section 41-5-522, MCA, is amended to read:

11 **"41-5-522. Dispositional hearing.** (1) As soon as practicable after a youth is found to be a
12 delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision, the court shall conduct a dispositional hearing. The
13 dispositional hearing may involve a determination of the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians
14 to pay a contribution for the cost of care, commitment, and treatment of the youth as required in ~~41-5-523~~
15 [section 35].

16 (2) Before conducting the dispositional hearing, the court shall direct that a social summary or
17 predisposition report be made in writing by a probation officer concerning the youth, the youth's family,
18 the youth's environment, and other matters relevant to the need for care or rehabilitation or disposition of
19 the case. The youth court may have the youth examined, and the results of the examination must be made
20 available to the court as part of the social summary or predisposition report. The court may order the
21 examination of a parent or guardian whose ability to care for or supervise a youth is at issue before the
22 court. The results of the examination must be included in the social summary or predisposition report. The
23 youth or the youth's parents, guardian, or counsel has the right to subpoena all persons who have prepared
24 any portion of the social summary or predisposition report and has the right to cross-examine the parties
25 at the dispositional hearing.

26 (3) Defense counsel must be furnished with a copy of the social summary or predisposition report
27 and psychological report prior to the dispositional hearing.

28 (4) The dispositional hearing must be conducted in the manner set forth in subsections (3), (4), and
29 (5) of 41-5-521. The court shall hear all evidence relevant to a proper disposition of the case best serving
30 the interests of the youth and the public. The evidence must include but is not limited to the social

1 summary and predisposition report provided for in subsection (2) of this section.

2 (5) If the court finds that it is in the best interest of the youth, the youth or the youth's parents
3 or guardian may be temporarily excluded from the hearing during the taking of evidence on the issues of
4 need for treatment and rehabilitation.

5 ~~(6) In determining whether restitution, as authorized by 41-5-523, is appropriate in a particular
6 case, the following factors may be considered in addition to any other evidence:~~

7 ~~(a) age of the youth;~~

8 ~~(b) ability of the youth to pay;~~

9 ~~(c) ability of the parents, legal guardian, or those that contributed to the youth's delinquency or
10 need for supervision to pay;~~

11 ~~(d) amount of damage to the victim; and~~

12 ~~(e) legal remedies of the victim. However, the ability of the victim or the victim's insurer to stand
13 any loss may not be considered in any case."~~

14

15 **Section 28.** Section 41-5-523, MCA, is amended to read:

16 **"41-5-523. Disposition of youth in need of supervision -- ~~sentence to correctional facility --~~**
17 **~~commitment to department -- placement and evaluation of youth -- restrictions.~~** (1) If a youth is found to
18 be a ~~delinquent youth~~ or a youth in need of supervision, the youth court may enter its judgment making
19 one or more of the following dispositions:

20 ~~(a) retain jurisdiction in a disposition provided under subsection (1)(b) or (1)(d);~~

21 ~~(b)(1) place the youth on probation; The youth court retains jurisdiction in a disposition under this~~
22 ~~subsection.~~

23 ~~(c) subject to subsections (1)(n)(ii), (2)(a), (2)(b), and (6), sentence a youth to one of the state~~
24 ~~youth correctional facilities established under 52-5-101 and, as part of the sentence, deny the youth~~
25 ~~eligibility for release without the express approval of the sentencing judge until the youth reaches 18 years~~
26 ~~of age. A youth may not be sentenced to a state youth correctional facility unless the department informs~~
27 ~~the judge that space is available for the youth at that facility. The sentencing judge may not place~~
28 ~~limitations on the release unless recommended by the youth placement committee.~~

29 ~~(d) require a youth found to be delinquent to register as a sex offender pursuant to 46-18-254 and~~
30 ~~46-23-506;~~

1 ~~(e)~~(2) place the youth in an in-state residence that ensures that the youth is accountable, provides
2 for rehabilitation, and protects the public. Before placement, the sentencing judge shall seek and consider
3 placement recommendations from the youth placement committee. The judge may not place the youth in
4 an in-state residence unless the department informs the judge that resources are available for placement
5 of the youth at that residence.

6 ~~(f)~~(3)(a) commit the youth to the department. In an order committing a youth to the department;
7 ~~(h)~~ the court shall determine whether continuation in the youth's own home would be contrary to
8 the welfare of the youth and whether reasonable efforts have been made to prevent or eliminate the need
9 for removal of the youth from the youth's home;

10 (b) The department may not place a youth in need of supervision in a state youth correctional
11 facility.

12 ~~(iii) in the case of a delinquent youth who is determined by the court to be a serious juvenile~~
13 ~~offender, the judge may specify that the youth be placed in a state youth correctional facility if the judge~~
14 ~~finds that the placement is necessary for the protection of the public. The court may order the department~~
15 ~~to notify the court within 5 working days before the proposed release of a youth from a youth correctional~~
16 ~~facility. Once a youth is committed to the department for placement in a state youth correctional facility,~~
17 ~~the department is responsible for determining an appropriate date of release into an appropriate placement.~~

18 ~~(g)~~(4) order restitution by the youth or the youth's parents or guardians, subject to the provisions
19 of [section 37];

20 ~~(h)~~(5) impose a fine as authorized by law if the violation alleged would constitute a criminal offense
21 if committed by an adult;

22 ~~(i)~~(6) require the performance of community service;

23 ~~(j)~~(7) require the youth, the youth's parents or guardians, or the persons having legal custody of
24 the youth to receive counseling services;

25 ~~(k)~~(8) require the medical and psychological evaluation of the youth, the youth's parents or
26 guardians, or the persons having legal custody of the youth;

27 ~~(l)~~(9) require the parents, guardians, or other persons having legal custody of the youth to furnish
28 services the court may designate;

29 ~~(m)~~(10) subject to the provisions of subsection (11), order further care, treatment, evaluation, or
30 relief that the court considers beneficial to the youth and the community and that does not obligate funding

1 from the department for services outside the state of Montana without the department's approval, ~~except~~
 2 ~~that a youth may not be placed by a youth court in a residential treatment facility as defined in 50-5-101.~~
 3 ~~Only the department may, pursuant to subsection (1)(f), place a youth in a residential treatment facility;~~

4 ~~(11) subject to the provisions of [section 31], commit the youth to a mental health facility if,~~
 5 based upon the testimony of a professional person as defined in 53-21-102, the court finds that the youth
 6 is seriously mentally ill as defined in 53-21-102. ~~The youth is entitled to all rights provided by 53-21-114~~
 7 ~~through 53-21-119;~~

8 ~~(i) A youth adjudicated mentally ill or seriously mentally ill as defined in 53-21-102 may not be~~
 9 ~~committed or sentenced to a state youth correctional facility.~~

10 ~~(ii) A youth adjudicated to be mentally ill or seriously mentally ill after placement in or sentencing~~
 11 ~~to a state youth correctional facility must be moved to a more appropriate placement in response to the~~
 12 ~~youth's mental health needs and consistent with the disposition alternatives available in 53-21-127.~~

13 ~~(12) place the youth under home arrest as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10.~~

14 ~~(2) When a youth is committed to the department, the department shall determine the appropriate~~
 15 ~~placement and rehabilitation program for the youth after considering the recommendations made under~~
 16 ~~41-5-527 by the youth placement committee. Placement is subject to the following limitations:~~

17 ~~(a) A youth in need of supervision or adjudicated delinquent for commission of an act that would~~
 18 ~~not be a criminal offense if committed by an adult may not be placed in a state youth correctional facility.~~

19 ~~(b) A youth may not be held in a state youth correctional facility for a period of time in excess of~~
 20 ~~the maximum period of imprisonment that could be imposed on an adult convicted of the offense or~~
 21 ~~offenses that brought the youth under the jurisdiction of the youth court. This section does not limit the~~
 22 ~~power of the department to enter into an aftercare agreement with the youth pursuant to 52-5-126.~~

23 ~~(c) A youth may not be placed in or transferred to a penal institution or other facility used for the~~
 24 ~~execution of sentence of adults convicted of crimes.~~

25 ~~(3) A youth placed in a state youth correctional facility or other facility or program operated by the~~
 26 ~~department or who signs an aftercare agreement under 52-5-126 must be supervised by the department.~~
 27 ~~A youth who is placed in any other placement by the department, the youth court, or the youth court's~~
 28 ~~juvenile probation officer must be supervised by the probation officer of the youth court having jurisdiction~~
 29 ~~over the youth under 41-5-205 whether or not the youth is committed to the department. Supervision by~~
 30 ~~the youth probation officer includes but is not limited to:~~

1 ~~(a) submitting information and documentation necessary for the person, committee, or team that~~
2 ~~is making the placement recommendation to determine an appropriate placement for the youth;~~

3 ~~(b) securing approval for payment of special education costs from the youth's school district of~~
4 ~~residence or the office of public instruction, as required in Title 20, chapter 7, part 4;~~

5 ~~(c) submitting an application to a facility in which the youth may be placed; and~~

6 ~~(d) case management of the youth.~~

7 ~~(4) The youth court may order a youth to receive a medical or psychological evaluation at any time~~
8 ~~prior to final disposition if the youth waives the youth's constitutional rights in the manner provided for in~~
9 ~~41-5-303. The county determined by the court as the residence of the youth is responsible for the cost of~~
10 ~~the evaluation, except as provided in subsection (5). A county may contract with the department or other~~
11 ~~public or private agencies to obtain evaluation services ordered by the court.~~

12 ~~(5) The youth court shall determine the financial ability of the youth's parents to pay the cost of~~
13 ~~an evaluation ordered by the court under subsection (4). If they are financially able, the court shall order~~
14 ~~the youth's parents to pay all or part of the cost of the evaluation.~~

15 ~~(6) The youth court may not order placement or evaluation of a youth at a state youth correctional~~
16 ~~facility unless the youth is found to be a delinquent youth or is alleged to have committed an offense that~~
17 ~~is transferable to criminal court under 41-5-206.~~

18 ~~(7) An evaluation of a youth may not be performed at the Montana state hospital unless the youth~~
19 ~~is transferred to the district court under 41-5-206, 41-5-208, or 41-5-1105.~~

20 ~~(8) An order of the court may be modified at any time. In the case of a youth committed to the~~
21 ~~department, an order pertaining to the youth may be modified only upon notice to the department and~~
22 ~~subsequent hearing.~~

23 ~~(9) Whenever the court commits a youth to the department, it shall transmit with the dispositional~~
24 ~~judgment copies of medical reports, social history material, education records, and any other clinical,~~
25 ~~predisposition, or other reports and information pertinent to the care and treatment of the youth.~~

26 ~~(10) If a youth is committed to the department, the court shall examine the financial ability of the~~
27 ~~youth's parents or guardians to pay a contribution covering all or part of the costs for the care,~~
28 ~~commitment, and treatment of the youth, including the costs of necessary medical, dental, and other health~~
29 ~~care.~~

30 ~~(11) If the court determines that the youth's parents or guardians are financially able to pay a~~

1 ~~contribution as provided in subsection (10), the court shall order the youth's parents or guardians to pay~~
2 ~~an amount based on the uniform child support guidelines adopted by the department of public health and~~
3 ~~human services pursuant to 40-5-209.~~

4 ~~(12) (a) Except as provided in subsection (12)(b), contributions ordered under this section and each~~
5 ~~modification of an existing order are enforceable by immediate or delinquency income withholding, or both,~~
6 ~~under Title 40, chapter 5, part 4. An order for contribution that is inconsistent with this section is~~
7 ~~nevertheless subject to withholding for the payment of the contribution without need for an amendment~~
8 ~~of the support order or for any further action by the court.~~

9 ~~(b) A court ordered exception from contributions under this section must be in writing and be~~
10 ~~included in the order. An exception from the immediate income withholding requirement may be granted~~
11 ~~if the court finds there is:~~

12 ~~(i) good cause not to require immediate income withholding; or~~

13 ~~(ii) an alternative arrangement between the department and the person who is ordered to pay~~
14 ~~contributions.~~

15 ~~(c) A finding of good cause not to require immediate income withholding must, at a minimum, be~~
16 ~~based upon:~~

17 ~~(i) a written determination and explanation by the court of the reasons why the implementation of~~
18 ~~immediate income withholding is not in the best interests of the youth; and~~

19 ~~(ii) proof of timely payment of previously ordered support in cases involving modification of~~
20 ~~contributions ordered under this section.~~

21 ~~(d) An alternative arrangement must:~~

22 ~~(i) provide sufficient security to ensure compliance with the arrangement;~~

23 ~~(ii) be in writing and be signed by a representative of the department and the person required to~~
24 ~~make contributions; and~~

25 ~~(iii) if approved by the court, be entered into the record of the proceeding.~~

26 ~~(13) Upon a showing of a change in the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians to pay,~~
27 ~~the court may modify its order for the payment of contributions required under subsection (11).~~

28 ~~(14) (a) If the court orders the payment of contributions under this section, the department shall~~
29 ~~apply to the department of public health and human services for support enforcement services pursuant~~
30 ~~to Title IV-D of the Social Security Act.~~

1 ~~(b) The department of public health and human services may collect and enforce a contribution~~
 2 ~~order under this section by any means available under law, including the remedies provided for in Title 40,~~
 3 ~~chapter 5, parts 2 and 4."~~

4
 5 **NEW SECTION. Section 29. Disposition of delinquent youth -- restrictions.** (1) If a youth is found
 6 to be a delinquent youth, the youth court may enter its judgment making one or more of the following
 7 dispositions:

8 (a) any one or more of the dispositions provided in 41-5-523;

9 (b) subject to 41-5-523(3)(b), [sections 30(1), 31(2)], and subsection (2) of this section, sentence
 10 a youth to one of the state youth correctional facilities established under 52-5-101 and, as part of the
 11 sentence, deny the youth eligibility for release without the express approval of the sentencing judge until
 12 the youth reaches 18 years of age. A youth may not be sentenced to a state youth correctional facility
 13 unless the department informs the judge that space is available for the youth at that facility. The sentencing
 14 judge may not place limitations on the release unless recommended by the youth placement committee.

15 (c) require a youth found to be delinquent, as the result of the commission of an offense that would
 16 be a violation of 45-5-501 through 45-5-504, 45-5-507, or 45-5-511 if committed by an adult, to register
 17 as a sex offender pursuant to 46-18-254 and 46-23-506. The youth court retains jurisdiction in a
 18 disposition under this subsection.

19 (d) in the case of a delinquent youth who is determined by the court to be a serious juvenile
 20 offender, the judge may specify that the youth be placed in a state youth correctional facility if the judge
 21 finds that the placement is necessary for the protection of the public. The court may order the department
 22 to notify the court within 5 working days before the proposed release of a youth from a youth correctional
 23 facility. Once a youth is committed to the department for placement in a state youth correctional facility,
 24 the department is responsible for determining an appropriate date of release into an appropriate placement.

25 (2) The youth court may not order placement of a youth at a state youth correctional facility unless
 26 the youth is found to be a delinquent youth or is alleged to have committed an offense that is transferable
 27 to criminal court under 41-5-206.

28
 29 **NEW SECTION. Section 30. Disposition -- commitment to department -- restrictions on placement.**
 30 When a youth is committed to the department, the department shall determine the appropriate placement

1 and rehabilitation program for the youth after considering the recommendations made under 41-5-527 by
2 the youth placement committee. Placement is subject to the limitations contained in 41-5-523(3)(b) and
3 the following limitations:

4 (1) A youth may not be held in a state youth correctional facility for a period of time in excess of
5 the maximum period of imprisonment that could be imposed on an adult convicted of the offense or
6 offenses that brought the youth under the jurisdiction of the youth court. This section does not limit the
7 power of the department to enter into an aftercare agreement with the youth pursuant to 52-5-126.

8 (2) A youth may not be placed in or transferred to a penal institution or other facility used for the
9 execution of sentence of adults convicted of crimes.

10 (3) The department may not place a youth adjudicated delinquent for commission of an act that
11 would not be a criminal offense if committed by an adult in a state youth correctional facility.

12
13 **NEW SECTION. Section 31. Disposition -- finding of mentally ill or seriously mentally ill -- rights**
14 **-- limitation on placement.** (1) A youth who is found to be seriously mentally ill as defined in 53-21-102
15 is entitled to all rights provided by 53-21-114 through 53-21-119.

16 (2) A youth who, prior to placement or sentencing, is found to be mentally ill, as defined in
17 41-5-103, or seriously mentally ill, as defined in 53-21-102, may not be committed or sentenced to a state
18 youth correctional facility.

19 (3) A youth who is found to be mentally ill or seriously mentally ill after placement in or sentencing
20 to a state youth correctional facility must be moved to a more appropriate placement in response to the
21 youth's mental health needs and consistent with the disposition alternatives available in 53-21-127.

22
23 **NEW SECTION. Section 32. Disposition -- commitment to department -- supervision.** (1) A youth
24 placed in a state youth correctional facility or other facility or program operated by the department or who
25 signs an aftercare agreement under 52-5-126 must be supervised by the department.

26 (2) A youth who is placed in any other placement by the department, the youth court, or the youth
27 court's juvenile probation officer must be supervised by the probation officer of the youth court having
28 jurisdiction over the youth under 41-5-205 whether or not the youth is committed to the department.
29 Supervision by the youth probation officer includes but is not limited to:

30 (a) submitting information and documentation necessary for the person, committee, or team that

1 is making the placement recommendation to determine an appropriate placement for the youth;

2 (b) securing approval for payment of special education costs from the youth's school district of
3 residence or the office of public instruction, as required in Title 20, chapter 7, part 4;

4 (c) submitting an application to a facility in which the youth may be placed; and

5 (d) case management of the youth.

6
7 **NEW SECTION. Section 33. Disposition -- commitment to department -- transfer of records.**

8 Whenever the court commits a youth to the department, it shall transmit with the dispositional judgment
9 copies of medical reports, social history material, education records, and any other clinical, predisposition,
10 or other reports and information pertinent to the care and treatment of the youth.

11
12 **NEW SECTION. Section 34. Modification of court orders -- notice to department -- hearing. (1)**

13 An order of the court may be modified at any time.

14 (2) In the case of a youth committed to the department, an order pertaining to the youth may be
15 modified only upon notice to the department and subsequent hearing.

16
17 **NEW SECTION. Section 35. Contribution for costs -- order for contribution -- exceptions --**

18 **collection.** (1) If a youth is committed to the department, the court shall examine the financial ability of
19 the youth's parents or guardians to pay a contribution covering all or part of the costs for the care,
20 commitment, and treatment of the youth, including the costs of necessary medical, dental, and other health
21 care.

22 (2) If the court determines that the youth's parents or guardians are financially able to pay a
23 contribution as provided in subsection (1), the court shall order the youth's parents or guardians to pay an
24 amount based on the uniform child support guidelines adopted by the department of public health and
25 human services pursuant to 40-5-209.

26 (3) (a) Except as provided in subsection (3)(b), contributions ordered under 41-5-403 and this
27 section and each modification of an existing order are enforceable by immediate or delinquency income
28 withholding, or both, under Title 40, chapter 5, part 4. An order for contribution that is inconsistent with
29 this section is nevertheless subject to withholding for the payment of the contribution without need for an
30 amendment of the support order or for any further action by the court.

1 (b) A court-ordered exception from contributions under 41-5-403 or this section must be in writing
2 and must be included in the order. An exception from the immediate income withholding requirement may
3 be granted if the court finds that there is:

4 (i) good cause not to require immediate income withholding; or

5 (ii) an alternative arrangement between the department and the person who is ordered to pay
6 contributions.

7 (c) A finding of good cause not to require immediate income withholding must, at a minimum, be
8 based upon:

9 (i) a written determination and explanation by the court of the reasons why the implementation of
10 immediate income withholding is not in the best interests of the youth; and

11 (ii) proof of timely payment of previously ordered support in cases involving modification of
12 contributions ordered under this section.

13 (d) An alternative arrangement must:

14 (i) provide sufficient security to ensure compliance with the arrangement;

15 (ii) be in writing and be signed by a representative of the department and the person required to
16 make contributions; and

17 (iii) if approved by the court, be entered into the record of the proceeding.

18 (4) Upon a showing of a change in the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians to pay,
19 the court may modify its order for the payment of contributions required under 41-5-403 or subsection (2).

20 (5) (a) If the court orders the payment of contributions under 41-5-403 or this section, the
21 department shall apply to the department of public health and human services for support enforcement
22 services pursuant to Title IV-D of the Social Security Act.

23 (b) The department of public health and human services may collect and enforce a contribution
24 order under 41-5-403 or this section by any means available under law, including the remedies provided
25 for in Title 40, chapter 5, parts 2 and 4.

26

27 **NEW SECTION. Section 36. Disposition -- medical or psychological evaluation of youth -- costs.**

28 (1) The youth court may order a youth to receive a medical or psychological evaluation at any time prior
29 to final disposition if the youth waives the youth's constitutional rights in the manner provided for in
30 41-5-303. Except as provided in subsection (2), the county determined by the court as the residence of

1 the youth is responsible for the cost of the evaluation. A county may contract with the department or other
2 public or private agencies to obtain evaluation services ordered by the court.

3 (2) The youth court shall determine the financial ability of the youth's parents or guardians to pay
4 the cost of an evaluation ordered by the court under subsection (1). If they are financially able, the court
5 shall order the youth's parents or guardians to pay all or part of the cost of the evaluation.

6 (3) The youth court may not order evaluation of a youth at a state youth correctional facility unless
7 the youth is found to be a delinquent youth or is alleged to have committed an offense that is transferable
8 to district court under 41-5-206.

9 (4) An evaluation of a youth may not be performed at the Montana state hospital unless the youth
10 is transferred to the district court under 41-5-206, 41-5-208, or 41-5-1105.

11

12 **NEW SECTION. Section 37. Restitution.** (1) In determining whether restitution, as authorized by
13 41-5-403 and 41-5-523, is appropriate in a particular case, the following factors may be considered in
14 addition to any other evidence:

15 (a) age of the youth;

16 (b) ability of the youth to pay;

17 (c) ability of the parents, legal guardian, or those that contributed to the youth's delinquency or
18 need for supervision to pay;

19 (d) amount of damage to the victim; and

20 (e) legal remedies of the victim. However, the ability of the victim or the victim's insurer to stand
21 any loss may not be considered in any case.

22 (2) Restitution paid by a youth or a youth's parents or guardians is subject to subrogation as
23 provided in 46-18-248.

24

25 **Section 38.** Section 41-5-525, MCA, is amended to read:

26 **"41-5-525. Youth placement committees -- composition.** (1) In each judicial district, the
27 department shall establish a youth placement committee for the purposes of:

28 (a) recommending an appropriate placement of a youth referred to the department under 41-5-403;

29 or

30 (b) recommending available community services or alternative placements whenever a change is

1 required in the placement of a youth who is currently in the custody of the department under 41-5-523 or
2 [section 29]. However, the committee may not substitute its judgment for that of the superintendent of a
3 state youth correctional facility regarding the discharge of a youth from the facility.

4 (2) The committee consists of not less than five members and must include persons who are
5 knowledgeable about the youth, treatment and placement options, and other resources appropriate to
6 address the needs of the youth. Members may include:

7 (a) two representatives of the department;

8 (b) a representative of the department of public health and human services;

9 (c) either the chief probation officer or the youth's probation officer;

10 (d) a mental health professional;

11 (e) a representative of a school district located within the boundaries of the judicial district;

12 (f) if an Indian child or children are involved, someone, preferably an Indian person, knowledgeable
13 about Indian culture and family matters;

14 (g) a parent or guardian; and

15 (h) a youth services provider.

16 (3) Committee members serve without compensation.

17 (4) Notwithstanding the provisions of 41-5-527, the committee may be convened by the
18 department or the probation officer of the youth court."
19

20 **Section 39.** Section 41-5-527, MCA, is amended to read:

21 **"41-5-527. Youth placement committee to submit recommendation to department -- acceptance**
22 **or rejection of recommendation by department.** (1) Prior to commitment of a youth to the department
23 pursuant to 41-5-523 or [section 29], a youth placement committee must be convened. The committee
24 shall submit in writing to the department and to the youth court judge its primary and alternative
25 recommendations for placement of the youth.

26 (2) If the department accepts either of the committee's recommendations, it shall promptly notify
27 the committee in writing.

28 (3) If the department rejects both of the committee's recommendations, it shall promptly notify the
29 committee in writing of the reasons for rejecting the recommendations and shall make an appropriate
30 placement for the youth.

1 (4) Within 72 hours after making a decision on a placement or change of placement, the
2 department shall notify the youth court of the decision and of the placement or change of placement."

3
4 **Section 40.** Section 41-5-530, MCA, is amended to read:

5 **"41-5-530. Parental contributions account -- allocation of proceeds.** (1) There is a parental
6 contributions account in the state special revenue fund.

7 (2) Contributions paid by the parents and guardians of youth under 41-3-406, 41-5-403, ~~41-5-523~~
8 [section 35], or 41-5-524 must be deposited in the account.

9 (3) All money in the account, except any amount required to be returned to federal or county
10 sources, is allocated to the department of public health and human services to carry out its duties under
11 52-1-103."

12
13 **Section 41.** Section 41-5-1004, MCA, is amended to read:

14 **"41-5-1004. Distribution of grants -- limitation of funding -- restrictions on use.** (1) The board shall
15 award grants on an equitable basis, giving preference to services that will be used on a regional basis.

16 (2) The board shall award grants to eligible counties:

17 (a) in a block grant in an amount not to exceed 50% of the approved, estimated cost of secure
18 detention; or

19 (b) on a matching basis in an amount not to exceed:

20 (i) 75% of the approved cost of providing holdovers, attendant care, and other alternatives to
21 secure detention, except for shelter care. Shelter care must be paid as provided by law.

22 (ii) 50% of the approved cost of programs for the transportation of youth to appropriate detention
23 or shelter care facilities, including regional detention facilities.

24 (3) Based on funding available after the board has funded block grants under subsection (2), the
25 board shall, in cases of extreme hardship in which the transfer of youth court cases to the adult system
26 has placed considerable financial strain on a county's resources, award grants to eligible counties to fund
27 up to 75% of the actual costs of secure detention of youth awaiting transfer. Hardship cases will be
28 addressed at the end of the fiscal year and will be awarded by the board based upon a consideration of the
29 applicant county's past 3 years' expenditures for youth detention and upon consideration of the particular
30 case or cases that created the hardship expenditure for which the hardship grant is requested.

1 (4) Grants under 41-5-1002 may not be used to pay for the cost of youth evaluations. The cost
2 of evaluations must be paid as provided for in ~~41-5-523~~ [section 36]."

3
4 **Section 42.** Section 41-5-1104, MCA, is amended to read:

5 "**41-5-1104. Disposition in extended jurisdiction prosecutions.** (1) If a youth in an extended
6 jurisdiction prosecution pleads guilty to or is found guilty of an offense described in 41-5-1102(1)(b), the
7 court shall:

8 (a) impose one or more juvenile dispositions under ~~41-5-523~~ [section 29]; and

9 (b) impose an adult criminal sentence, the execution of which must be stayed on the condition that
10 the youth not violate the provisions of the disposition order and not commit a new offense. If the youth
11 violates the conditions of the stay or commits a new offense, the adult criminal sentence must be executed
12 as provided in 41-5-1105.

13 (2) Except as provided in subsection (3), if a youth in an extended jurisdiction prosecution is
14 convicted of an offense not described in 41-5-1102(1)(b), the court shall adjudicate the youth delinquent
15 and order a disposition under ~~41-5-523~~ [section 29].

16 (3) If a youth in an extended jurisdiction prosecution pleads guilty to an offense not described in
17 41-5-1102(1)(b), the court may impose, with the youth's consent, a disposition provided under subsection
18 (1)(b) of this section. If the youth does not consent to disposition under subsection (1)(b), the court shall
19 impose a disposition as provided under subsection (2)."

20
21 **Section 43.** Section 46-24-207, MCA, is amended to read:

22 "**46-24-207. Victims and witnesses of juvenile felony offenses -- consultation -- notification of**
23 **proceedings.** (1) The attorney general shall ensure that the services and assistance that must be provided
24 under this chapter to a victim or witness of a crime are also provided to the victim or witness of a juvenile
25 felony offense.

26 (2) In a proceeding filed under Title 41, chapter 5, part ~~514 or 15~~, the county attorney or a
27 designee shall consult with the victim of a juvenile felony offense or, in the case of a minor victim or a
28 homicide victim, with the victim's family regarding the disposition of the case, including:

29 (a) a dismissal of the petition filed under 41-5-501;

30 (b) a reduction of the charge to misdemeanor;

- 1 (c) the release of the youth from detention or shelter care pending the adjudicatory hearing; and
2 (d) the disposition of the youth.

3 (3) (a) Whenever possible, a person described in subsection (3)(b) who provides the youth court
4 with a current address and telephone number must receive prompt advance notification of youth court case
5 proceedings, including:

6 (i) the filing of a petition under 41-5-501;

7 (ii) the release of the youth from detention or shelter care; and

8 (iii) proceedings in the adjudication of the petition, including, when applicable, entry of a consent
9 decree under 41-5-524, the setting of a date for the adjudicatory hearing under 41-5-521, the setting of
10 a date for the dispositional hearing under 41-5-522, the disposition made, and the release of the youth from
11 a youth correctional facility.

12 (b) A person entitled to notification under this subsection (3) must be a victim of a juvenile felony
13 offense, an adult relative of the victim if the victim is a minor, or an adult relative of a homicide victim.

14 (c) The court shall provide to the department the list of people entitled to notification under this
15 subsection (3), and the department is responsible to provide the notification.

16 (4) For purposes of this section, "juvenile felony offense" means an offense committed by a
17 juvenile that, if committed by an adult, would constitute a felony offense. The term includes any offense
18 for which a juvenile may be declared a serious juvenile offender, as defined in 41-5-103."

19

20 **Section 44.** Section 52-5-129, MCA, is amended to read:

21 **"52-5-129. Hearing on alleged violation of aftercare agreement -- right to appeal outcome.** (1)

22 When it is alleged by an aftercare counselor that a youth has violated the terms of the youth's aftercare
23 agreement, the youth must be granted a hearing at the site of the alleged violation or in the county in which
24 the youth is residing or is found within 10 days after notice has been served on the youth or the youth is
25 detained, whichever is earlier. The purpose of the hearing is to determine whether the youth committed the
26 violation and, if so, whether the violation is of such a nature that the youth should be returned to the youth
27 correctional facility from which the youth was released or a different plan for treatment should be pursued
28 by the department of corrections.

29 (2) The youth, upon advice of an attorney, may waive the right to a hearing.

30 (3) With regard to this hearing, the youth must be given:

1 (a) written notice of the alleged violation of the aftercare agreement, including notice of the
2 purpose of the hearing;

3 (b) a disclosure of the evidence against the youth and the facts constituting the alleged violation;

4 (c) the opportunity to be heard in person and to present witnesses and documentary evidence to
5 controvert the evidence against the youth and to show that there are compelling reasons that justify or
6 mitigate the violation;

7 (d) the opportunity to have the ~~referee~~ hearings officer subpoena witnesses;

8 (e) the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses;

9 (f) the right to be represented by an attorney;

10 (g) a record of the hearing; and

11 (h) notice that a written statement as to the evidence relied upon in reaching the final decision and
12 the reasons for the final decision will be provided by the ~~referee~~ hearings officer.

13 (4) The department shall appoint a ~~referee~~ hearings officer, who may not be an employee of the
14 department, to conduct the hearing. In the conduct of the hearing, the department may request the county
15 attorney's assistance as necessary. The department shall adopt rules necessary to effect a prompt and full
16 review.

17 (5) If the ~~referee~~ hearings officer finds, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the youth did in
18 fact commit the violation, the ~~referee~~ hearings officer shall make a recommendation to the department for
19 the placement of the youth. In making this recommendation, the ~~referee~~ hearings officer may consider
20 mitigating circumstances. Final approval rests with the department and must be made within 10 days of
21 the ~~referee's~~ hearings officer's recommendation.

22 (6) The youth may appeal from the decision at the hearing to the district court of the county in
23 which the hearing was held by serving and filing a notice of appeal with the court within 10 days of the
24 department's decision. The youth may obtain a written transcript of the hearing from the department by
25 giving written notice of appeal. The district court, upon receipt of a notice of appeal, shall order the
26 department to promptly certify to the court a record of all proceedings before the department and shall
27 proceed to a prompt hearing on the appeal based upon the record on appeal. The decision of the
28 department may not be altered except for abuse of discretion or manifest injustice.

29 (7) Pending the hearing on a violation and pending the department's decision, a youth may not be
30 detained except when the youth's detention or care is required to protect the person or property of the

1 youth or of others or the youth may abscond or be removed from the community. The department shall
 2 determine the place and manner of detention and is responsible for the cost of the detention. Procedures
 3 for taking into custody and detention of a youth charged with violation of the youth's aftercare agreement
 4 are as provided in 41-5-303, 41-5-306, 41-5-311, ~~and 41-5-314~~, [sections 12 through 14], and [sections
 5 18 through 21].

6 (8) If the decision is made to return the youth to the youth correctional facility from which the
 7 youth was released and the youth appeals that decision, the youth shall await the outcome of the appeal
 8 at the facility."

9
 10 **Section 45.** Section 53-9-107, MCA, is amended to read:

11 **"53-9-107. Public inspection and disclosure of division's records.** (1) Except as provided in
 12 subsections (2) and (3), the records the division maintains in its possession in the administration of this part
 13 are open to public inspection and disclosure.

14 (2) Confidential criminal justice information obtained by the division is subject to the confidentiality
 15 provisions of the Montana Criminal Justice Information Act of 1979, Title 44, chapter 5. ~~Information~~
 16 ~~regarding youth court proceedings obtained by the division is subject to the confidentiality provisions of~~
 17 ~~Title 41, chapter 5, part 6.~~

18 (3) In assuring that the right of individual privacy so essential to the well-being of a free society
 19 may not be infringed without the showing of a compelling state interest, the following public records of the
 20 division are exempt from disclosure:

21 (a) information of a personal nature, such as personal, medical, or similar information, if the public
 22 disclosure thereof would constitute an unreasonable invasion of privacy, unless the public interest by clear
 23 and convincing evidence requires disclosure in the particular instance. The party seeking disclosure shall
 24 ~~have~~ has the burden of showing that public disclosure would not constitute an unreasonable invasion of
 25 privacy.

26 (b) any public records or information, the disclosure of which is prohibited by federal law or
 27 regulations.

28 (4) If any public record of the division contains material ~~which~~ that is not exempt under subsection
 29 (3), as well as material ~~which~~ that is exempt from disclosure, the division shall separate the exempt and
 30 nonexempt and make the nonexempt material available for examination."

1 **NEW SECTION. Section 46. Repealer.** Sections 41-5-310 and 41-5-312, MCA, are repealed.

2
3 **NEW SECTION. Section 47. Code commissioner instructions.** (1)(a) The code commissioner is
4 instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter 5, part 1: 41-5-207, 41-5-525,
5 41-5-526, 41-5-527, 41-5-528, 41-5-529, 41-5-530.

6 (b) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
7 5, part 2: 41-5-603, 41-5-604, 41-5-605.

8 (c) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber sections in Title 41, chapter 5, part 3, to
9 achieve a logical sequence.

10 (d) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
11 5, part 12: 41-5-301, 41-5-304.

12 (e) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
13 5, part 13: 41-5-401, 41-5-402, 41-5-403.

14 (f) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
15 5, part 14: 41-5-202, 41-5-501, 41-5-502, 41-5-503, 41-5-511, 41-5-512, 41-5-513, 41-5-514,
16 41-5-515, 41-5-524, 41-5-531, 41-5-532.

17 (g) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
18 5, part 15: 41-5-521, 41-5-522, 41-5-523, 41-5-533.

19 (h) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
20 5, part 16: 41-5-1101, 41-5-1102, 41-5-1103, 41-5-1104, 41-5-1105.

21 (i) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
22 5, part 17: 41-5-701, 41-5-702, 41-5-703, 41-5-704, 41-5-705, 41-5-706.

23 (j) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
24 5, part 18: 41-5-802, 41-5-809, 41-5-810, 41-5-811, 41-5-812, 41-5-813, 41-5-814.

25 (k) The code commissioner is instructed to renumber the following sections into Title 41, chapter
26 5, part 19: 41-5-1001, 41-5-1002, 41-5-1003, 41-5-1004, 41-5-1005, 41-5-1006, 41-5-1007,
27 41-5-1008.

28 (2) The code commissioner is instructed to implement 1-11-101(2)(g)(ii) by correcting any clearly
29 inaccurate references to or in sections of the Montana Code Annotated caused by the renumbering required
30 by this section, including material enacted by the 55th legislature.

1 **NEW SECTION. Section 48. Codification instruction.** (1) [Sections 12 through 14, 16, and 18
2 through 21] are intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5, part 3, and the provisions
3 of Title 41, chapter 5, part 3, apply to [sections 12 through 14, 16, and 18 through 21].

4 (2) [Sections 6 through 8] are intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5, part
5 12, and the provisions of Title 41, chapter 5, part 12, apply to [sections 6 through 8].

6 (3) [Section 9] is intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5, part 13, and the
7 provisions of Title 41, chapter 5, part 13, apply to [section 9].

8 (4) [Section 10] is intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5, part 14, and
9 the provisions of Title 41, chapter 5, part 14, apply to [section 10].

10 (5) [Sections 29 through 37] are intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 41, chapter 5,
11 part 15, and the provisions of Title 41, chapter 5, part 15, apply to [sections 29 through 37].

12

13 **NEW SECTION. Section 49. Coordination instruction.** (1) If ___ Bill No. ___ [LC 224] is passed
14 and approved and if it includes a section that amends 41-5-523(3)(b), then the code commissioner is
15 instructed to compile the two provisions to retain the structure of [this act] and the substantive changes
16 of ___ Bill No. ___ [LC 224].

17 (2) If ___ Bill No. ___ [LC 222] is passed and approved and if it includes a section that amends
18 41-5-523(2)(b), then the code commissioner is instructed to compile the two provisions to retain the
19 structure of [this act] and the substantive changes of ___ Bill No. ___ [LC 222].

20 **(3) IF SENATE BILL NO. 48 AND THIS BILL ARE BOTH PASSED AND APPROVED:**

21 **(A) ANY REFERENCE IN THIS BILL TO [SECTION 29] IS VOID, AND THE REFERENCE MUST BE**
22 **CHANGED TO REFLECT [SECTION 34] IN SENATE BILL NO. 48 IN THE SECOND READING COPY OF THE**
23 **SECOND HOUSE;**

24 **(B) ANY REFERENCE TO [SECTION 35] IN THIS BILL IS VOID, AND THE REFERENCE MUST BE**
25 **CHANGED TO REFLECT [SECTION 41] IN SENATE BILL NO. 48 IN THE SECOND READING COPY OF THE**
26 **SECOND HOUSE;**

27 **(C) ANY REFERENCE TO [SECTION 36] IN THIS BILL IS VOID, AND THE REFERENCE MUST BE**
28 **CHANGED TO REFLECT [SECTION 39] IN SENATE BILL NO. 48 IN THE SECOND READING COPY OF THE**
29 **SECOND HOUSE;**

30 **(D) SECTIONS AMENDING 41-5-301, 41-5-303, 41-5-305, 41-5-306, AND 41-5-530, IN SENATE**

1 BILL NO. 48, SECOND READING COPY OF THE SECOND HOUSE ARE VOID;

2 (E) SECTIONS AMENDING 41-5-403, 41-5-523, 41-5-1004, AND 41-5-1104 AND [SECTIONS 29,
3 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, AND 48(5)] IN THIS BILL, FIRST READING COPY, ARE VOID;

4 (F) THE FOLLOWING SECTIONS IN THIS BILL MUST READ AS FOLLOWS:

5 "Section 5. Section 41-5-301, MCA, is amended to read:

6 "41-5-301. Preliminary investigation and disposition inquiry -- referral of youth in need of care. (1)

7 Whenever the court receives information from ~~any~~ an agency or person, based upon reasonable grounds,
8 that a youth is or appears to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of ~~supervision~~ intervention or, ~~being~~
9 that the youth is subject to a court order or consent order, and has violated the terms of an order, a
10 probation officer or an assessment officer shall make a preliminary inquiry into the matter.

11 ~~(2) The probation officer may:~~

12 ~~(a) require the presence of any person relevant to the inquiry;~~

13 ~~(b) request subpoenas from the judge to accomplish this purpose;~~

14 ~~(c) require investigation of the matter by any law enforcement agency or any other appropriate~~
15 ~~state or local agency.~~

16 ~~(3)~~(2) If the probation officer or assessment officer determines that the facts indicate that the youth
17 is a youth in need of care, the matter must be immediately referred to the department of public health and
18 human services.

19 ~~(4) (a) The probation officer in the conduct of the preliminary inquiry shall:~~

20 ~~(i) advise the youth of the youth's rights under this chapter and the constitutions of the state of~~
21 ~~Montana and the United States;~~

22 ~~(ii) determine whether the matter is within the jurisdiction of the court;~~

23 ~~(iii) determine, if the youth is in detention or shelter care, whether detention or shelter care should~~
24 ~~be continued based upon criteria set forth in 41-5-305.~~

25 ~~(b) Once relevant information is secured, the probation officer shall:~~

26 ~~(i) determine whether the interest of the public or the youth requires that further action be taken;~~

27 ~~(ii) terminate the inquiry upon the determination that no further action be taken; and~~

28 ~~(iii) release the youth immediately upon the determination that the filing of a petition is not~~
29 ~~authorized.~~

30 ~~(5) The probation officer upon determining that further action is required may:~~

1 ~~(a) provide counseling, refer the youth and the youth's parents to another agency providing~~
 2 ~~appropriate services, or take any other action or make any informal adjustment that does not involve~~
 3 ~~probation or detention;~~

4 ~~(b) provide for treatment or adjustment involving probation or other disposition authorized under~~
 5 ~~41-5-401 through 41-5-403 if the treatment or adjustment is voluntarily accepted by the youth's parents~~
 6 ~~or guardian and the youth, if the matter is referred immediately to the county attorney for review, and if~~
 7 ~~the probation officer proceeds no further unless authorized by the county attorney; or~~

8 ~~(c) refer the matter to the county attorney for filing a petition charging the youth to be a delinquent~~
 9 ~~youth or a youth in need of supervision.~~

10 ~~(6) The county attorney may apply to the youth court for permission to file a petition charging a~~
 11 ~~youth to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of supervision. The application must be supported by~~
 12 ~~evidence that the youth court may require. If it appears that there is probable cause to believe that the~~
 13 ~~allegations of the petition are true, the youth court shall grant leave to file the petition.~~

14 ~~(7) A petition charging a youth held in detention must be filed within 7 working days from the date~~
 15 ~~the youth was first taken into custody or the petition must be dismissed and the youth released unless good~~
 16 ~~cause is shown to further detain the youth.~~

17 ~~(8) If a petition is not filed under this section, the complainant and victim, if any, must be informed~~
 18 ~~by the probation officer of the action and the reasons for not filing and must be advised of the right to~~
 19 ~~submit the matter to the county attorney for review. The county attorney, upon receiving a request for~~
 20 ~~review, shall consider the facts, consult with the probation officer, and make the final decision as to~~
 21 ~~whether a petition is filed."~~

22 **NEW SECTION. Section 6. Preliminary inquiry -- procedure -- youth assessment.** (1) In conducting
 23 a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the probation officer or assessment officer shall:

24 (a) advise the youth of the youth's rights under this chapter and the constitutions of the state of
 25 Montana and the United States;

26 (b) determine whether the matter is within the jurisdiction of the court;

27 (c) determine, if the youth is in detention, a youth assessment center, or shelter care, whether
 28 detention, placement in a youth assessment center, or shelter care should be continued or modified based
 29 upon criteria set forth in 41-5-305, [section 16], and [section 47].

30 (2) In conducting a preliminary inquiry, the probation officer or assessment officer may:

1 (a) require the presence of any person relevant to the inquiry;

2 (b) request subpoenas from the judge to accomplish this purpose;

3 (c) require investigation of the matter by any law enforcement agency or any other appropriate
4 state or local agency;

5 (d) perform a youth assessment pursuant to [section 46].

6 (3) The probation officer or assessment officer shall collect the following information regarding a
7 youth:

8 (a) biographical data;

9 (b) a description of prior and current offenses, including criminal history;

10 (c) a listing of known or suspected associates;

11 (d) any gang or drug involvement;

12 (e) field investigation data;

13 (f) motor vehicle ownership and offense data, if any;

14 (g) whether the youth is a suspect in other criminal investigations;

15 (h) history of any victimization of others by the youth;

16 (i) the youth's status offense history;

17 (j) existence of active warrants;

18 (k) school, employment, and family histories;

19 (l) social and medical services histories;

20 (m) prior conduct in a youth detention or correctional facility, if any.

21 **NEW SECTION. Section 7. Preliminary inquiry -- determinations -- release.** Once relevant
22 information is secured after a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the probation officer or assessment
23 officer shall:

24 (1) determine whether the interest of the public or the youth requires that further action be taken;

25 (2) terminate the inquiry upon the determination that no further action be taken; and

26 (3) release the youth immediately upon the determination that the filing of a petition is not
27 authorized.

28 **NEW SECTION. Section 8. Preliminary inquiry -- dispositions available to probation officer.** Upon
29 determining that further action is required after a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the probation officer
30 or assessment officer may:

1 (1) arrange informal disposition as provided in [section 9]; or

2 (2) refer the matter to the county attorney for filing a petition in youth court charging the youth
3 to be a delinquent youth or a youth in need of intervention or for filing an information in the district court
4 as provided in 41-5-206.

5 **NEW SECTION. Section 9. Informal disposition.** After a preliminary inquiry under 41-5-301, the
6 probation officer or assessment officer upon determining that further action is required and that referral to
7 the county attorney is not required may:

8 (1) provide counseling, refer the youth and the youth's family to another agency providing
9 appropriate services, or take any other action or make any informal adjustment that does not involve
10 probation or detention; or

11 (2) provide for treatment or adjustment involving probation or other disposition authorized under
12 41-5-401 through 41-5-403 if the treatment or adjustment is voluntarily accepted by the youth's parents
13 or guardian and the youth, if the matter is referred immediately to the county attorney for review, and if
14 the probation officer or assessment officer proceeds no further unless authorized by the county attorney.

15 **NEW SECTION. Section 10. Petition -- county attorney -- procedure -- release from custody.** (1)
16 The county attorney may apply to the youth court for permission to file a petition charging a youth to be
17 a delinquent youth or a youth in need of intervention. The application must be supported by evidence that
18 the youth court may require. If it appears that there is probable cause to believe that the allegations of the
19 petition are true, the youth court shall grant leave to file the petition.

20 (2) A petition charging a youth who is held in detention or a youth assessment center must be filed
21 within 7 working days from the date the youth was first taken into custody or the petition must be
22 dismissed and the youth released unless good cause is shown to further detain the youth.

23 (3) If a petition is not filed under this section, the complainant and victim, if any, must be informed
24 by the probation officer or assessment officer of the action and the reasons for not filing and must be
25 advised of the right to submit the matter to the county attorney for review. The county attorney, upon
26 receiving a request for review, shall consider the facts, consult with the probation officer or assessment
27 officer, and make the final decision as to whether a petition is filed.

28 **NEW SECTION. Section 14. Custody -- hearing for probable cause -- determinations -- detention**
29 **-- release.** (1) If, at a probable cause hearing held pursuant to [section 12], it is determined that there is
30 probable cause to believe that the youth is a delinquent youth or a youth in need of intervention, the court

1 having jurisdiction in the case shall determine whether the youth should be retained in custody. If the court
 2 determines that continued custody of the youth is necessary and if the youth meets the criteria in
 3 41-5-305, [section 16], or [section 47], the youth may be placed in a detention facility, a youth assessment
 4 center, or a shelter care facility as provided in [sections 18 through 21] but may not be placed in a jail or
 5 other facility used for the confinement of adults accused or convicted of criminal offenses.

6 (2) If probable cause is not found or if a probable cause hearing is not held within the time specified
 7 in [section 12], the youth must be immediately released from custody.

8 **Section 17.** Section 41-5-306, MCA, is amended to read:

9 "**41-5-306. ~~Place of shelter care or detention~~ Limitation on placement of youth in need of care.**

10 ~~(1) After a probable cause hearing provided for in 41-5-303, a youth alleged to be a youth in need of~~
 11 ~~supervision may be placed only:~~

12 ~~(a) in a licensed youth foster home as defined in 41-3-1102;~~

13 ~~(b) in a facility operated by a licensed child welfare agency;~~

14 ~~(c) in a licensed youth group home as defined in 41-3-1102; or~~

15 ~~(d) under home arrest, either in the youth's own home or in one of the facilities described in~~
 16 ~~subsections (1)(a) through (1)(c), as provided in Title 46, chapter 18, part 10.~~

17 ~~(2) A youth alleged to be a youth in need of care may be placed only in the facilities listed in~~
 18 ~~subsection (1) by the department of public health and human services as provided in Title 41, chapter 3,~~
 19 ~~and may not be placed in a youth assessment center, youth detention facility, jail, or other facility intended~~
 20 ~~or used for the confinement of adults accused or convicted of criminal offenses.~~

21 ~~(3) After a probable cause hearing provided for in 41-5-303, a youth alleged to be a delinquent~~
 22 ~~youth may be placed only:~~

23 ~~(a) in the facilities described in subsection (1);~~

24 ~~(b) under home arrest as provided in subsection (1);~~

25 ~~(c) in a short term detention center;~~

26 ~~(d) in a youth detention facility; or~~

27 ~~(e) in a community youth court program."~~

28 **NEW SECTION. Section 20. Place of shelter care.** Placement in shelter care means placement in
 29 one of the following:

30 (1) in a licensed youth care facility as defined in 41-3-1102; or

1 (2) under home arrest, with or without a monitoring device, as provided in Title 46, chapter 18,
2 part 10, either in the youth's own home or in a facility described in subsection (1).

3 (3) All money in the account, except any amount required to be returned to federal or county
4 sources, is allocated to the department of public health and human services to carry out its duties under
5 52-1-103."

6 **Section 40:** Section 41-5-530, MCA, is amended to read:

7 **"41-5-530. Parental contributions account -- allocation of proceeds.** (1) There is a parental
8 contributions account in the state special revenue fund.

9 (2) Contributions paid by the parents and guardians of youth under 41-3-406, ~~41-5-403, 41-5-523~~
10 [section 35 41 of Senate Bill No. 48, second reading copy of the second house], or 41-5-524 must be
11 deposited in the account.

12 (3) All money in the account, except any amount required to be returned to federal or county
13 sources, is allocated to the department of public health and human services to carry out its duties under
14 52-1-103."

15 (G) THIS SECTION MUST BE PLACED IN HOUSE BILL NO. 114 AND IS INTENDED TO BE CODIFIED
16 IN TITLE 41, CHAPTER 5, PART 12, AND THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 41, CHAPTER 5, PART 12, APPLY
17 TO THIS SECTION:

18 **"NEW SECTION. Section 46. Preliminary inquiry -- youth assessment.** (1) The probation officer
19 or assessment officer may perform a youth assessment if:

20 (a) a youth has been referred to the youth court as an alleged youth in need of intervention with
21 a minimum of two misdemeanor offenses or three offenses that would not be offenses if the youth were
22 an adult in the past year; or

23 (b) the youth or the youth's parent or guardian requests the youth assessment and both the youth
24 and the parent or guardian are willing to cooperate with the assessment process.

25 (2) A youth assessment:

26 (a) must be a multidisciplinary effort that may include, but is not limited to a chemical dependency
27 evaluation of the youth, an educational assessment of the youth, an evaluation to determine if the youth
28 has mental health needs, or an assessment of the need for any family-based services or other services
29 provided by the department of public health and human services or other state and local agencies. The
30 education component of the youth assessment is intended to address attendance, behavior, and

1 performance issues of the youth. The education component is not intended to interfere with the right to
 2 attend a nonpublic or home school that complies with 20-5-109.

3 (b) must include a summary of the family's strengths and needs as they relate to addressing the
 4 youth's behavior;

5 (c) may occur in a youth's home, with or without electronic monitoring, or pursuant to 41-5-305
 6 in a youth assessment center licensed by the department of public health and human services or in any
 7 other entity licensed by the department of public health and human services. The county shall provide
 8 adequate security in other licensed entities through provision of additional staff or electronic monitoring.
 9 The staff provided by the county must meet licensing requirements applicable to the licensed entity in
 10 which the youth is being held.

11 (3) The assessment officer arranging the youth assessment shall work with the parent or guardian
 12 of the youth to coordinate the performance of the various parts of the assessment with any providers that
 13 may already be working with the family or providers that are chosen by the family to the extent possible
 14 to meet the goals of the Youth Court Act."

15 (H) THIS SECTION MUST BE PLACED IN HOUSE BILL NO. 114 AND IS INTENDED TO BE CODIFIED
 16 IN TITLE 41, CHAPTER 5, PART 3, AND THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 41, CHAPTER 5, PART 3, APPLY TO
 17 THIS SECTION:

18 "NEW SECTION. Section 47. Criteria for placement of youth in youth assessment centers. A
 19 youth may be placed in a youth assessment center only if:

20 (1) the youth meets the requirements for placement in shelter care;

21 (2) the youth has not committed an act that would be a felony offense if committed by an adult;

22 (3) the youth needs an alternative, staff-secured site for evaluation and assessment of the youth's
 23 need for services;

24 (4) the youth needs to be held accountable for the youth's actions with structured programming;

25 and

26 (5) the youth meets qualifications as outlined by the placement guidelines that are determined by
 27 the department and coordinated with the guidelines used by the youth placement committees."

28 (I) THIS SECTION MUST BE PLACED IN HOUSE BILL NO. 114:

29 "NEW SECTION. Section 50. Code commissioner instruction. (1) Wherever a reference to "an
 30 aftercare agreement" appears in House Bill No. 114, the code commissioner is directed to change it to an

1 appropriate reference to "a parole agreement".

2 (2) References to "an aftercare agreement" that are contained in Title 41, chapter 5, in material
3 enacted by the 55th legislature must be changed to "a parole agreement"."

4

5 **NEW SECTION.** **Section 50. Saving clause.** [This act] does not affect rights and duties that
6 matured, penalties that were incurred, or proceedings that were begun before [the effective date of this
7 act].

8

9 **NEW SECTION.** **Section 51. Applicability.** [This act] applies to proceedings commenced after [the
10 effective date of this act].

11

-END-